UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K
(Mark One)

☒

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002.
OR

o

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934
FOR THE TRANSITION PERIOD FROM

TO

.

Commission File Number 1-12793

StarTek, Inc.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
Delaware
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

84-1370538
(I.R.S. employer identification no.)

100 Garfield Street
Denver, Colorado
(Address of principal executive offices)

80206
(Zip code)

(303) 361-6000
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
Title of each class

Name of each exchange on which registered

Common Stock, $.01 par value

New York Stock Exchange, Inc.

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
None
Indicate by checkmark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements
for the past 90 days. Yes ☒ No o
Indicate by checkmark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best
of the registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this
Form 10-K. o
Indicate by checkmark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 12b-2). Yes ☒ No o
As of March 10, 2003, 14,206,101 shares of common stock were outstanding and held by approximately 3,133 holders. The aggregate market value of
common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant on June 30, 2002 was approximately $137 million, based upon the closing price of the Company’s
common stock as quoted on the New York Stock Exchange composite tape on such date. Shares of common stock held by each executive officer and director
and by each person who owned 5% or more of the outstanding common stock as of such date have been excluded in that such persons may be deemed to be
affiliates. This determination of affiliate status is not necessarily a conclusive determination for other purposes.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Part III incorporates certain information by reference from the registrant’s proxy statement to be delivered in connection with its 2003 annual meeting of
stockholders. With the exception of certain portions of the proxy statement specifically incorporated herein by reference, the proxy statement is not deemed
to be filed as part of this Form 10-K.

Forward-Looking Statements

All statements contained in this Form 10-K that are not statements of historical facts are forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks and
uncertainties. Forward-looking statements are preceded by terms such as “may”, “will”, “should”, “anticipates”, “expects”, “believes”, “plans”,
“future”, “estimate”, “continue”, and similar expressions. The following are important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. These factors include, but are not limited to, inflation and general economic conditions in the
Company’s and its clients’ markets, risks associated with the Company’s reliance on principal clients, loss or delayed implementation of a large project or
service offering for a principal client, which could cause substantial quarterly variation in the Company’s revenues and earnings, difficulties in managing
rapid growth, risks associated with rapidly changing technology, dependence on labor force, risks associated with international operations and expansion,
risks from offshore competition, control by principal stockholders, dependence on key personnel, dependence on key industries and trends toward
outsourcing, risks associated with the Company’s contracts, highly competitive domestic and international markets, risks of business interruptions, volatility
of the Company’s stock price, risks related to the Company’s Internet web site operations, risks related to the Company’s portfolio of Internet domain names,
and risks related to changes in valuation of the Company’s investments. These factors include risks and uncertainties beyond the Company’s ability to
control; and, in many cases, the Company and its management cannot predict the risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially
from those indicated by use of forward-looking statements. Similarly, it is impossible for management to foresee or identify all such factors. As such, investors
should not consider the foregoing list to be an exhaustive statement of all risks, uncertainties, or potentially inaccurate assumptions. All forward-looking
statements herein are made as of the date hereof, and the Company undertakes no obligation to update any such forward-looking statements. All forwardlooking statements herein are qualified in their entirety by information set forth in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations”—”Risk Factors” appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K.
PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General
StarTek, Inc. (the “Company” or “StarTek”) has an established position as a global provider of process management services and owns and operates
branded vertical market Internet web sites. The Company’s process management service platforms include a comprehensive offering of supply chain
management services, high-end inbound technical support and customer care teleservices, and provisioning management for complex telecommunications
systems. As an outsourcer of process management services as its core business, StarTek allows its clients to focus on their primary business, reduce
overhead, replace fixed costs with variable costs, and reduce working capital needs. The Company has continuously expanded its process management
business and facilities to offer additional outsourcing services in response to the growing needs of its clients and to capitalize on market opportunities, both
domestically and internationally. StarTek has a strategic partnership philosophy through which it assesses each of its client’s needs, and together with its
clients develops and implements customized outsourcing solutions. Management believes StarTek’s entrepreneurial culture, long-term relationships with
clients and suppliers, efficient operations, dedication to quality, and use of technology and management techniques provide StarTek a competitive advantage
in attracting clients to outsource non-core operations. StarTek’s largest client, based on 2002 revenues, has utilized StarTek’s outsourced services since 1996.
See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”— “Risk Factors” set forth herein for a further discussion of
the Company’s “Reliance on Principal Client Relationship” and “Risks Associated with the Company’s Contracts”.
StarTek’s existing clients are primarily in computer software, Internet, E-commerce, computer hardware, technology, consumer products, and
telecommunications industries, which are characterized by rapid growth, complex and evolving product offerings, and large customer bases, which require
frequent, often sophisticated customer interaction. Management believes there are substantial opportunities to cross-sell StarTek’s wide spectrum of
outsourced process management services to its existing and future client base. The Company intends to capitalize on the increasing trend toward outsourcing
by focusing on potential clients in additional industries that could benefit from the Company’s expertise in developing and delivering integrated, costeffective, outsourced services.
StarTek currently has six operating facilities in Colorado, and one facility each in Wyoming, Tennessee, Texas, and Oklahoma. The Company’s
European operations are performed from its two facilities in Hartlepool, England. The Company’s Canadian operations are performed from two facilities in
Kingston, Ontario and one facility in Cornwall, Ontario. In February 2003, the Company announced the planned opening of two new facilities in Regina,
Saskatchewan, Canada and Decatur, Illinois to meet the increasing demands of its clients.
StarTek owns a portfolio of branded vertical market Internet web sites and operates certain sites, including airlines.com and wedding.com.
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The Company’s business was founded in 1987 and, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, has provided outsourced process management services since
inception. On December 30, 1996, StarTek, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware, and in June 1997 StarTek completed an initial public offering of its common
stock. Prior to December 30, 1996, StarTek USA, Inc. and StarTek Europe, Ltd., two of the Company’s operating subsidiaries, conducted business as
affiliates under common control. In 1998, the Company formed StarTek Pacific, Ltd., a Colorado corporation and Domain.com, Inc., a Delaware corporation,
both of which are wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. In 2001, the Company formed StarTek Canada Services, Ltd. a Nova Scotia, Canada
corporation, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. StarTek, Inc. is a holding company for the businesses conducted by its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. StarTek’s principal executive offices are located at 100 Garfield Street, Denver, Colorado 80206 and its telephone number is (303) 361-6000.
StarTek’s home page on the Internet is located at www.startek.com.
Process Management Service Platforms
The Company offers a wide spectrum of process management service platforms designed to provide cost-effective and efficient management services for
non-core operations of its clients. The Company works closely with its clients to develop, refine, and implement efficient and productive integrated
outsourced solutions that link StarTek with its clients and their customers. The processes that create such solutions generally include development of product
manufacturing specifications, packaging, and distribution requirements, as well as product-related software programs for telephone, facsimile, E-mail, and
Internet interactions involving product order processing, fulfillment, and technical support. Substantially all of the Company’s process-related teleservices
activities are inbound telephone calls rather than outbound calls. Process management service platforms StarTek provides include, but are not limited to:
Supply Chain Management. StarTek personnel are responsible for maintaining and managing multiple supplier relationships. When the Company is
selected by a client to provide product assembly and packaging services, the Company qualifies, selects, certifies, and manages sourcing and manufacturing

of various products and related components. Such products and related components are then assembled and packaged at certain of the Company’s facilities.
The Company monitors supplier quality by visiting manufacturing facilities, and utilizes just-in-time production to minimize inventory in the Company’s
warehouses. Management believes the Company’s strong, long-term relationships with multiple suppliers allow StarTek to be flexible and responsive to its
clients, while minimizing cost and dependency on any single supplier.
The Company assembles and packages products in the United States and the United Kingdom. The Company’s assembly lines have been designed with
significant flexibility, enabling the Company to assemble and package various types of products and rapidly change the type of product assembled.
StarTek’s inventory management systems enable the Company to ship and track products to distribution centers, individual stores, and its clients’
customers directly. Product orders are received by the Company via file transfer protocol (FTP), the Internet, electronic data interchange (EDI), facsimile, as
well as through the Company’s product order teleservices and E-commerce support services described elsewhere.
High-End Technical Support and Customer Care Teleservices. StarTek service representatives provide high-end technical support services by telephone,
E-mail, facsimile, and the Internet, 24 hours per day, seven days per week. Technical support inquiries are generally driven by a customer’s purchase of a
product or service, or by a customer’s need for ongoing technical assistance. Customers of StarTek’s clients dial a technical support number listed in their
product or service manuals and, based on touch-tone responses, are automatically connected to an appropriate StarTek service representative specially trained
in the use of computerized knowledge databases for the applicable product. Each StarTek service representative acts as a transparent extension of the client
when resolving complaints, diagnosing and resolving product or service problems, or answering technical questions.
Provisioning Management. StarTek personnel are responsible for managing installation and providing on-going support services for large-scale
telecommunications networks for client customers. Service representatives manage relationships between the StarTek client and its customers on a
transparent basis. StarTek’s installation management and on-going network support services, on an outsourced basis, enable a client to provide
telecommunications services to their customers more efficiently and cost effectively.
E-commerce Support and Product Order Fulfillment. StarTek develops, operates, and maintains Internet web sites and the Company’s personnel process,
pack, and ship product orders received by telephone, E-mail, facsimile, and the Internet, 24 hours per day, seven days per week. The Company provides
same-day shipping of customer orders if the product is available.
International Operations
StarTek provides process management services on an international basis from the United Kingdom and Canada, and through January 2002, in Singapore.
The Company’s facilities in the United Kingdom provide most of the Company’s process management service platforms for clients internationally, including
supply chain management, inbound technical support services in several languages, and product order fulfillment. The Company’s facilities in Canada
provide technical support services for clients in North America. The facility in Singapore closed on January 31, 2002, which management believes will not
have a material adverse effect on
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the Company’s future financial results as less than 1% of the Company’s operating profit in 2001 was derived from these operations. International operations,
in the aggregate, generated 19.3% of the Company’s revenues during 2002 and 21.5% during 2001. See Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements set
forth herein for a further description of revenues, operating profit, and identifiable assets classified by the major geographic areas in which the Company
operates. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”— “Risk Factors” set forth herein for a discussion
of “Risks Associated with International Operations and Expansion”.
Domain.com Operations
StarTek, through its wholly-owned subsidiary Domain.com, Inc., owns a portfolio of branded vertical market Internet web sites and currently operates
certain sites, including airlines.com and wedding.com as internet portals.
Business Strategy
StarTek’s strategic objectives are to increase revenues and earnings by maintaining and enhancing its established position as a global provider of process
management services; and to enhance shareholder value, revenues, and earnings by developing revenue streams from, or ownership interests in, Internet web
site businesses arising from a portfolio of Internet domain names. To reach these objectives, the Company intends to:
Provide Integrated, Outsourced Process Management Services. StarTek seeks to provide integrated, outsourced process management services which
enable its clients to provide their customers with high-quality services at lower cost than through a client’s own in-house operations. The Company believes
its ability to tailor operations, materials, and employee resources objectively, and provide process management services on a cost-effective basis will allow the
Company to become an integral part of its clients’ businesses.
Develop Strategic Partnerships and Long-Term Relationships. StarTek seeks to develop long-term client relationships, primarily with Fortune 1000
companies. The Company invests significant resources to establish strategic partnership relationships and to understand each client’s processes, culture,
decision parameters, and goals so as to develop and implement customized solutions. The Company believes this solution-oriented, value-added, integrated
approach to addressing its clients’ needs distinguishes StarTek from its competitors and plays a key role in the Company’s ability to attract and retain clients
on a long-term basis.
Maintain Low-Cost Position through the StarTek Advantage System. StarTek strives to establish a competitive advantage by frequently redefining its
operational processes to reduce cost and improve quality through its StarTek Advantage System group. The Company believes its continuous improvement
philosophy and modern process management techniques result in reduced waste and increased efficiency by: (i) controlling overproduction; (ii) minimizing
waiting time due to inefficient work sequences; (iii) reducing nonessential handling of materials; (iv) eliminating nonessential movement and processing; (v)
implementing fail-safe processes; (vi) improving inventory management; and (vii) preventing defects.
Emphasize Quality. StarTek strives to achieve the highest quality standards in the industry. To this end, the Company, through its wholly-owned
subsidiary in the United Kingdom, has received ISO 9001:2000 certification, and through certain of its wholly-owned subsidiaries in the US, has received

ISO 9002 certification for its facilities engaged in supply chain management. Both ISO 9001:2000 and ISO 9002 are an international standard for quality
assurance and consistency in operating procedure. Certain of the Company’s existing clients require evidence of ISO certification prior to selecting an
outsourcing provider.
Capitalize on Technology. Management believes it has established a competitive advantage by capitalizing on technology and proprietary software,
including automatic call distributors, inventory management software, order management software, transportation management software, knowledge
databases, call tracking systems, resource scheduling software, and computer telephony integration software. The Company further believes these capabilities
enable StarTek to improve efficiency, serve as a transparent extension of its clients, receive telephone calls and data directly from its clients’ systems, and
report detailed information concerning the status and results of the Company’s services and interaction with clients on a daily basis.
Develop Internet Web Site Portfolio. Management believes the Company can continue to develop revenue and profit streams from certain of its Internet
sites, or establish ownership interests in Internet web site businesses arising from a portfolio of Internet domain names. Management believes shareholder
value can be enhanced in a variety of ways, which include, among others, joint ventures with third parties to develop web site businesses based upon its
Internet domain names. These opportunities are being pursued at this time.
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Clients
StarTek’s current client base consists of companies engaged primarily in computer software, Internet, E-commerce, computer hardware, technology,
consumer products, and telecommunications industries. The Company’s four largest customers, Microsoft Corporation, AT&T Wireless, Inc., AT&T
Corporation, and T-Mobile, a subsidiary of Deutsche Telekom, accounted for 34.4%, 26.3%, 13.3%, and 12.2% respectively, of the Company’s revenues in
2002. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”— “Risk Factors” set forth herein for a further
discussion of the Company’s “Reliance on Principal Client Relationship” and “Risks Associated with the Company’s Contracts”.
Sales and Marketing
The Company’s marketing objective is to develop long-term relationships with existing and potential clients to become the preferred worldwide provider
of process management services. StarTek invests substantial resources to create a strategic partnership with its clients to understand their existing operations,
customer service processes, culture, decision parameters, and goals. A StarTek team assesses a client’s outsourcing service needs, and together with the
client, develops and implements customized solutions. Management believes, as a result of StarTek’s strategic relationship with its clients and comprehensive
understanding of their businesses, the Company can identify new revenue generating opportunities, customer interaction possibilities, and product service
improvements not adequately addressed by the client. The Company’s sales strategy emphasizes multiple contacts with a client to strengthen its relationship
and facilitate cross-selling of services.
StarTek markets its process management services through a variety of methods, including personal sales calls, client referrals, attendance at trade shows,
and cross-selling of services to existing clients. As part of its marketing efforts, the Company encourages visits to its facilities where the Company
demonstrates its services, quality procedures, and ability to accommodate additional business.
Management believes an essential element to revenue growth is the ability to flexibly, effectively, and efficiently expand service capacity to meet client
needs as its clients grow or outsource more of their non-core operations to the Company. Additionally, to attract new clients to StarTek’s services, the
Company maintains resources to develop a strategy to meet new clients’ outsourcing goals promptly, as well as the ability to implement operations for such
clients quickly and accurately.
Technology
StarTek employs technology and proprietary software that incorporates digital switching, relational knowledge database management systems, call
tracking systems, workforce management systems, object-oriented software modules, and computer telephony integration. The Company’s digital switching
technology is designed to enable calls to be routed to the next available teleservice representative with the appropriate product knowledge, skill, and language
abilities. Call tracking and workforce management systems generate and track call volumes by client, enabling the Company to schedule personnel
efficiently, anticipate fluctuations in call volume, and provide clients with detailed information concerning the status and results of the Company’s services on
a daily basis. Management believes StarTek’s proprietary technology platform provides the Company with a competitive advantage in maintaining existing
clients and attracting new clients. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”— “Risk Factors” set forth
herein for a discussion of “Risks Associated with Rapidly Changing Technology”.
Employees and Training
StarTek’s success in recruiting, hiring, training, and retaining large numbers of full and part-time skilled employees, and obtaining large numbers of
hourly and temporary employees during peak periods is critical to the Company’s ability to provide high quality outsourced services. To maintain good
employee relations and to minimize turnover, the Company offers competitive pay, a range of employee benefits, and provides employees with clear, visible
career paths. To meet its service objectives, the Company also utilizes temporary employees. As of December 31, 2002, the Company had approximately
4,800 full-time equivalent employees. The number of temporary employees varies substantially due to the seasonal nature of StarTek’s clients’ businesses.
Management believes demographics surrounding StarTek’s facilities, and the Company’s reputation, stability, and compensation plans should allow the
Company to continue to attract and retain qualified employees. The Company considers its employee relations to be good. See “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”— “Risk Factors” set forth herein for a discussion of factors relating to the Company’s
“Dependence on Labor Force” and “Dependence on Key Personnel”.
In keeping with StarTek’s continuous improvement philosophy, the Company is committed to training all of its employees. StarTek provides formal
training for senior management, supervisors, process managers, quality coordinators, and service representatives. StarTek also maintains an employee quality
program to back up every employee, including specialized quality coordinators who teach problem solving, assist with service calls, and offer immediate
performance feedback. On a more informal basis, the Company provides on-the-job process training and tutoring for all product assembly and packaging
personnel. Employee
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teams gather daily to receive information about products to be produced and techniques to be utilized, and have an opportunity to ask questions and receive
one-on-one training as necessary.
The Company’s in-house training programs for technical support and telecommunications process management employees involve an in-depth,
structured learning environment that builds technical competence and teaches critical software skills necessary to provide effective services to its clients.
Each client service representative is designated and trained to support a particular product or group of products for a particular client. These client service
representatives receive training in product knowledge, call listening, and computer skills prior to answering any customer calls independently. Training time
depends on the complexity of the product for which such representative will provide services. Further, the Company uses live and taped call reviews along
with customer feedback surveys to continuously monitor and enhance its service quality.
Industry and Competition
Management believes businesses throughout the world are increasingly focusing on their core competencies, and are increasingly engaging outsourced
service companies to perform specialized, non-core functions and services. Outsourcing of non-core activities offers a strategic advantage to companies in a
wide range of industries by offering them an opportunity to reduce operating costs and working capital needs, improve their reaction to business cycles,
manage capacity, and improve customer and technical information gathering and utilization. To realize these advantages, companies are outsourcing the
process of planning, implementing, and controlling the efficient flow of goods, services, teleservices, and related information from point of origin to point of
consumption. Additionally, rapid technological changes and rising customer expectations for high-quality goods and services make it increasingly difficult
and expensive for companies to maintain the necessary personnel and product capabilities in-house to support a product’s life-cycle on a cost-effective basis.
Management believes companies that focus on providing these services as their core business, including StarTek, are expected to continue to benefit from
these outsourcing trends. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”— “Risk Factors” set forth herein
for a discussion of the Company’s “Highly Competitive Market”.
StarTek competes on the basis of quality, reliability of service, price, efficiency, speed, and flexibility in tailoring services to client needs. Management
believes StarTek’s comprehensive and integrated services differentiate the Company from non-client competitors who may only be able to provide one or a
few of the outsourced services StarTek provides. The Company continuously explores new outsourcing service opportunities, typically in circumstances
where clients are experiencing inefficiencies in non-core areas of their businesses. Management believes it can develop superior outsourced solutions to such
inefficiencies on a cost-effective basis. Management believes StarTek competes primarily with in-house process management operations of its current and
potential clients. Such in-house operations include Internet operations, E-commerce support, technical support teleservices, and supply chain management.
StarTek also competes with certain companies that provide similar services on an outsourced basis. There are numerous competitors of all sizes that provide
product order teleservices and product fulfillment distribution services.
Web Site Availability of Reports
Copies of StarTek Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports
filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are available free of charge through StarTek’s web site
(www.startek.com) as soon as reasonably practicable after the Company electronically files the material with, or furnishes it to, the Securities and Exchange
Commission.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
Facilities
As of December 31, 2002 StarTek owned or operated the following facilities, containing in aggregate, approximately 1,096,000 square feet:
Properties

US Facilities
Greeley, Colorado
Denver, Colorado
Greeley, Colorado
Laramie, Wyoming
Clarksville, Tennessee
Grand Junction, Colorado
Greeley, Colorado
Big Spring, Texas
Enid, Oklahoma
Grand Junction, Colorado
Denver, Colorado
International Facilities
Hartlepool, England (2)
Kingston, Ontario Canada
Kingston, Ontario Canada
Cornwall, Ontario Canada

Year Opened or
Acquired

Square feet

1987
1995
1998
1998
1998
1999
1999
1999
2000
2000
2000

100,000
138,000
35,000
22,000
305,000
46,350
88,000
30,000
47,524
54,500
13,800

1993
2001
2001
2001

73,000
49,000
20,000
74,000

Leased, Company Owned, or Otherwise

Company Owned
Company Owned
Company Owned
Company Owned
Company Owned(a)
Leased
Company Owned
Leased
Company Owned
Leased
Leased
Leased(b)
Company Owned
Leased
Leased

Substantially all of the Company’s facility space can be used to support several of the Company’s process management service platforms. In February
2003, the Company announced the opening of two new facilities to meet increasing client demands. A 61,988 square foot leased facility will be located in
Regina, Saskatchewan, Canada. Another 37,500 square foot leased facility will be located in Decatur, Illinois. Both facilities are expected to open in the
second quarter of 2003. Management believes StarTek’s existing facilities are adequate for the Company’s current operations, but continued capacity
expansion could be required to support continued growth. Management intends to maintain a certain amount of excess capacity to enable StarTek to readily

provide for needs of new clients, and increasing needs of existing clients. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations”— “Risk Factors” set forth herein for a discussion of “Risks of Business Interruptions”.
(a)
(b)

See Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements set forth herein for a description of the Tennessee financing arrangement.
Single lease for two operating facilities.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
The Company has been involved from time to time in litigation arising in the normal course of business, none of which is expected by management to
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition or results of operations.
ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the three months ended December 31, 2002.
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON STOCK AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
Market Price of Common Stock
StarTek’s common stock has traded under the symbol “SRT” on the New York Stock Exchange since June 19, 1997, the effective date of the Company’s
initial public offering. StarTek’s common stock also trades on the Pacific Exchange, Chicago Stock Exchange, Boston Stock Exchange, Philadelphia Stock
Exchange, and Berlin Stock Exchange. High and low closing sale prices of StarTek’s common stock for 2001 and 2002 were:
2001
High

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

2002
Low

19.66
22.60
26.60
19.75

High

11.60
13.20
15.81
15.23

Low

24.93
26.75
26.17
27.99

16.70
21.83
21.00
20.61

The closing sale price for StarTek’s common stock on March 10, 2003 was $22.53. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations”—”Risk Factors” set forth herein for a discussion of “Volatility of Stock Price”.
Holders of Common Stock
As of March 10, 2003, there were approximately 3,133 stockholders of record and 14,206,101 shares of common stock outstanding. See “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”— “Risk Factors” set forth herein for a discussion of “Control by Principal
Stockholders”.
Dividend Policy
StarTek currently intends to retain all earnings to finance continued growth of its business and does not expect to pay any dividends in the foreseeable
future. The payment of any dividends will be at the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors and will depend upon, among other things, availability of
funds, future earnings, capital requirements, contractual restrictions, general financial condition of the Company, and general business conditions. Under its
$10 million line of credit, the Company may not pay dividends in an amount that would cause a failure to meet its financial covenants. See Note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements, and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”—”Liquidity and Capital
Resources” set forth herein for a description of these financial covenants.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in
this Form 10-K. Additionally, the following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K.
Year Ended December 31,
1999
2000
2001
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

1998

Income Statement Data:
Revenues
Cost of services
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative
expenses
Operating profit
Net interest income and other
Loss on impaired investments
Income before income taxes

$

140,984
115,079
25,905
14,714
11,191
2,254
—
13,445

$

205,227
166,880
38,347
20,338
18,009
2,814
—
20,823

$

200,750
153,629
47,121
20,950
26,171
4,655
—
30,826

$

182,576
137,622
44,954
25,938
19,016
4,318
(15,452)
7,882

2002

$

207,864
157,005
50,859
22,562
28,297
1,986
(6,210)
24,073

Income tax expense
Net income
Earnings per share:
Basic
Diluted

$

4,901
8,544

$

7,800
13,023

$

11,406
19,420

$

3,011
4,871

$

8,907
15,166

$
$

0.62
0.62

$
$

0.94
0.92

$
$

1.39
1.36

$
$

0.35
0.34

$
$

1.07
1.05

Weighted average shares
outstanding:
Basic
Diluted
Selected Operating Data:
Capital expenditures, net of
dispositions
Depreciation and amortization
Balance Sheet Data (December
31):
Working capital
Total assets
Total debt
Total stockholders’ equity

13,828,571
13,828,571

13,874,556
14,139,149

14,016,851
14,279,409

14,053,484
14,168,044

14,140,765
14,385,389

$
$

13,927
2,852

$
$

12,591
4,715

$
$

8,625
5,482

$
$

19,008
6,898

$
$

5,839
9,220

$

38,336
80,201
4,225
54,133

$

40,214
101,435
7,424
71,046

$

56,146
122,283
11,497
91,964

$

59,129
129,153
11,806
95,609

$

80,379
140,421
6,482
114,594

$

$

$

$

$

Selected Adjusted Unaudited Information:
Year Ended December 31,
2001
(in thousands except per share data)

Historical net income
Add back: Loss on impaired investments(a)
Less related income tax expense
Adjusted net income
Adjusted earnings per share:
Basic
Diluted

$

Year Ended December 31,
2002
(in thousands except per share data)

4,871 $
15,452
(5,903)
14,420 $

$
$
$

1.03
1.02

Weighted average shares outstanding
Basic
Diluted

$
$

14,053,484
14,168,044

15,166
6,210
(2,358)
19,018
1.34
1.32
14,140,765
14,385,389

This adjusted information eliminating the effect of losses on impaired investments is provided because Management feels it is more reflective of normal
operations of the Company.
(a) The Company recognized an impairment on its investment in Six Sigma, LLC of $3.1 million in the first quarter of 2001 and an impairment on its
investment in Gifts.com, Inc. of $12.4 million in the fourth quarter of 2001. In 2002, the Company determined certain declines in the fair value of
investments available for sale to be other than temporary and recorded investment impairments of $6.3 million, offset by a $0.1 million partial cash recovery
of the Six Sigma investment.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS
All statements contained in this Form 10-K, which are not statements of historical facts, are forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks and
uncertainties. Forward-looking statements are preceded by terms such as “may”, “will”, “should”, “anticipates”, “expects”, “believes”, “plans”,
“future”, “estimate”, “continue”, and similar expressions. The following are important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. These factors include, but are not limited to, inflation and general economic conditions in the
Company’s and its clients’ markets, risks associated with the Company’s reliance on principal clients, loss or delayed implementation of a large project or
service offering for a principal client, which could cause substantial quarterly variation in the Company’s revenues and earnings, difficulties in managing
rapid growth, risks associated with rapidly changing technology, dependence on labor force, risks associated with international operations and expansion,
risks from offshore competition, control by principal stockholders, dependence on key personnel, dependence on key industries and trends toward
outsourcing, risks associated with the Company’s contracts, highly competitive domestic and international markets, risks of business interruptions, volatility
of the Company’s stock price, risks related to the Company’s Internet web site operations, risks related to the Company’s portfolio of Internet domain names,
and risks related to fluctuating values of the Company’s portfolio of investment securities. These factors include risks and uncertainties beyond the
Company’s ability to control; and, in many cases, the Company and its management cannot predict the risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results
to differ materially from those indicated by use of forward-looking statements. Similarly, it is impossible for management to foresee or identify all such
factors. As such, investors should not consider the foregoing list to be an exhaustive statement of all risks, uncertainties, or potentially inaccurate
assumptions. All forward-looking statements herein are made as of the date hereof, and the Company undertakes no obligation to update any such forwardlooking statements. All forward-looking statements herein are qualified in their entirety by information set forth in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”—”Risk Factors” appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K.
Overview

StarTek has historically generated revenues through the performance of process management services, which include a comprehensive offering of supply
chain management services, high-end inbound technical support and customer care teleservices, provisioning management for complex telecommunications
systems, and E-commerce support and fulfillment. Substantially all of the Company’s significant arrangements with its clients for its services generate
revenues based, in large part, on the number and duration of customer inquiries, and the volume, complexity and type of components involved in the handling
of clients’ products. Changes in the complexity or type of components in the product units assembled by the Company may have an effect on the Company’s
revenues, independent of the number of product units assembled.
An essential element of the Company’s ability to grow is availability of capacity to readily provide for the needs of new clients and the increasing needs
of existing clients. StarTek currently operates from facilities in the United States, United Kingdom, and Canada. Management believes StarTek’s existing
facilities are adequate for the Company’s current and near-term operations, but continued capacity expansion will be required to support continued growth.
Management intends to maintain a certain amount of excess capacity to enable StarTek to readily provide for the needs of new clients and the increasing
needs of existing clients. In February 2003, the Company announced the opening of two new facilities in Regina, Saskatchewan, Canada and Decatur, Illinois
to meet the increasing needs of our clients.
The Company frequently purchases components of its clients’ products as an integral part of its process management services and in advance of
providing its product assembly and packaging services. These components are packaged, assembled, and held by StarTek pending shipment. The Company
generally has the right to be reimbursed from clients for unused inventories. Client-owned inventories are not valued in the Company’s balance sheet. See
Notes 1 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements set forth herein for a further description of the Company’s inventories.
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Results of Operations
The following table should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this Form 10-K, and
sets forth certain consolidated income statement data expressed as a percentage of revenues:
2000

Revenues
Cost of services
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Operating profit
Net interest income and other
Loss on impaired investments
Income before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net income

Year Ended December 31,
2001

100.0%
76.5
23.5
10.4
13.1
2.3
—
15.4
5.7
9.7%

100.0%
75.4
24.6
14.2
10.4
2.4
(8.5)
4.3
1.6
2.7%

2002

100.0%
75.5
24.5
10.9
13.6
1.0
(3.0)
11.6
4.3
7.3%

2002 Compared to 2001
Revenues. Revenues increased $25.3 million, or 13.9%, from $182.6 million in 2001 to $207.9 million in 2002. This increase was largely due to
increased technical support services, partially offset by reduced supply chain management services.
Microsoft’s European contract with the company was not renewed when it expired on June 30, 2002. While this negatively impacted revenues in 2002,
operating profits were not materially adversely affected because of the low operating margins of the revenue. Management adjusted personnel levels and
infrastructure accordingly.
Costs of Services. Cost of services increased $19.4 million, or 14.1%, from $137.6 million in 2001 to $157.0 million in 2002. As a percentage of
revenues, cost of services was 75.4% and 75.5% in 2001 and 2002, respectively. The percentage increase results from a change in the mix of services
provided, offset by a shift in managers to operations, which results in additional cost of services but a decrease in selling, general and administrative
expenses.
Gross Profit. Due to the foregoing factors, gross profit increased $5.9 million in 2002, or 13.1%, from $45.0 million in 2001 to $50.9 million in 2002.
As a percentage of revenues, gross profit was 24.6% and 24.5% in 2001 and 2002, respectively.
Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased $3.4 million, or 13.0%, from $25.9 million in
2001 to $22.5 million in 2002. As a percentage of revenues, selling, general and administrative expenses decreased from 14.2% in 2001 to 10.9% in 2002.
The decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue and by $3.4 million was primarily due to a shift in managers to
operations and the attendant shift in costs to cost of services, but was partially offset by the hiring of new senior management personnel.
Operating Profit. As a result of the foregoing factors, operating profit increased $9.3 million or 48.8% from $19.0 million in 2001 to $28.3 million in
2002. As a percentage of revenues, operating profit increased from 10.4% in 2001 to 13.6% in 2002.
Net Interest Income and Other. Net interest income and other decreased $2.3 million or 54.0% from $4.3 million in 2001 to $2.0 million in 2002.
Substantially all net interest income and other continues to be derived from cash equivalents and investment balances, partially offset by interest expense
incurred as a result of the Company’s various debt and lease arrangements. The decrease is the result of the weakened economy, lower interest rates, and poor
securities markets.
Loss on Impaired Investments. Loss on impaired investments decreased $9.3 million or 59.8% from $15.5 million in 2001 to $6.2 million in 2002. As a
percentage of revenues, loss on impaired investments decreased from 8.5% in 2001 to 3.0% in 2002. The 2002 loss is the result of $6.3 million of declines in
the fair value of investments available for sale that the Company determined to be other than temporary, offset by a $0.1 million partial cash recovery of the
Six Sigma investment impaired in 2001. The 2001 loss was the result of the impairment of two investments. The first impairment, of $3.1 million, was

related to the Company’s investment in Six Sigma, LLC and occurred due to the bankruptcy filing of Six Sigma, LLC because of alleged misappropriation of
funds from its customer. The second impairment, of $12.4 million, was related to the Company’s investment in Gifts.com, Inc. and resulted from continued
operating losses, negative cash flows, and a deficiency in working capital of Gifts.com, Inc
Income Before Income Taxes. As a result of the foregoing factors, income before income taxes increased $16.2 million, or 205.4%, from $7.9 million in
2001 to $24.1 million in 2002. As a percentage of revenues, income before income taxes increased from 4.3% in 2001 to 11.6% in 2002.
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Income Tax Expense. Income tax expense for 2001 and 2002 reflects a provision for federal, state, and foreign income taxes at an effective rate of 38.2%
and 37.0% respectively.
Net Income. Based on the factors discussed above, net income increased $10.3 million, or 211.4%, from $4.9 million in 2001 to $15.2 million in 2002.
2001 Compared to 2000
Revenues. Revenues decreased $18.1 million, or 9.1%, from $200.7 million in 2000 to $182.6 million in 2001. This decrease was largely due to reduced
revenue from the supply chain management services, partially offset by increased technical support services.
Costs of Services. Cost of services decreased $16.0 million, or 10.4%, from $153.6 million in 2000 to $137.6 million in 2001. As a percentage of
revenues, cost of services was 76.5% and 75.4% in 2000 and 2001, respectively. This percentage decreased primarily due to an increase in high margin
business.
Gross Profit. Due to the foregoing factors, gross profit decreased $2.2 million in 2001, or 4.6%, from $47.1 million in 2000 to $44.9 million in 2001. As
a percentage of revenues, gross profit was 23.5% and 24.6% in 2000 and 2001, respectively.
Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $5.0 million, or 23.8%, from $20.9 million in
2000 to $25.9 million in 2001. As a percentage of revenues, selling, general and administrative expenses increased from 10.4% in 2000 to 14.2% in 2001.
This increase was the result of facility expansions to support growth in technical support services and expenses incurred to attract and hire senior level
managers during the year.
Operating Profit. As a result of the foregoing factors, operating profit decreased $7.1 million or 27.2% from $26.1 million in 2000 to $19.0 million in
2001. As a percentage of revenues, operating profit decreased from 13.1% in 2000 to 10.4% in 2001.
Net Interest Income and Other. Net interest income and other decreased $0.4 million or 8.5% from $4.7 million in 2000 to $4.3 million in 2001. The
majority of net interest income and other continues to be derived from cash equivalents and investment balances, partially offset by interest expense incurred
as a result of the Company’s various debt and lease arrangements. The decrease is the result of lower interest rates in 2001.
Loss on Impaired Investments. The Company recorded a loss on impaired investments of $15.5 million, or 8.5% of revenue, in 2001. This loss was the
result of the impairment of two investments. The first impairment, of $3.1 million, was related to the Company’s investment in Six Sigma, LLC and occurred
due to the bankruptcy filing of Six Sigma, LLC because of alleged misappropriation of funds from its customer. The second impairment, of $12.4 million,
was related to the Company’s investment in Gifts.com, Inc. and resulted from continued operating losses, negative cash flows, and a deficiency in working
capital of Gifts.com, Inc.
Income Before Income Taxes. As a result of the foregoing factors, income before income taxes decreased $22.9 million, or 74.4%, from $30.8 in 2000 to
$7.9 million in 2001. As a percentage of revenues, income before income taxes decreased from 15.4% in 2000 to 4.3% in 2001.
Income Tax Expense. Income tax expense for 2000 and 2001 reflects a provision for federal, state, and foreign income taxes at an effective rate of 37.0%
and 38.2% respectively.
Net Income. Based on the factors discussed above, net income decreased $14.5 million, or 74.9%, from $19.4 million in 2000 to $4.9 million in 2001.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Since its initial public offering in 1997, the Company has primarily financed its operations, liquidity requirements, capital expenditures, and capacity
expansion through cash flows from operations, and to a lesser degree, through various forms of debt and leasing arrangements.
The Company maintains a $10.0 million unsecured line of credit with Wells Fargo Bank West, N.A. (the “Bank”). Borrowing under the new line of
credit bears interest at the Bank’s prime rate minus 1% (3.25% as of December 31, 2002). Under this line of credit, the Company is required to maintain
minimum tangible net worth of $65.0 million and operate at a profit. The Company may not pay dividends in an amount that would cause a failure to meet
these financial covenants. As of December 31, 2002 and the date of this Form 10-K, the Company was in compliance with the financial covenants pertaining
to the unsecured line of credit and $10.0 million was available under this line of credit.
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As of December 31, 2002, the Company had cash, cash equivalents, and investment balances of $57.2 million, working capital of $80.4 million, and
stockholders’ equity of $114.6 million. Cash and cash equivalents are not restricted. See “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk” set
forth herein for further discussions regarding the Company’s cash, cash equivalents, investments available for sale, and trading securities.
Net cash provided by operating activities was $25.9 million and $21.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2002, respectively. This
decrease was primarily a result of an increase in accounts receivable, partially offset by an increase in profit from operations and net changes in other

operating assets. Without the effect of net purchases/sales of trading securities, operating cash flows were $24,720, $19,534, and $20,056 in 2000, 2001, and
2002, respectively.
Net cash used in investing activities was $34.5 million and $19.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2002, respectively. This increase
was primarily due to a decrease in purchases of property, plant, and equipment.
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities was $1.1 million and $(3.7) million for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2002, respectively.
Financing activities, during both periods, consisted of principal payments on borrowings, offset by proceeds from exercises of employee stock options and
borrowings.
The effect of currency exchange rate changes on translation of the Company’s United Kingdom and Canada operations was not substantial during the
year 2002. Terms of the Company’s agreements with clients and subcontractors are typically in US dollars except for certain agreements related to its United
Kingdom and Canada operations. If the international portion of the Company’s business grows, more revenues and expenses will be denominated in foreign
currencies, which increases the Company’s exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. See “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market
Risk” set forth herein for a further discussion of the Company’s exposure to foreign currency exchange risks in connection with its investments.
Management believes the Company’s cash, cash equivalents, investments, anticipated cash flows from future operations, and $10.0 million line of credit
will be sufficient to support its operations, capital expenditures, and various repayment obligations under its debt and lease agreements for the foreseeable
future. Liquidity and capital requirements depend on many factors, including, but not limited to, the Company’s ability to retain or successfully and timely
replace its principal clients and the rate at which the Company expands its business, whether internally or through acquisitions and strategic alliances. To the
extent funds generated from sources described above are insufficient to support the Company’s activities in the short or long-term, the Company will be
required to raise additional funds through public or private financing. No assurance can be given that additional financing will be available, or if available, it
will be available on terms favorable to the Company.
Contractual Obligations (in thousands)
The following table summarizes, as of December 31, 2002, the Company’s obligations to make future payments under contractual commitments:

Long-term debt(1)
Operating leases(2)
Total Contractual Obligations

Less than
1 year

$
$

2,221
1,023
3,244

1-3
years

$

4-5
years

3,630
1,641
5,271

$

$
$

After
5 years

52
1,195
1,247

$
$

Total

579
1,025
1,604

$
$

6,482
4,884
11,366

(1) Long-term debt consists of fixed rate equipment loans with interest rates ranging from 5.0% to 5.4%, variable rate equipment loans, non-interest
bearing promissory notes, and other debt obligations.
(2) The Company leases facilities and equipment under various non-cancelable operating leases.
Critical Accounting Policies and Judgments
The Company recognizes revenues as process management services are completed. The Company’s cost of services includes labor, telecommunications,
materials, and freight expenses that are variable in nature, and certain facility expenses. All other operating expenses, including expenses related to
technology support, sales and marketing, human resources, and other administrative functions not allocable to specific client services, are included in selling,
general and administrative expenses, which generally tend to be either semi-variable or fixed in nature.
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As part of cash management, the Company invests in corporate bonds, bond mutual funds, equity mutual funds, international mutual funds, investment
partnerships, real estate investment trusts, and various forms of equity securities. Investments are classified as trading securities and investments available for
sale based on the Company’s intent at the date of purchase. Trading securities are bought and held principally for the purpose of selling them in the near
term. Debt securities that the Company has both the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held to maturity. The Company currently
has no investments in this classification. All other investments not deemed to be trading securities or held to maturity are classified as investments available
for sale. Trading securities and investments available for sale are carried at fair market values. Fair market values are determined by the most recently traded
price of the security or underlying investment at the balance sheet date. Due to the potential limited liquidity of some of these instruments, the most recently
traded price may be different from the value that might be realized if the Company were to sell or close out the transactions. Such differences are not
considered substantial to the Company’s results of operations, financial condition, or liquidity. Changes in the fair market value of trading securities are
reflected on the income statement. Temporary changes in the fair market value of investments held for sale are reflected in stockholders’ equity.
The Company exercises judgment in periodically evaluating investments for impairment. Investments are evaluated for other-than-temporary impairment if
the fair value was below cost after six months. The Company then considers additional factors such as market conditions, the industry sectors in which the
investment entity operates, and the viability and prospects of each entity. A write-down of the related investment is recorded when an impairment is
considered other than temporary.
In preparing its financial statements, the Company is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. The Company evaluates its estimates and judgments on an ongoing basis, including those related to bad debts, inventory valuations,
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, income taxes, restructuring costs, contingences, and litigation. The Company bases its estimates and
judgments on historical experience and on various other factors that management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.
The Company exercises judgment in evaluating its long-lived assets for impairment. Management believes the Company’s businesses will generate
sufficient undiscounted cash flow to more than recover the investments it has made in property, plant and equipment.
New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations”, and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets”. SFAS No. 141 requires that the purchase method of accounting be used for all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001.
SFAS No. 141 also includes guidance on the initial recognition and measurement of goodwill and other intangible assets arising from business combinations
completed after June 30, 2001. SFAS No. 142 prohibits the amortization of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. SFAS No. 142
requires that these assets be reviewed for impairment at least annually. Intangible assets with finite lives will continue to be amortized over their estimated
useful lives. The Company adopted SFAS No. 141 and No. 142 on January 1, 2002 and the adoption of these statements did not result in any material impact.
In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations”. SFAS No. 143 addresses financial accounting and
reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and associated asset retirement costs. The Company adopted SFAS No.
143 on January 1, 2003, and the adoption of this statement did not result in any material impact.
In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”, which establishes one accounting
model to be used for long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale and broadens the presentation of discontinued operations to include more disposal
transactions. SFAS No. 144 supersedes SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of”, and the accounting and
reporting provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results of Operations-Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of
a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions”. The Company adopted SFAS No. 144 on January 1, 2002 and
the adoption of this statement did not result in any material impact.
In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities”, which provides guidance related to
accounting for costs associated with disposal activities covered by SFAS No. 144 or with exit or restructuring activities previously covered by Emerging
Issues Task Force ("EITF") Issue No. 94-3, Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including
Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring). SFAS No. 146 supercedes EITF Issue No. 94-3 in its entirety. SFAS No. 146 requires that costs related to exiting
an activity or to a restructuring not be recognized until the liability is incurred. SFAS No. 146 will be applied prospectively to exit or disposal activities that
are initiated after December 31, 2002. The Company is currently evaluating the effects, if any, that this standard will have on its results of operations and
financial position.
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In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, which provides alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based
method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. SFAS No. 148 also requires that disclosures of the pro forma effect of using the fair value
method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation be displayed more prominently and in a tabular format. Additionally, SFAS No. 148 requires
disclosure of the pro forma effect in interim financial statements. The transition requirements of SFAS No. 148 are effective for the Company's fiscal year
2003. The Company currently does not plan to transition to a fair value method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation.
Inflation and General Economic Conditions
Although management cannot accurately anticipate effects of domestic and foreign inflation on the Company’s operations, management does not believe
inflation has had, or is likely in the foreseeable future to have, a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations or financial condition.
Risk Factors
Reliance on Principal Client Relationships
The following table represents revenue concentrations of the Company’s principal clients:

Microsoft Corp.
AT&T Wireless Services, Inc.
AT&T Corp.
T-Mobile, a subsidiary of Deutsche Telekom

Year ended December 31,
2001
2002

48.4%
19.1%
10.8%
*

34.4%
26.3%
13.3%
12.2%

* Represents less than 10% of total revenue.
The loss of a principal client and/or changes in timing or termination of a principal client’s product launch or service offering would have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s business, revenues, operating results, and financial condition. There can be no assurance the Company will be able to retain
its principal clients or, if it were to lose any of its principal clients, would be able to timely replace the revenue generated by the lost clients. Additionally, the
amount and growth rate of revenues derived from the Company’s principal clients in the past is not necessarily indicative of revenues that may be expected
from such clients in the future.
Microsoft’s European contract with the Company was not renewed when it expired on June 30, 2002. While this negatively impacted revenues in 2002,
operating profits were not materially adversely affected because of the low operating margins of the revenue. Management adjusted personnel levels and
infrastructure accordingly.
Variability of Quarterly Operating Results
The Company’s business is seasonal and is at times conducted in support of product launches for new and existing clients. Historically, the Company’s
revenues have been substantially lower in the quarters preceding the fourth quarter due to timing of its clients’ marketing programs and product launches,
which are typically geared toward the holiday buying season. However, the Company’s revenues and operating results for the year ended December 31, 2002
are not necessarily indicative of revenues or operating results that may be experienced in future periods. Additionally, the Company has experienced and
expects to continue to experience, quarterly variations in revenues and operating results as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are outside the
Company’s control, including: (i) timing of existing and future client product launches or service offerings; (ii) expiration or termination of client projects;
(iii) timing and amount of costs incurred to expand capacity in order to provide for further revenue growth from existing and future clients; (iv) seasonal

nature of certain clients’ businesses; (v) cyclical nature of certain high technology clients’ businesses; and (vi) changes in the amount and growth rate of
revenues generated from the Company’s principal clients.
Dependence on the Success of Clients’ Products and Services
In substantially all of our client programs, the Company generates revenues based, in large part, on the amount of products and services demanded by our
clients’ customers. Consequently, and due to the inbound nature of the Company’s business, the amount of revenues generated from any particular client
program is dependent upon consumers’ interest in, and use of the clients’ products and/or services.
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Highly Competitive Markets
The markets in which StarTek operates are highly competitive. Management expects competition to persist and intensify in the future. The Company’s
competitors include small firms offering specific applications, divisions of large companies, large independent firms and, most significantly, in-house
operations of StarTek’s existing and potential clients. A number of competitors have or may develop financial and other resources greater than those of the
Company. Similarly, there can be no assurance additional competitors with greater name recognition and resources than the Company will not enter the
markets in which the Company operates. In-house operations of the Company’s existing and potential clients are significant competitors of the Company. As
a result, StarTek’s performance and growth could be materially and adversely affected if its clients decide to provide in-house services currently outsourced,
or if potential clients retain or increase their in-house capabilities. Moreover, a decision by its principal client to consolidate its outsourced services with a
company other than StarTek would materially and adversely affect the Company’s business. Additionally, competitive pressures from current or future
competitors could result in substantial price erosion, which could materially and adversely affect the Company’s business, results of operations, and financial
condition.
Difficulties in Managing Business Undergoing Rapid Growth
The Company has experienced rapid growth in some years prior to 2002 and anticipates future growth. Anticipated growth depends on a number of
factors, including the Company’s ability to: (i) initiate, develop, and maintain new and existing client relationships, particularly relationships with its principal
client(s); (ii) expand its sales and marketing organization; (iii) recruit, motivate, and retain qualified management, customer support, and other personnel; (iv)
rapidly expand capacity of its existing facilities or identify, acquire or lease suitable additional facilities on acceptable terms and complete build-outs of such
facilities in a timely and economic fashion; (v) provide high quality services to its clients; and (vi) maintain relationships with high-quality and reliable
suppliers. Continued rapid growth can be expected to place significant strain upon the Company’s management, employees, operations, operating and
financial systems, and other resources. To accommodate such growth and to compete effectively, the Company must continue to implement and improve its
information systems, procedures, and controls and expand, train, motivate, and manage its workforce. There can be no assurance the Company’s personnel,
systems, procedures, and controls will be adequate to support the Company’s future operations. Further, there can be no assurance the Company will be able
to maintain or accelerate its current growth, effectively manage its expanding operations, or achieve planned growth on a timely and profitable basis. If the
Company is unable to manage growth effectively or if growth does not occur, its business, results of operations, and financial condition could be materially
and adversely affected.
Risks Associated with Rapidly Changing Technology
Continued and substantial worldwide use and development of the Internet as a delivery system for computer software, hardware, computer games, other
computer related products, and products in general could significantly and adversely affect demand for the Company’s services. Additionally, the Company’s
success is significantly dependent on its computer equipment, telecommunications equipment, software systems, operating systems, and financial systems.
There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to develop and market any new services, or that such services will be commercially successful, or
clients’ and competitors’ technologies or services will not render the Company’s services obsolete. Furthermore, the Company’s failure to successfully and
timely implement sophisticated technology or to respond effectively to technological changes in general, would have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s success, growth prospects, results of operations, and financial condition.
Dependence on Labor Force
StarTek’s success is largely dependent on its ability to recruit, hire, train, and retain qualified employees. The Company’s business is labor intensive and
continues to experience relatively high personnel turnover. The Company’s operations, especially its technical support teleservices, generally require
specially trained employees. Increases in the Company’s employee turnover rate could increase the Company’s recruiting and training costs and decrease its
operating efficiency and productivity. Also, the addition of new clients or implementation of new projects for existing clients may require the Company to
recruit, hire, and train personnel at accelerated rates. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to successfully recruit, hire, train, and retain
sufficient qualified personnel to adequately staff for existing business or future growth. Additionally, since a substantial portion of the Company’s operating
expenses consist of labor related costs, labor shortages together with increases in wages (including minimum wages as mandated by the US federal
government, employee benefit costs, employment tax rates, and other labor related expenses) could have a material adverse effect on StarTek’s business,
operating profit, and financial condition.
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Risks Associated with the Company’s Contracts
The Company typically enters into written agreements with each client for outsourced services, or performs services on a purchase order basis. Under
substantially all of the Company’s significant arrangements with its clients, including its principal clients, the Company typically generates revenues based on
the number and duration of customer inquiries, and volume, complexity, and type of components involved in its clients’ products. Consequently, the amount
of revenues generated from any particular client is generally dependent upon customers’ purchase and use of that client’s products. There can be no assurance
as to the number of customers who will be attracted to the products of the Company’s clients or that the Company’s clients will continue to develop new
products that will require the Company’s services. Although the Company currently seeks to sign multi-year contracts with its clients, the Company’s
contracts, including its contracts with principal clients, generally: (i) permit termination upon relatively short notice by its clients; (ii) do not designate the

Company as its clients’ exclusive outsourcing service provider; (iii) do not penalize its clients for early termination, and; (iv) generally hold the Company
responsible for work performed which does not meet certain pre-defined specifications. To the extent the Company works on a purchase order basis,
agreements with its clients frequently do not provide for minimum purchase requirements, except in connection with certain of its technical support services.
Certain of the Company’s contracts require the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries and for certain of its facilities and services, to maintain ISO
certification.
Risks Associated with General Economic Conditions
StarTek operates within US and international economies that are subject to various economic, market and other factors. The Company, as well as its
clients, can be particularly vulnerable to recession or other significant economic events or downturn. The US economy and related financial markets have
experienced generally downward fluctuations in the past twelve months. Economic instability or continued recession may continue for the foreseeable
future. These broad economic factors can adversely affect StarTek’s revenue and profit margins.
Risks Associated with International Operations and Expansion
StarTek currently conducts business in the United Kingdom and Canada, in addition to its US operations. International operations accounted for 21.5%
and 19.3% of the Company’s revenues for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2002 respectively. There can be no assurance that the Company will be
able to continue or expand its capacity to market, sell, and deliver its services in international markets, or develop relationships with other businesses to
expand its international operations. Additionally, there are certain risks inherent in conducting international business, including: (i) exposure to foreign
currency fluctuations against the US dollar; (ii) competition from others regarding labor and material costs; (iii) potentially longer working capital cycles; (iv)
greater difficulties in collecting accounts receivable; (v) difficulties in complying with a variety of foreign laws and foreign tax regulations; (vi) unexpected
changes in foreign government programs, policies, regulatory requirements and labor laws; (vii) difficulties in staffing and effectively managing foreign
operations; and (viii) political instability and adverse tax consequences. There can be no assurance that one or more of such factors will not have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s international operations and, consequently, on the Company’s business, results of operations, growth prospects, and financial
condition.
Control by Principal Stockholders
As of March 10, 2003, A. Emmet Stephenson, Jr., Chairman of the Board and co-founder of the Company, and his family beneficially own approximately
61.6% of the Company’s outstanding common stock. As a result, Mr. Stephenson and his family will be able to elect the entire Board of Directors of the
Company and to control substantially all other matters requiring action by the Company’s stockholders. Additionally, substantially all of the Company’s
revenues, operating expenses, and operating results in general are derived from the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries. Such voting concentration may
discourage, delay or prevent a change in control of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries.
Dependence on Key Personnel
The Company’s success to date has depended in part on the skills and efforts of Mr. Stephenson. Mr. Stephenson has not entered into an employment
agreement with the Company and there can be no assurance that the Company can retain the services of Mr. Stephenson. In May 2001, the Company entered
into an employment agreement with William E. Meade, Jr. The agreement provides for, among other things, the services of Mr. Meade as the Company’s
Chief Executive Officer, President and member of the Board of Directors through May 2006. The loss of Mr. Stephenson, Mr. Meade, or the Company’s
inability to hire and retain other qualified officers, directors and key employees, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s success, growth
prospects, results of operations, and financial condition.
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Dependence on Key Industries and Trends Toward Outsourcing
StarTek’s current client base generally consists of companies engaged primarily in the computer software, computer hardware, Internet, E-commerce,
technology, and telecommunications industries. The Company’s business and growth is largely dependent on continued demand for its services from clients
in these industries and industries targeted by the Company, and current trends in such industries to outsource various non-core functions that are offered on an
outsourced basis by the Company. A general economic downturn in the computer industry or in other industries targeted by the Company, or a slowdown or
reversal of the trend in these industries to outsource services provided by the Company, could materially and adversely affect the Company’s business, results
of operations, growth prospects, and financial condition.
Risks of Business Interruptions
StarTek’s operations depend on its ability to protect its facilities, clients’ products, confidential client information, computer equipment,
telecommunications equipment, and software systems against damage from Internet interruption, fire, power loss, telecommunications interruption, Ecommerce interruption, natural disaster, theft, unauthorized intrusion, computer viruses, other emergencies, and ability of its suppliers to deliver component
parts quickly. While the Company maintains certain procedures and contingency plans to minimize the detrimental impact of such events, there can be no
assurance such procedures and plans will be successful. In the event the Company experiences temporary or permanent interruptions or other emergencies at
one or more of its facilities, the Company’s business could be materially and adversely affected and the Company may be required to pay contractual damages
to its clients, or allow its clients to terminate or renegotiate their arrangements with the Company. While the Company maintains property and business
interruption insurance, such insurance may not adequately and/or timely compensate the Company for all losses it may incur. Further, some of the
Company’s operations, including telecommunication systems and telecommunication networks, and the Company’s ability to timely and consistently access
and use 24 hours per day, seven days per week, telephone, Internet, E-commerce, E-mail, facsimile connections, and other forms of communication are
substantially dependent upon telephone companies, Internet service providers, and various telecommunications infrastructure. If such communications are
interrupted on a short or long-term basis, the Company’s services would be similarly interrupted and delayed.
Volatility of Stock Price
The market price of StarTek’s common stock has been highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to quarterly variations in
operating results, the success of the Company in implementing its business and growth strategies, announcements of new contracts or contract cancellations,
announcements of technological innovations or new products and services by the Company or its competitors, changes in financial estimates by securities

analysts, or other events or factors. Additionally, the stock market has experienced substantial price and volume fluctuations that have particularly affected
the market prices of equity securities of many companies, and that have often been unrelated to the operating performance of such companies. These broad
market fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of StarTek’s common stock. Additionally, since only a minority portion of StarTek’s outstanding
common stock is currently available for trading without restriction under Rule 144, and since such stock sometimes trades at a relatively low volume level,
any change in demand for such stock can be expected to substantially influence market prices of StarTek’s outstanding common stock. The closing price of
StarTek, Inc. shares varied from a low of $16.70 to a high of $27.99 during 2002.
Risks Related to the Company’s Portfolio of Internet Domain Names
Through its wholly-owned subsidiary Domain.com, Inc., the Company owns a portfolio of Internet domain names. The estimated fair market value of
domain names owned by the Company is difficult to assess because the Company, to date, has had limited activity related to its Internet domain name
portfolio. An investor in the Company’s common stock must consider the challenges, risks, and uncertainties frequently encountered by early stage
companies using new and unproven business models in new and rapidly evolving markets. These challenges influencing the Company’s ability to benefit
from its portfolio of Internet domain names include the Company’s ability to: (i) execute on its business model; (ii) increase brand recognition of the Internet
domain names within the Company’s portfolio; and (iii) protect trademarks, service marks, and copyrights related to the domain names. These and other
uncertainties generally attributable to businesses engaging in E-commerce and the Internet must be considered when evaluating the Company’s portfolio of
Internet domain names, and prospects of the Company’s Internet web site operations anticipated to be developed from these domain names.
Risks Related to Fluctuating Values of the Company’s Portfolio of Investment Securities
The Company has made investments in publicly traded securities, and the share prices of the securities have been volatile. The Company periodically
reviews investments available for sale for other than temporary declines in fair value and writes down investments to their fair value when such a decline has
occurred. Unrealized gain or losses on investments acquired as trading securities are recognized as they occur. Future adverse changes in market conditions
or poor operating results of companies in which the Company has invested could result in losses or an inability to recover the carrying value of the
investments that may not be reflected in an investment’s current carrying value and which could require an impairment charge.
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ITEM 7a. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK
The following discusses the Company’s exposure to market risks related to changes in interest rates and other general market risks, equity market prices
and other general market risks, and foreign currency exchange rates as of December 31, 2002. All of the Company’s investment decisions are supervised or
managed by its Chairman of the Board. The Company’s investment portfolio policy, approved as amended by the Board of Directors during 2001, provides
for investment objectives and portfolio allocation guidelines. This discussion contains forward-looking statements subject to risks and uncertainties. Actual
results could vary materially as a result of a number of factors, including but not limited to, changes in interest and inflation rates or market expectations
thereon, equity market prices, foreign currency exchange rates, and those set forth in the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations”—”Risk Factors” section of this Form 10-K. Also see Note 1 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements set forth herein for a
further discussion of the Company’s cash, cash equivalents, and investments.
Interest Rate Sensitivity and Other General Market Risks
Cash and Cash Equivalents. The Company had $13.1 million in cash and cash equivalents, which consisted of: (i) $12.3 million invested in various
money market funds and overnight investments at a combined weighted average interest rate of approximately 1.2%; and (ii) $0.8 million in various noninterest bearing accounts. Cash and cash equivalents are not restricted. Management considers cash equivalents to be short-term, highly liquid investments
readily convertible to known amounts of cash, and so near their maturity they present insignificant risk of changes in value because of changes in interest
rates. The Company does not expect any substantial loss with respect to its cash and cash equivalents as a result of interest rate changes, and estimated fair
value of its cash and cash equivalents approximates original cost.
Investments Available for Sale. The Company had investments available for sale, which, in aggregate, had a basis of $37.8 million and a fair market
value of $36.6 million. Investments available for sale generally consisted of corporate bonds, bond mutual funds, and various forms of equity securities. The
Company’s investment portfolio is subject to market risk and interest and inflation rate risks. These investments will fall in value if market interest and/or
inflation rates increase. In 2002, the Company determined that the certain declines in the fair value of investments available for sale were other than
temporary and recorded an impairment charge of $6.3 million, offset by a $0.1 million partial cash recovery of the Six Sigma investment impaired in 2001.
Fair market value of and estimated cash flows from the Company’s investments in corporate bonds are substantially dependent upon credit worthiness of
certain corporations expected to repay their debts to the Company. If such corporations’ financial condition and liquidity adversely changes, the Company’s
investments in their debts can be expected to be materially and adversely affected.
The table below provides information about maturity dates and corresponding weighted average interest rates related to certain of the Company’s
investments available for sale:
Weighted
Average
Interest Rates

Corporate bonds
Corporate bonds
Corporate bonds
Total

7.42%
9.39%
6.69%
7.71%

1 year

$

10,105

$

10,105

2 years

$

3,683

$

3,683

Expected Maturity Date
-Basis(dollars in thousands)
4 years
5 years

3 years

Thereafter

Total

$
$

—

$

—

$
$

2,839
2,839

$

—

$

10,105
3,683
2,839
16,627

Fair Value

$
$

10,143
3,863
3,222
17,228

Management believes the Company has the ability to hold the foregoing investments until maturity, and therefore, if held to maturity, the Company
would not expect the future proceeds from these investments to be affected, to any significant degree, by the effect of a sudden change in market interest
rates. Declines in interest rates over time will, however, reduce the Company’s interest income derived from future investments.
As part of its investments available for sale portfolio, the Company was invested in equity securities that, in aggregate, had a basis of $21.2 million and a
fair market value of $19.4 million.

Outstanding Debt of the Company. The Company had outstanding debt of $6.5 million as of December 31, 2002, $0.6 million of which bears no interest
as long as the Company complies with the terms of the debt arrangement. The payments on this non interest-bearing note are funded through certain
incentive provisions.
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The following table provides information as of December 31, 2002 about loans entered into by the Company that are secured by the equipment purchased
with the loan proceeds:
Loan date

Term

10/22/99

48 months

Variable (2.65% at 12/31/02)

Interest rate

11/2/01

48 months

12/6/01

48 months

Outstanding

Covenants/Penalties

$0.5 million

Maintenance of certain operating ratios.

5.02%

$4.8 million US
(Canadian loan)

Penalty if prepaid in first two years.

5.41%

$0.5 million US
(Canadian loan)

Penalty if prepaid in first two years.

As of December 31, 2002 and the date of this Form 10-K, the Company was in compliance with the financial covenants of these loans.
Management believes a hypothetical 10.0% increase in interest rates would not have a material adverse affect on the Company. Increases in interest rates
would, however, increase interest expense associated with the Company’s existing variable rate equipment loan and future borrowings by the Company, if
any. For example, the Company may from time to time effect borrowings under its $10 million line of credit for general corporate purposes, including
working capital requirements, capital expenditures, and other purposes related to expansion of the Company’s capacity. Borrowings under the $10 million
line of credit bear interest at the lender’s prime rate minus 1 % (3.25% as of December 31, 2002). As of December 31, 2002 and the date of this Form 10-K,
the Company was in compliance with the financial covenants pertaining to the line of credit. The Company has not hedged against interest rate changes.
Equity Price Risks and Other General Market Risks
Equity Securities. The Company held in its investments available for sale portfolio certain equity securities with basis and fair market value, in
aggregate, of $21.2 million and $19.4 million, respectively. Equity securities primarily consisted of publicly traded common stock of US based companies,
exchange-traded funds, equity mutual funds, and real estate investment trusts. A substantial decline in values of equity securities and equity prices in general
would have a material adverse affect on the Company’s equity investments. Also, prices of common stocks held by the Company would be materially and
adversely affected by increasing inflation and/or interest rates or market expectations thereon, poor management, shrinking product demand, and other risks
that may affect single companies, as well as groups of companies. The Company has partially hedged against some equity price changes.
Trading Securities. As of December 31, 2002 the Company was invested in trading securities, which, in aggregate, had an original cost and fair market
value of $6.2 million and $7.4 million, respectively. Trading securities consisted primarily of US and international mutual funds, investments in limited
partnerships, and US equity securities. Trading securities were held to meet short-term investment objectives. As part of trading securities and as of
December 31, 2002, the Company had sold call options for a total of 18,000 shares of US equity securities that, in aggregate, had a basis and market value of
$9,000 and $7,000, respectively, and sold put options for a total of 12,000 shares of US equity securities that, in aggregate, had a basis and market value of
$14,000 and $13,000, respectively. The foregoing call and put options were reported net as components of trading securities and expired in January 2003.
Risk of loss to the Company in the event of nonperformance by any party is not considered substantial. Due to the potential limited liquidity of some of
these instruments, the most recently traded price may be different from values that might be realized if the Company were to sell or close out the transactions.
Such differences are not considered significant to the Company’s results of operations, financial condition, or liquidity. The foregoing call and put options,
may involve elements of credit and market risks in excess of the amounts recognized in the Company’s financial statements. A substantial decline and/or
change in value of equity securities, equity prices in general, international equity mutual funds, investments in limited partnerships, and/or call and put
options could have a material adverse affect on the Company’s portfolio of trading securities. Also, trading securities could be materially and adversely
affected by increasing interest and/or inflation rates or market expectations thereon, poor management, shrinking product demand, and other risks that may
affect single companies, as well as groups of companies.
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Foreign Currency Exchange Risks
Terms of the Company’s agreements with clients and subcontractors are typically in US dollars except for certain agreements related to its United
Kingdom and Canada operations. Of the Company’s revenues for the year ended December 31, 2002, 19.3% were derived from arrangements whereby the
Company received payments from clients in currencies other than US dollars. If an arrangement provides for the Company to receive payments in a foreign
currency, revenues realized from such an arrangement may be less if the value of such foreign currency declines. Similarly, if an arrangement provides for the
Company to make payments in a foreign currency, cost of services and operating expenses for such an arrangement may be more if the value of such foreign
currency increases. For example, a 10% change in the relative value of such foreign currency could cause a related 10% change in the Company’s previously
expected revenues, cost of services, and operating expenses. If the international portion of the Company’s business continues to grow, more revenues and
expenses will be denominated in foreign currencies, which increases the Company’s exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. In the past, the
Company has not hedged against foreign currency exchange rate changes related to its international operations.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL DATA
Consolidated financial statements and supplementary data of the Company required by Item 8. are set forth herein at the pages indicated in Item 15(a).
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE.

Not applicable.
PART III
ITEMS 10. THROUGH 13.
Information required by Item 10. (Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant), Item 11. (Executive Compensation), Item 12. (Security Ownership
of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management), and Item 13. (Certain Relationships and Related Transactions) will be included in StarTek’s definitive proxy
statement to be delivered in connection with its 2003 annual meeting of stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 14. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Based on their evaluation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined by Rule 13a-14(c) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934)
as of a date within 90 days of the filing date of this annual report, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that
these disclosure controls and procedures have been designed and are being operated in a manner that provides reasonable assurance that the information
required to be disclosed by the Company in reports filed under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods
specified in the SEC's rules and forms. A controls system, no matter how well designed and operated cannot provide absolute assurance that the objectives of
the controls system are met, and no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within a
company have been detected. Subsequent to the date of the most recent evaluation of the Company's internal controls, there were no significant changes in
internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect the internal controls, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies
and material weaknesses.
PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
(a) Document List
1.

Financial Statements
Response to this portion of Item 15. is submitted per the Index to Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules on page 22 of
this Form 10-K.

2.

Supplementary Data and Financial Statement Schedules
Response to this portion of Item 15. is submitted per the Index to Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules on page 22 of
this Form 10-K.

3.

An Index of Exhibits is on pages 40-43 of this Form 10-K.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K.
No reports on Form 8-K were filed by the Company during the three months ended December 31, 2002.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
StarTek, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of StarTek, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2002 and 2001,
and the related consolidated statements of income, cash flows and stockholders’ equity for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of StarTek, Inc. and
subsidiaries at December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2002, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
Ernst & Young LLP
Denver, Colorado
February 14, 2003
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STARTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(dollars in thousands)
December 31,
2001

December 31,
2002

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Trade accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $789 and $816 in 2001 and 2002, respectively
Inventories
Income tax receivable
Deferred tax assets
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Long-term deferred tax assets
Other assets
Total assets

$

$

14,282
35,804
26,185
2,614
—
3,394
1,274
83,553
42,017
3,533
50
129,153

$

$

13,143
44,022
37,232
1,463
335
4,300
958
101,453
38,797
110
61
140,421

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Income taxes payable
Current portion of long-term debt
Other
Total current liabilities

$

Long-term debt, less current portion
Other
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock
Additional paid-in capital
Cumulative translation adjustment
Unrealized loss on investments available for sale
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
See notes to consolidated financial statements.

11,978
6,357
2,192
3,605
292
24,424

$

8,201
919

$

141
48,002
(431)
(2,190)
50,087
95,609
129,153 $

11,156
7,235
—
2,221
462
21,074
4,261
492
142
50,060
(123)
(738)
65,253
114,594
140,421
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STARTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Income Statements
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)
2000

Revenues
Cost of services
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Operating profit
Net interest income and other
Loss on impaired investments
Income before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net income (A)

$

$

Weighted average shares of common stock (B)
Dilutive effect of stock options
Common stock and common stock equivalents (C)

Year Ended December 31,
2001

200,750
153,629
47,121
20,950
26,171
4,655
—
30,826
11,406
19,420

$

$

14,016,851
262,558
14,279,409

Earnings per share:
Basic (A/B)
Diluted (A/C)

$
$

1.39
1.36

2002

182,576 $
137,622
44,954
25,938
19,016
4,318
(15,452)
7,882
3,011
4,871 $
14,053,484
114,560
14,168,044

$
$

0.35
0.34

207,864
157,005
50,859
22,562
28,297
1,986
(6,210)
24,073
8,907
15,166
14,140,765
244,624
14,385,389

$
$

1.07
1.05

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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STARTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(dollars in thousands)

Operating Activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Deferred income taxes
Loss (gain) on sale of assets
Loss on investment impairments
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Sales (purchases) of trading securities, net
Trade accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Income taxes payable
Accrued and other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing Activities
Purchases of investments available for sale
Proceeds from disposition of investments available for sale
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposition of property, plant and equipment
Notes receivable from Gifts.com, Inc.
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing Activities
Stock options exercised
Principal payments on borrowings, net
Proceeds from borrowings and capital lease obligations
Principal payments on capital lease obligations
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

2000

$

Year Ended December 31,
2001

19,420

$

4,871

2002

$

15,166

5,482
691
(80)
—

6,898
(4,497)
1
15,452

9,220
1,399
2
6,210

(13,668)
1,393
1,794
(268)
(7,773)
2,434
1,627
11,052

6,334
(5,786)
(668)
(548)
3,603
(746)
954
25,868

1,085
(11,047)
1,151
305
(822)
(2,149)
621
21,141

(15,818)
21,140
(8,909)
284
(1,989)
(5,292)

(56,966)
41,509
(19,016)
8
—
(34,465)

(45,337)
32,214
(5,877)
38
—
(18,962)

704
(1,998)
6,145
(74)
4,777
63

738
(12,460)
12,850
—
1,128
(792)

1,681
(5,420)
—
—
(3,739)
421

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

$

10,600
11,943
22,543

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information
Cash paid for interest
Income taxes paid
Property plant and equipment acquired or refinanced under long-term debt
Change in unrealized loss on investments available for sale, net of tax

$
$
$
$

332
8,376
2,144
101

(8,261)
22,543
14,282

$
$
$
$

355 $
8,318 $
7,049
(1,695) $

(1,139)
14,282
13,143

419
9,394
—
1,452

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
26

STARTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(dollars in thousands)
Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Common Stock
Shares
Amount

Balance, December 31, 1999
Stock options exercised
Income tax benefit from stock
options exercised
Net income
Cumulative translation adjustment
Unrealized gain on investments
available for sale
Comprehensive income
Balance, December 31, 2000
Stock options exercised
Income tax benefit from stock
options exercised
Net income
Cumulative translation adjustment
Unrealized gain on investments
available for sale
Comprehensive income
Balance, December 31, 2001
Stock options exercised
Income tax benefit from stock
options exercised
Net income
Cumulative translation adjustment
Unrealized loss on investments
available for sale
Comprehensive income
Balance, December 31, 2002

Retained
Earnings

140

46,110

—

704

—

—

704

—

—

710

—

—

710

—
—

—
—

—
—

19,420
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

$

140

$

45,681

47,095

$

25,796

45,216

$

$

(571) $

71,046

—
(17)

19,420
(17)

101
—

101
19,504

(487) $

91,964

49,340

1

737

—

—

738

—

—

170

—

—

170

—
—

—
—

—
—

4,871
—

—
(439)

4,871
(439)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

(1,695)
—

(1,695)
2,737

14,082,561

141

48,002

50,087

(2,621)

95,609

110,020

1

1,680

—

—

1,681

—

—

378

—

—

378

—
—

—
—

—
—

15,166
—

—
308

15,166
308

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

1,452
—

1,452
16,926

14,192,581

142

50,060

65,253

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
27

STARTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)
1.

$

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

13,987,111

14,033,221

$

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income

Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(861)

114,594

StarTek, Inc.’s business was founded in 1987 and, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, has provided outsourced process management services since
inception. On December 30, 1996, StarTek, Inc. (the “Company” or “StarTek”) was incorporated in Delaware, and in June 1997 StarTek completed an initial
public offering of its common stock. Prior to December 30, 1996, StarTek USA, Inc. and StarTek Europe, Ltd. conducted business as affiliates under
common control. In 1998, the Company formed StarTek Pacific, Ltd., a Colorado corporation and Domain.com, Inc., a Delaware corporation, both of which
are also wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. In 2001, the Company formed StarTek Canada Services, Ltd. a Nova Scotia, Canada corporation, which
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. StarTek, Inc. is a holding company for the businesses conducted by its wholly-owned subsidiaries. The
consolidated financial statements include accounts of all wholly-owned subsidiaries after elimination of intercompany accounts and transactions.
Business Operations
StarTek has an established position as a global provider of process management service platforms and owns and operates branded vertical market Internet
web sites. The Company’s process management service platforms include offering comprehensive supply chain management services, high-end inbound
technical support, provisioning management for complex telecommunications systems, and E-commerce support and fulfillment. As an outsourcer of process
management services as its core business, StarTek allows its clients to focus on their primary business, reduce overhead, replace fixed costs with variable
costs, and reduce working capital needs. The Company has continuously expanded its process management business and facilities to offer additional
outsourcing services in response to growing needs of its clients and to capitalize on market opportunities, both domestically and internationally. The
Company has process management operations in North America, Europe, and through 2001, in Asia. The facility in Asia closed on January 31, 2002.
StarTek owns a portfolio of branded vertical market Internet web sites and operates certain sites, including airlines.com and wedding.com, as internet
portals.
Foreign Currency Translation
Assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign operations are translated into US dollars at current exchange rates. Revenues and expenses are translated
at average monthly exchange rates. Resulting translation adjustments, net of applicable deferred income taxes (2001 - $(252); 2002 - $(73)), are reported as a
separate component of stockholders’ equity. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in determining net income. Such gains and losses
were not material for any period presented.
Comprehensive Income
Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income”, establishes rules for the reporting and display of
comprehensive income. Comprehensive income is defined essentially as all changes in stockholders’ equity, exclusive of transactions with owners.
Comprehensive income was $19,504, $2,737, and $16,926 for 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires the Company’s
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in the Company’s consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.
The below table shows the roll forward of the Company’s allowances for doubtful accounts and inventory reserves.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Balance at beginning of year
Additions/recoveries
Write offs
Balance at end of year
Inventory Reserve
Balance at beginning of year
Additions
Write offs
Balance at end of year

2000

$

$

$

$

December 31,
2001

2002

775 $
(75)
(28)
672 $

672 $
312
(195)
789 $

789
29
(2)
816

596 $
16
(175)
437 $

437 $
178
(85)
530 $

530
238
(301)
467
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Revenue Recognition
Revenues are recognized as services are completed.
Training
Training costs pertaining to start-up and ongoing projects are expensed during the year incurred.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable, notes receivable, and debt. Carrying
values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate fair value. Investments are reported at fair value. Management
believes differences between fair values and carrying values of notes receivable and debt would not be materially different because interest rates approximate
market rates for material items.
Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers cash equivalents to be short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of cash and so near their
maturity they present insignificant risk of changes in value because of changes in interest rates.
Investments
Investments available for sale consist of debt and equity securities reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of tax (tax benefits of
$1,371 and $433 for 2001 and 2002, respectively) reported as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. There have been no unrealized gains and losses
or declines in value judged to be other than temporary on investments available for sale with the exception of the investments described in Note 4.
Investments are evaluated for other-than-temporary impairment if the fair value was below cost after six months. The Company then considers additional
factors such as market conditions, the industry sectors in which the investment entity operates, and the viability and prospects of each entity. Other-thantemporary declines in fair value are reflected on the income statement as loss on impaired investments. Original cost of investments available for sale, which
are sold, is based on the specific identification method. Interest income from investments available for sale is included in net interest income and other.
Trading securities and investments are carried at fair market values. Fair market values are determined by the most recently traded price of the security or
underlying investment as of the balance sheet date. Gross unrealized gains and losses from trading securities are reflected in income currently and as part of
net interest income and other.
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (‘SFAS”) No. 133 “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”. SFAS No. 133 establishes accounting and reporting standards requiring derivative instruments (including
certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts) to be recorded as either assets or liabilities measured at fair value. SFAS No. 133 requires
changes in a derivative’s fair value to be recognized currently in income unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met. Special accounting for qualifying
hedges allow a derivative’s gains and losses to offset related results on the hedged item in the income statement, and requires a company to formally
document, designate, and assess effectiveness of transactions receiving hedge accounting treatment. SFAS No. 133 was effective for the Company on January
1, 2001. The adoption of SFAS No. 133 had no material impact on the Company.
Inventories
Inventories are valued at average costs that approximate actual costs computed on a first-in, first-out basis, not in excess of market value.
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Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant, and equipment are stated at cost. Additions, improvements, and major renewals are capitalized. Maintenance, repairs, and minor
renewals are expensed as incurred. Depreciation and amortization is computed using the straight-line method based on their estimated useful lives as follows:
Estimated Useful Lives

Buildings and improvements
Equipment
Furniture and fixtures

7 to 30.5 years
3 to 5 years
7 years

Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes using the liability method of accounting for income taxes as prescribed by SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for
Income Taxes”. Deferred income taxes reflect net effects of temporary differences between carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and amounts used for income tax purposes. The Company is subject to foreign income taxes on its foreign operations.
Stock Option Plans
The Company stock options plans, which are described more fully in Note 14, Stock Options, are accounted for under the intrinsic value recognition and
measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”, and related Interpretations. As the
exercise price of all options granted under these plans was equal to the market price of the underlying stock on the grant date, no stock-based employee
compensation cost is recognized in net income. The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company had applied the
fair value recognition provisions of SFAS no. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, to employee stock benefits.
For purposes of this pro forma disclosure, the estimated fair value of the options is assumed to be amortized to expense over the options’ vesting periods.
2000

Net income, as reported
Fair value-based compensation cost, net of tax
Pro forma net income

2001

2002

$

19,420 $
1,577
17,843 $

4,871 $
1,756
3,115

15,166
5,234
9,932

Basic earnings per share
As reported
Pro forma

$
$

1.39 $
1.27 $

0.35 $
0.22 $

1.07
0.70

Diluted earnings per share
As reported
Pro forma

$
$

1.36 $
1.25 $

0.34 $
0.22 $

1.05
0.69

New Accounting Pronouncements

$

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations”, and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets”. SFAS No. 141 requires that the purchase method of accounting be used for all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001.
SFAS No. 141 also includes guidance on the initial recognition and measurement of goodwill and other intangible assets arising from business combinations
completed after June 30, 2001. SFAS No. 142 prohibits the amortization of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. SFAS No. 142 also
requires that these assets be reviewed for impairment at least annually. Intangible assets with finite lives will continue to be amortized over their estimated
useful lives. The Company adopted SFAS No. 141 and No. 142 on January 1, 2002 and the adoption of these statements did not result in any material impact.
30

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations”. SFAS No. 143 addresses financial accounting and
reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and associated asset retirement costs. The Company adopted SFAS No.
143 on January 1, 2003, and the adoption of this statement did not result in any material impact.
In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”, which establishes one accounting
model to be used for long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale and broadens the presentation of discontinued operations to include more disposal
transactions. SFAS No. 144 supersedes SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of”, and the accounting and
reporting provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results of Operations-Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of
a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions”. The Company adopted SFAS No. 144 on January 1, 2002 and
the adoption of this statement did not result in any material impact.
In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities”, which provides guidance related to
accounting for costs associated with disposal activities covered by SFAS No. 144 or with exit or restructuring activities previously covered by Emerging
Issues Task Force ("EITF") Issue No. 94-3, Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including
Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring). SFAS No. 146 supercedes EITF Issue No. 94-3 in its entirety. SFAS No. 146 requires that costs related to exiting
an activity or to a restructuring not be recognized until the liability is incurred. SFAS No. 146 will be applied prospectively to exit or disposal activities that
are initiated after December 31, 2002. The Company is currently evaluating the effects, if any, that this standard will have on its results of operations and
financial position.
In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, which provides alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based
method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. SFAS No. 148 also requires that disclosures of the pro forma effect of using the fair value
method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation be displayed more prominently and in a tabular format. Additionally, SFAS No. 148 requires
disclosure of the pro forma effect in interim financial statements. The transition requirements of SFAS No. 148 are effective for the Company’s fiscal year
2003. The Company currently does not plan to transition to a fair value method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation.
2.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed on the basis of weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is computed
on the basis of weighted average number of common shares outstanding plus effects of outstanding stock options using the “treasury stock” method.
3.

Investments
As of December 31, 2001, investments available for sale consisted of:

Basis

Corporate bonds
Equity securities
Total

$
$

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

13,478 $
17,409
30,887 $

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

375 $
293
668 $

(816) $
(3,414)
(4,230) $

Estimated
Fair
Value

13,037
14,288
27,325
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As of December 31, 2002, investments available for sale consisted of:

Basis

Corporate bonds
Equity securities
Total

$
$

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

16,627 $
21,172
37,799 $

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

610 $
175
785 $

(9) $
(1,947)
(1,956) $

Estimated
Fair
Value

17,228
19,400
36,628

As of December 31, 2002, amortized costs and estimated fair values of investments available for sale by contractual maturity were:
Basis

Corporate bonds maturing within:
One year or less
Two to five years

$
$

Equity securities
Total

$

Estimated Fair
Value

10,105 $
6,522
16,627 $
21,172
37,799 $

10,143
7,085
17,228
19,400
36,628

Equity securities primarily consisted of publicly traded common stock of US based companies, equity mutual funds, and real estate investment trusts.

As of December 31, 2001, the Company was also invested in trading securities, which, in the aggregate, had an original cost and fair market value of
$8,344 and $8,479, respectively. Trading securities consisted primarily of US and international mutual funds and investments in limited partnerships. Certain
investments include hedging and derivative securities. Trading securities were held to meet short-term investment objectives. As part of trading securities
and as of December 31, 2001, the Company had sold call options for a total of 33,500 shares of US equity securities which, in the aggregate, had a basis and
market value of $30 and $29, respectively, and sold put options for a total of 211,000 shares of US equity securities which, in the aggregate, had a basis and
market value of $132 and $92, respectively. The foregoing call and put options were reported net as components of trading securities and expired between
January 18 and February 15, 2002.
As of December 31, 2002, the Company was also invested in trading securities, which, in the aggregate, had an original cost and fair market value of
$6,214 and $7,394, respectively. Trading securities consisted primarily of US and international mutual funds and investments in limited partnerships. Certain
investments include hedging and derivative securities. Trading securities were held to meet short-term investment objectives. As part of trading securities
and as of December 31, 2002, the Company had sold call options for a total of 18,000 shares of US equity securities which, in the aggregate, had a basis and
market value of $9 and $7, respectively, and sold put options for a total of 12,000 shares of US equity securities which, in the aggregate, had a basis and
market value of $14 and $13, respectively. The foregoing call and put options were reported net as components of trading securities and expired January 18,
2003.
Risk of loss to the Company in the event of nonperformance by any party is not considered substantial. The foregoing call and put options may involve
elements of credit and market risks in excess of the amounts recognized in the Company’s financial statements. A substantial decline and/or change in value
of equity securities, equity prices in general, international equity mutual funds, investment limited partnerships, and/or call and put options could have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s portfolio of trading securities. Also, trading securities could be materially and adversely affected by increasing
interest and/or inflation rates or market expectations thereon, poor management, shrinking product demand, and other risks that may affect single companies,
as well as groups of companies.
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4.

Loss on Impaired Investments

In January 2001, the Company purchased an investment in Six Sigma, LLC (“Six Sigma”). Six Sigma provided its audited financial statements, which
included an unqualified independent auditors’ opinion. The purpose of Six Sigma was to provide revolving platform financing to its customer, a national
mortgage company (“Mortgage Company”) and all advances were to be secured by first mortgages or deeds of trust on residential properties located in 47
different states. Six Sigma was to receive interest from the Lender and a portion of the loan origination fees. Subsequently, a federal court placed the
Mortgage Company into receivership based on allegations by the Securities and Exchange Commission that president of the Mortgage Company had
misappropriated large amounts of funds. The concurrent default on the line of credit extended by Six Sigma to the Mortgage Company triggered a
bankruptcy filing by Six Sigma. Based on the limited information available to the Company, the Company believed it to be probable that its investment in
Six Sigma had been impaired, and in 2001 took a charge for a loss on the entire investment balance of $3,000 and accrued interest and fees of $40. The
Company will continue to pursue recovery of this investment.
Through its wholly owned subsidiary Domain.com, Inc., the Company has a 19.9% investment in and notes receivable from Gifts.com, Inc. of $12,412 in
the aggregate. The Company’s investment in Gifts.com, Inc. was carried at cost. Gifts.com, Inc. is currently experiencing operating losses, negative cash
flows, and a deficiency in working capital. The Company may lose its entire investment in and notes receivable from Gifts.com, Inc. Management believed
it to be probable the Company’s investment in and notes receivable from Gifts.com, Inc. has been impaired, and in 2001 took a charge for a loss on the entire
investment balance of $12,412.
The Company periodically evaluates investment holdings on an individual basis and in 2002 determined certain declines in the fair value of investments
available for sale to be other than temporary. The Company recorded $6,356 in other-than-temporary impairment and a $146 cash recovery of the Six Sigma
impairment originally recorded in 2001.
5.

Inventories

The Company purchases components of its clients’ products as an integral part of its process management services. At the close of an accounting period,
packaged and assembled products (together with other associated costs) are reflected as finished goods inventories pending shipment. The Company
generally has the right to be reimbursed from its clients for unused inventories. Client-owned inventories are not valued in the Company’s balance sheet.
Inventories consisted of:
December 31,
2001
2002

Purchased components and fabricated assemblies
Finished goods
Total
6.

$

1,903 $
711
2,614 $

$

1,373
90
1,463

Property, Plant and Equipment
December 31,
2001
2002

Land
Buildings and improvements
Equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property, plant and equipment, net

$

$

2,398 $
23,783
33,762
4,603
64,546
(22,529)
42,017 $
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2,400
24,734
38,666
4,935
70,735
(31,938)
38,797

7.

Line of Credit

The Company maintains a $10.0 million unsecured line of credit with Wells Fargo Bank West, N.A. (the “Bank”). Borrowing under the new line of
credit bears interest at the Bank’s prime rate minus 1% (3.25% as of December 31, 2002). Under this line of credit, the Company is required to maintain
minimum tangible net worth of $65.0 million and operate at a profit. The Company may not pay dividends in an amount that would cause a failure to meet
these financial covenants. As of December 31, 2002, the Company was in compliance with the financial covenants pertaining to the unsecured line of credit
and $10.0 million was available under this line of credit.
8.

Leases

The Company leases facilities and equipment under various non-cancelable operating leases. As of December 31, 2002, future minimum rental
commitments for operating leases were:
Operating
Leases

2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
Thereafter
Total minimum lease payments

$

1,023
856
785
682
513
1,025
4,884

$

Rent expense, including equipment rentals, for 2000, 2001, and 2002 was $727, $1,044, and $1,407, respectively.
9.

Tennessee Financing Agreement

On July 8, 1998, the Company entered into certain financing agreements with the Industrial Development Board of the County of Montgomery,
Tennessee, (the “Development Board”) in connection with the Development Board’s issuance to StarTek USA, Inc. of an Industrial Development Revenue
Note, Series A not to exceed $4,500 (the “Facility Note”) and an Industrial Development Revenue Note, Series B not to exceed $3,500 (the “Equipment
Loan”). The Facility Note bears interest at 9.0% per annum commencing on October 1, 1998, payable quarterly and maturing on July 8, 2008. Concurrently,
the Company advanced $3,575 in exchange for the Facility Note and entered into a lease agreement, maturing July 8, 2008, with the Development Board for
the use and acquisition of a 305,000 square-foot process management and distribution facility in Clarksville, Tennessee (the “Facility Lease”). The Facility
Lease provides for the Company to pay to the Development Board lease payments sufficient to pay, when and as due, the principal of and interest on the
Facility Note due to the Company from the Development Board. Pursuant to the provisions of the Facility Lease and upon the Company’s payment of the
Facility Lease in full, the Company shall have the option to purchase the 305,000 square-foot, Clarksville, Tennessee facility for a lump sum payment of one
hundred dollars. The Equipment Loan bears interest at 9.0% per annum, generally contains the same provisions as the Facility Note, and provides for an
equipment lease, except the Equipment Loan and equipment lease mature on January 1, 2004. As of December 31, 2002, the Company had used
approximately $4,468 and $1,982 of the Facility Note and Equipment Loan, respectively, and correspondingly entered into further lease arrangements with
the Development Board.
All transactions related to the purchase of the notes by the Company from the Development Board and the lease arrangements from the Development
Board to the Company have been offset against each other, and accordingly have no impact on the consolidated balance sheets. The assets acquired are
included in property, plant and equipment. Similarly, the interest income and interest expense related to the notes and lease arrangements, respectively, have
also been offset. The lease payments are equal to the amount of principal and interest payments on the notes, and accordingly have no impact on the
consolidated statements of operations.
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10. Long-Term Debt
December 31,
2001
2002

5.0% to 5.4% equipment loans
Variable rate equipment loan
Non-interest bearing promissory note with
incentive provisions
Other debt obligations

$

Less current portion of long-term debt
Long-term debt, less current portion

$

9,391 $
998

5,304
469

1,261
156
11,806
(3,605)
8,201 $

553
156
6,482
(2,221)
4,261

In connection with the equipment loans, the Company provided collateral that generally consisted of computer hardware and software, various forms of
telecommunications equipment, and furniture and fixtures whose estimated cost was equal to the principal amount of the equipment loans. The variable rate
loan bears interest at the prime rate minus 1.6%, or 2.65% on December 31, 2002. StarTek USA, Inc. is required, from time to time, to maintain certain
operating ratios. The non-interest bearing promissory note contains provisions which allow for payments to be made using certain incentives earned by the
Company. As of December 31, 2002, StarTek USA, Inc. was in compliance with these financial covenants.
As of December 31, 2002, future scheduled annual principal payments on long-term debt, including amounts related to the promissory note with waiver
provisions and the promissory note with incentive provisions were:
2003

$

2,221

2004
2005
2006
2007
Thereafter
$

1,841
1,789
26
26
579
6,482

11. Income Taxes
Significant components of the provision for income taxes were:
Current:
Federal
Foreign
State
Total current
Deferred:
Federal
Foreign
State
Total deferred
Income tax expense

2000

$

$

2001

2002

8,729 $
1,123
869
10,721

6,485 $
292
731
7,508

5,771
907
830
7,508

548
—
137
685
11,406 $

(3,906)
—
(591)
(4,497)
3,011 $

1,378
(175)
196)
1,399)
8,907

Income tax benefits associated with disqualifying dispositions of incentive stock options during 2000, 2001 and 2002 reduced income taxes by $710,
$170 and $378 for 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively. Such benefits were recorded as an increase to additional paid-in capital. The non-interest bearing
promissory note contains provisions which allow for payments to be made using certain incentives earned by the Company.
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Significant components of deferred tax assets, which required no valuation allowance, and deferred tax liabilities included in the accompanying balance
sheets as of December 31 were:
2001

Current deferred tax assets:
Bad debt allowance
Vacation accrual
Deferred revenue
Accrued expenses
Unrealized loss on investments
Loss on impaired investments available for sale
Other
Total current deferred tax assets
Long-term deferred tax assets (liabilities):
Tax depreciation in excess of book
Loss on impaired investments
Net long-term deferred tax assets
Total deferred tax assets

$

$

2002

233 $
610
747
453
1,342
—
9
3,394

317
639
96
489
446
2,259
54
4,300

(1,097)
4,630
3,533
6,927 $

(846)
956
110
4,410

Differences between US federal statutory income tax rates and the Company’s effective tax rates for the years ended December 31, 2000, 2001, and 2002
were:
2000

Tax at US statutory rates
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit
Other, net

2001

35.0%
3.2
(1.2)
37.0%

2002

35.0%
3.3
(0.1)
38.2%

35.0%
3.1
(1.1)
37.0%

12. Net Interest Income and Other
2000

Interest income
Interest expense
Other income and expense
Net interest income and other

$

$

Year Ended December 31,
2001

3,527 $
(332)
1,460
4,655 $

2,511 $
(347)
2,154
4,318 $

13. Stockholders’ Equity
As of December 31, 2001, common stock and additional paid-in capital consisted of:
Common stock; 32,000,000 shares, $.01 par value, authorized;
14,082,561 shares outstanding
Additional paid-in capital

$

141
48,002

2002

2,013
(419)
392
1,986

$

48,143

As of December 31, 2002, common stock and additional paid-in capital consisted of:
Common stock; 32,000,000 shares, $.01 par value, authorized;
14,192,581 shares outstanding
Additional paid-in capital

$

142
50,060
50,202

$
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14. Stock Options
Stock option plans have been established since 1997 to provide stock options, SARs and incentive stock options (cumulatively referred to as “Options”)
to key employees, directors (other than non-employee directors), consultants, and other independent contractors. The Stock Option Plan (“Option Plan”)
provides for Options to be granted for a maximum of 1,585,000 shares of common stock, which are to be awarded by determination of committee of nonemployee directors. Unless otherwise determined by the committee, all Options granted under the Option Plan vest 20% annually beginning on the first
anniversary of the Options’ grant date and expire at the earlier of: (i) ten years (or five years for participants owning greater than 10% of the voting stock)
from the Options’ grant date; (ii) three months after termination of employment; (iii) six months after the participant’s death; or (iv) immediately upon
termination for “cause”.
The Director Option Plan was established to provide stock options to non-employee directors who are elected to serve on the Company’s board of
directors and serve continuously from commencement of their term (the “Participants”). The Director Option Plan provides for stock options to be granted
for a maximum of 90,000 shares of common stock. Participants were automatically granted options to acquire 10,000 shares of common stock upon the
closing of the Company’s June 1997 initial public offering. Additionally, each Participant will be automatically granted options to acquire 3,000 shares of
common stock on the date of each annual meeting of stockholders thereafter at which such Participant is reelected to serve on the Company’s board of
directors. All options granted under the Director Option Plan fully vest upon grant and expire at the earlier of: (i) date of Participant’s membership on the
Company’s board of directors is terminated for cause; (ii) ten years from option grant date; or (iii) one year after Participant’s death.
The following table summarizes the activity and terms of outstanding options at December 31, 2000, 2001, and 2002:
2000
Options

Options outstanding at beginning of year
Granted
Exercised
Canceled
Options outstanding as of end of year
Options exercisable as of end of year

605,710 $
163,800
(46,110)
(75,320)
648,080 $
203,540 $

2001
Average
Exercise
Price

Options

20.43
36.80
15.29
37.27
22.95
19.84

648,080 $
645,000
(49,340)
(84,790)
1,158,950 $
322,750 $

2002
Average
Exercise
Price

Average
Exercise
Price

Options

22.95
17.46
14.94
25.32
20.06
20.65

1,158,950 $
333,500
(110,020)
(188,210)
1,194,220 $
423,620 $

20.06
24.30
15.28
23.87
21.11
19.99

Summary information about the Company’s stock options outstanding at December 31, 2002 is as follows:
Range of
Exercise
Prices

Outstanding at
December 31,
2002

$10.38 - $14.94
$15.00 - $19.39
$21.60 - $24.50
$25.26 - $26.60
$30.56 - $34.00
$38.62 - $38.94
$42.75 - $50.50
$65.00 - $74.00
$10.38 - $74.00

145,700
594,970
170,480
186,800
30,760
10,700
37,750
17,060
1,194,220

Weighted Average
Remaining Life
(In Years)

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

7.9
6.9
9.2
9.3
7.2
7.0
6.8
7.3
7.7

$

$

Exercisable at
December 31,
2002

14.70
16.74
23.28
26.05
31.57
38.65
45.12
69.04
21.11

35,320
312,390
2,460
18,000
14,100
10,280
20,550
10,520
423,620

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

$

$

14.34
15.91
21.85
25.93
31.64
38.63
44.56
67.70
19.99

The Company elected to follow Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, (“APB 25”) “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and related
interpretations in accounting for its stock options. Under APB 25, because the exercise price of the Company’s stock options equals the market price of the
underlying stock on date of grant, no compensation expense has been recognized. Pro forma information regarding net income and net income per share is
required by SFAS No. 123 “Accounting For Stock Based Compensation”, and has been determined as if the Company had accounted for its stock options
under the fair value method as provide for by SFAS No. 123
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Fair value of options granted during 2000, 2001 and 2002 reported above in Note 1: Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies was estimated as of date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:
2000

Expected life in years
Risk-free interest rate
Volatility
Dividend yield

7.0
5.5-6.7%
88.8%
0%

2001

7.0
3.53-5.08%
71.3%
0%

2002

7.0
1.43-3.65%
67.5%
0%

Weighted average grant date fair market value of options granted during 2000, 2001, and 2002 was approximately $29.68 per share, $17.50 per share, and
$24.30 per share, respectively.
The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully
transferable. In addition, option valuation models require input of highly subjective assumptions, including expected stock price volatility. Because the
Company’s stock options have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and because changes in subjective input assumptions can
materially affect fair value estimates, in management’s opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of fair value of the
Company’s stock options.
15. Geographic Area Information
The Company, operating in a single industry segment, provides a variety of integrated, outsourcing services to other businesses throughout the world.
The Company’s North America operations are located in the United States of America and Canada. The Company’s Europe operations are located in the
United Kingdom. The Company’s Asia operations, closed in January 2002, were located in Singapore. Revenues, operating profit, and identifiable assets,
classified by major geographic areas in which the Company operates were:
Year Ended December 31, 2000
Revenues
Operating profit
Identifiable assets
Year Ended December 31, 2001
Revenues
Operating profit
Identifiable assets
Year Ended December 31, 2002
Revenues
Operating profit
Identifiable assets

North America

$

Europe

153,032
21,864
117,247

$

$

155,612
18,580
196,125

$

200,288
29,615
238,717

$

Asia

22,226
2,896
7,207

$

$

16,080
278
6,286

$

$

7,493 $
(1,291)
3,983

$

$

Eliminations

25,492
1,411
4,090

$

10,884
158
2,985

Total

— $
—
(6,261) $

200,750
26,171
122,283

$

— $
—
(76,243)

182,576
19,016
129,153

83 $
(27)
—

— $
—
(102,279)

207,864
28,297
140,421

$

16. Principal Clients
The following table represents revenue concentrations of the Company’s principal clients:
Year ended December 31,
2001
2002

Microsoft Corp.
AT&T Wireless Services, Inc.
AT&T Corp.
T-Mobile, a subsidiary of Deutsche Telekom

48.4%
19.1%
10.8%
*

34.4%
26.3%
13.3%
12.2%

* Represents less than 10% of total revenue.
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The loss of a principal client and/or changes in timing or termination of a principal client’s product launch or service offering would have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s business, revenues, operating results, and financial condition. To limit the Company’s credit risk, management performs
ongoing credit evaluations of its clients. Although the Company is directly impacted by economic conditions in which its clients operate, management does
not believe substantial credit risk existed as of December 31, 2002.
17. Quarterly Data (Unaudited)
2001 Quarters Ended
June 30
September 30

March 31

Revenues
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Operating profit
Loss on impaired investments
Net income
Earnings per share:
Basic
Diluted

$

$
$
$

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

Revenues
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses(a)
Operating profit(a)

$

32,432 $
8,750
5,802
2,948
(3,040)
993 $
0.07
0.07

$
$

42,342
10,377
6,211
4,166
—
3,587

$

0.26
0.25

$

$

$

64,909
15,649
7,815
7,834
(12,412)
(2,384)

$
$

0.19
0.19

$
$

(0.17)
(0.17)

14,034,015
14,064,808

14,035,404
14,115,537

March 31

2002 Quarters Ended
June 30
September 30

45,960
11,169
5,217
5,952

$

43,350
11,124
5,089
6,035

December 31

42,893
10,178
6,110
4,068
—
2,675

14,061,337
14,338,413

$

52,095
13,079
5,834
7,245

14,082,561
14,152,799
December 31

$

66,458
15,483
6,429
9,054

Loss on impaired investments
Net income

$

—
4,020

$

—
3,976

$

—
4,506

$

(6,210)
2,664

Earnings per share:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

0.29
0.28

$
$

0.28
0.28

$
$

0.32
0.31

$
$

0.19
0.18

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

14,086,561
14,269,254

14,118,729
14,410,318

14,168,463
14,396,454

14,147,888
14,418,078

(a) Certain amounts have been reclassified in the first and second quarters of 2002 to conform with annual presentation.
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STARTEK, INC.
INDEX OF EXHIBITS
Exhibits

3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
4.1
10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5

10.6

10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10
10.11
10.12
10.13

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference from Form S-1 Registration Statement filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on January 29, 1997).
Restated Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference from Form S-1 Registration Statement filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on January 29, 1997).
Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of StarTek, Inc. filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on May 21, 1999
(incorporated by reference from Form 10-K Annual Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 8, 2000).
Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of StarTek, Inc. filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on May 23, 2000
(incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q Quarterly Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 14, 2000).
Specimen Common Stock certificate (incorporated by reference from Amendment No. 1 to Form S-1 Registration Statement filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 7, 1997).
StarTek, Inc. Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference from Amendment No. 1 to Form S-1 Registration Statement filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 7, 1997).
Form of Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference from Amendment No. 1 to Form S-1 Registration Statement filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 7, 1997).
StarTek, Inc. Director Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference from Form S-1 Registration Statement filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on January 29, 1997).
Lease by and between East Mercia Developments Limited and StarTek Europe, Ltd. and StarTek USA Inc. (formerly named StarPak
International, Ltd. and StarPak, Inc., respectively) (incorporated by reference from Form S-1 Registration Statement filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on January 29, 1997).
HP Purchase Agreement dated September 1, 1995 by and between Hewlett-Packard Company, StarTek USA, Inc. and StarTek Europe, Ltd.
(formerly named StarPak, Inc. and StarPak International, Ltd., respectively) (incorporated by reference from Amendment No. 3 to Form
S-1 Registration Statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 26, 1997). Portions of this exhibit have been
excluded from the publicly available document, and the Securities and Exchange Commission has issued an order granting the
Company's request for confidential treatment of the excluded information.
Microsoft Supply, Manufacturing and Services Agreement dated March 28, 1996 by and between Microsoft Corporation and StarTek USA,
Inc. (formerly named StarPak, Inc.). (incorporated by reference from Amendment No. 3 to Form S-1 Registration Statement filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 26, 1997). Portions of this exhibit have been excluded from the publicly available
document, and the Securities and Exchange Commission has issued an order granting the Company's request for confidential treatment
of the excluded information.
Equipment Lease (Schedule No. 01) between Varilease Corporation, as Lessor, and StarTek USA, Inc. (formerly StarPak, Inc.), as Lessee,
dated March 7, 1997 (incorporated by reference from Amendment No. 4 to Form S-1 Registration Statement filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on May 23, 1997).
Equipment Lease (Schedule No. 2) between Varilease Corporation, as Lessor, and StarTek USA, Inc. (formerly StarPak, Inc.), as Lessee,
dated April 15th, 1997 (incorporated by reference from Amendment No. 4 to Form S-1 Registration Statement filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on May 23, 1997).
Loan Agreement, dated November 6, 1997, between StarTek, Inc. (the “Borrower”) and Norwest Bank Colorado, National Association (the
“Bank”) and 360 Day Promissory Note dated November 6, 1997, payable by the Borrower to the Bank (incorporated by reference from
Form 10-Q Quarterly Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 13, 1997).
Amendment dated September 30, 1997 to HP Purchase Agreement dated September 1, 1995 by and between Hewlett-Packard Company,
StarTek USA, Inc. and StarTek Europe, Ltd. (formerly named StarPak, Inc. and StarPak International, Ltd., respectively) (incorporated
by reference from Form 10-Q Quarterly Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 13, 1997).
Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner (StarTek USA, Inc.) and Contractor (Landmark Builders of Greeley, Inc.) dated December 1,
1997 (incorporated by reference from Form 10-K Annual Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 31,
1998).
HP Master Agreement Technical Support Services dated January 7, 1998 by and between Hewlett Packard Company and StarTek USA, Inc.
(incorporated by reference from Form 10-K Annual Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 31, 1998).
Facility lease agreement dated as of July 8, 1998 between StarTek USA, Inc. (a wholly-owned
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subsidiary of the Company) and the Industrial Development Board of the County of Montgomery, Tennessee and Industrial
Development Revenue Note, Series A dated as of July 8, 1998 and issued by the Industrial Development Board of the County of

10.14

10.15

10.16
10.17
10.18

10.19
10.20
10.21
10.22
10.23

10.24

10.25
10.26
10.27
10.28

Montgomery, Tennessee (incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q Quarterly Report filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on August 14, 1998).
Microsoft Corporation Manufacturing Agreement between StarTek, Inc. and Microsoft Corporationdated as of January 1, 1998 (incorporated
by reference from Form 10-Q Quarterly Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 13, 1998). Portions of
this exhibit have been excluded from the publicly available document, and the Securities and Exchange Commission has issued an order
granting the Company's request for confidential treatment of the excluded information.
Equipment lease agreement dated as of July 8, 1998 between StarTek USA, Inc. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and the
Industrial Development Board of the County of Montgomery, Tennessee and Industrial Development Revenue Note, Series B dated as of
July 8, 1998 and issued by the Industrial Development Board of the County of Montgomery, Tennessee (incorporated by reference from
Form 10-K Annual Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 31, 1999).
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated March 15, 1999, between StarTek, Inc. and Norwest Bank Colorado, National Association,
Denver, Colorado (incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q Quarterly Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
May 15, 1999).
Lease by and between StarTek Europe, Ltd., as Lessee, and Spencer Holdings Plc., as Lessor, dated May 27, 1999 (incorporated by reference
from Form 10-Q Quarterly Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 16, 1999).
Promissory Note of StarTek USA, Inc. dated October 26, 1998 in the principal amount of $3,629,367.67 payable to the order of Norwest
Equipment Finance, Inc., Security Agreement dated October 26, 1998 by and between StarTek USA, Inc. and Norwest Equipment
Finance, Inc., and Security Agreement dated October 26, 1998 by and between StarTek USA, Inc. and Norwest Equipment Finance, Inc.
(incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q Quarterly Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 15,
1999).
Contribution Agreement dated September 15, 1999 among Good Catalog Company, The Reader’s Digest Association, Inc., and Domain.com,
Inc. (incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q Quarterly Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 15,
1999).
Stockholders Agreement dated September 15, 1999 by and among Good Catalog Company, The Reader’sDigest Association, Inc., and
Domain.com, Inc. (incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q Quarterly Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 15, 1999).
Loan Agreement dated November 1, 1999 with respect to loans to be extended by The Reader’s Digest Association, Inc. and Domain.com,
Inc. to Good Catalog Company (incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q Quarterly Report filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on November 15, 1999).
Promissory Note of Good Catalog Company dated November 1, 1999 in the principal amount of $7,816,875.00 payable to the order of
Domain.com, Inc. (incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q Quarterly Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 15, 1999).
Promissory Note of StarTek USA, Inc. dated October 22, 1999 in the principal amount of $2,030,565.67 payable to the order of KeyCorp
Leasing, a division of Key Corporate Capital, Inc., Security Agreementdated October 13, 1999 by and between StarTek USA, Inc. and
KeyCorp Leasing, and Amendment No. 1 to Security Agreement dated October 13, 1999 (incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q
Quarterly Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 15, 1999).
Microsoft Corporation Manufacturing and Supply and Services Agreement between StarTek, Inc. and Microsoft Corporation dated as of July
1, 1999 (incorporated by reference from Form 10-K Annual Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 8,
2000). Portions of this exhibit have been excluded from the publicly available document, and the Securities and Exchange Commission
has issued an order granting the Company's request for confidential treatment of the excluded information.
Microsoft Ireland Operations Limited Manufacturing Agreement between StarTek Europe, Ltd. And Microsoft Ireland Operations Limited
dated as of February 1, 1999 (incorporated by reference from Form 10-K Annual Report filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 8, 2000).
StarTek Pacific, Ltd. Manufacturing Agreement dated as of January 1, 1998 (incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q Quarterly Report
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 14, 2000).
StarTek Pacific, Ltd. Supplemental Manufacturing Agreement dated as of January 1, 1998 (incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q
Quarterly Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 14, 2000).
Promissory Note of StarTek USA, Inc. dated December 19, 2000 in the principal amount of $2,145,000.00 payable to the order of KeyCorp
Leasing, a division of Key Corporate Capital, Inc., Security Agreement dated December 14, 2000 by and between StarTek USA, Inc. and
KeyCorp Leasing, and Amendment No. 1 to Security Agreement dated December 14, 2000 (incorporated by reference from Form 10-K
Annual Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
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10.31
10.32
10.33
10.34
10.35
10.36

March 29, 2001).
Employment agreement dated as of January 1, 2001 between StarTek, Inc. and Michael W. Morgan (incorporated by reference from Form
10-K Annual Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 29, 2001)
Amendment dated April 23, 2001 to the StarTek, Pacific, Inc. Manufacturing agreement dated January 1, 1998 between StarTek Pacific, Ltd.
and Mentor Media Ltd. (incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q Quarterly Report filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on May 14, 2001). Portions of this exhibit have been excluded from the publicly available document, and the Securities and
Exchange Commission has issued an order granting the Company's request for confidential treatment of the excluded information.
Assignment and Amendment dated January 1, 2001 to the Microsoft Corporation Manufacturing Agreement dated January 1, 1998 between
Microsoft Corporation and StarTek, Inc. (incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q Quarterly Report filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on May 14, 2001).
Credit Agreement and $10,000,000 Revolving Line of Credit Note dated April 30, 2001 between StarTek, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank West,
National Association (incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q Quarterly Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on May 14, 2001).
Employment Agreement dated as of May 2001 between StarTek, Inc. and William E. Meade (incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q
Quarterly Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 14, 2001).
Facility lease agreement dated July 25, 2001 between OGT Holdings Ltd. and StarTek Canada Services, Ltd. and StarTek USA, Inc.
(incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q Quarterly Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 14, 2001).
Facility Sublease dated July 1, 2001 between The Business Depot Ltd. and StarTek Canada Services, Ltd. (incorporated by reference from
Form 10-Q Quarterly Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 14, 2001).
VoiceStream Wireless Corporation Services (wholly owned subsidiary of Deutsche Telekom, AG) Agreement between StarTek USA, Inc.
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10.43
* 10.44
* 10.45

and VoiceStream Wireless Corporation dated June 8, 2001(incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q Quarterly Report filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on November 14, 2001). Portions of this exhibit have been excluded from the publicly available
document, and the Securities and Exchange Commission has issued an order granting the Company's request for confidential treatment of
the excluded information.
Microsoft Corporation Manufacturing and Supply and Services Agreement between StarTek, Inc. and Microsoft Corporation dated July 1,
2001 (incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q Quarterly Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November
14, 2001). Portions of this exhibit have been excluded from the publicly available document, and the Securities and Exchange Commission
has issued an order granting the Company's request for confidential treatment of the excluded information.
Gifts.com, Inc. Amended, Restated and Consolidated Subordinate Loan Agreement between Reader’s Digest Association, Inc., Domain.com,
Inc. and Gifts.com, Inc. dated September 30, 2001 (incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q Quarterly Report filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on November 14, 2001).
Promissory Note of StarTek Canada Services, Ltd. Dated November 2, 2001 in the principal amount of $9,948,624 (CAD) payable to Key
Equipment Finance Canada Limited and Security Agreement dated November 2, 2001 by and between StarTek Canada Services, Ltd.
and Key Equipment Finance Canada Limited (incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q Quarterly Report filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on November 14, 2001).
Promissory Note of StarTek Canada Services, Ltd. Dated December 20, 2001 in the principal amount of $1,107,892 (CAD) payable to Key
Equipment Finance Canada Services, Ltd. and Security Agreement dated December 6, 2001 by and between StarTek Canada Services,
Ltd. and Key Equipment Finance Canada Limited (incorporated by reference from Form 10-K Annual Report filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on March 29, 2002).
AT&T General Agreement dated January 1, 2002 between StarTek, Inc. and AT&T Corp. (incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q
Quarterly Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 15, 2002). Portions of this exhibit have been excluded
from the publicly available document, and the Securities and Exchange Commission has issued an order granting the Company's request
for confidential treatment of the excluded information.
Amended and Restated Services Agreement dated April 1, 2002 between StarTek USA, Inc., and VoiceStream Wireless Corporation
(incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q Quarterly Report filed with the Security and Exchange Commission on November 12,
2002). Portions of this exhibit have been excluded from the publicly available document, and the Securities and Exchange Commission
has issued an order granting the Company's request for confidential treatment of the excluded information.
Provider Master Service Agreement dated March 21, 2002 between StarTek USA, Inc., and AT&T Wireless Services, Inc. (incorporated by
reference from Form 10-Q Quarterly Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 12, 2002).
Facility lease agreement dated February 14, 2003 between Cornwall Centre Limited and StarTek Canada Services Ltd.
Facility lease agreement dated February 24, 2003 between Cardwell Companies Inc. and StarTek USA, Inc.
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Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
Consent of Independent Auditors dated March 27, 2003.
Certification of Periodic Report by William E. Meade, Jr.
Certification of Periodic Report by David I. Rosenthal

* Filed with this Form 10-K
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has dulycaused this Form 10-K to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
STARTEK, INC.
(Registrant)
By: /s/ David I. Rosenthal
David I. Rosenthal
Executive Vice President, Chief
Financial Officer, Secretary, and Treasurer
Date: March 26, 2003
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Form 10-K has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
/s/ William E. Meade, Jr.
William E. Meade, Jr.
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)
Date: March 26, 2003
/s/ David I. Rosenthal
David I. Rosenthal
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Secretary,
and Treasurer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
Date: March 26, 2003

/s/ A. Emmet Stephenson, Jr.
A. Emmet Stephenson, Jr.
Chairman of the Board
Date: March 26, 2003
/s/ Michael W. Morgan
Michael W. Morgan
Vice-Chairman of the Board
Date: March 26, 2003
/s/ Ed Zschau
Ed Zschau
Director
Date: March 26, 2003
/s/ Jack D. Rehm
Jack D. Rehm
Director
Date: March 26, 2003
/s/ Hank Brown
Hank Brown
Director
Date: March 26, 2003
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CERTIFICATION
I, William E. Meade Jr., certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of StarTek, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:

5.

6.

a.

designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b.

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual
report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

c.

presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of
the Evaluation Date;

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
a.

all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b.

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls;
and

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not there were significant changes in internal controls or in
other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with
regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Date: March 26, 2003
By: /s/ WILLIAM E. MEADE, JR.
William E. Meade, Jr.
President, Chief Executive Officer, and
Director
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CERTIFICATION
I, David I. Rosenthal, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of StarTek, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:

5.

6.

a.

designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b.

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual
report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

c.

presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of
the Evaluation Date;

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
a.

all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b.

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls;
and

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not there were significant changes in internal controls or in
other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with
regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Date: March 26, 2003
By: /s/ DAVID I. ROSENTHAL
David I. Rosenthal
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer, Secretary and Treasurer
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Exhibit 10.44
StarTek
Lease Summary
Regina, Saskatchewan
Project:

Cornwall Centre

Landlord:

Cornwall Centre Limited, c/o The Cadillac Fairview Corporation Limited, 20 Queen Street West, Toronto, Ontario M5H
3R4

Tenant:

StarTek Canada Services, Ltd.

Premises:

3r Floor, 61,988 SF

Term:

10 years commencing 8/1/03, ending 7/31/2013

Rent:

8/03 - 7/31/08: $69,736.50/mo. *
8/08 - 7/31/13: $74,902.I7/mo. *
Tenant shall not pay rent from occupancy through 7/31/03

Operating Expenses:

8/03 - 10/04: $.70/sf* with CPI adjustments thereafter. Tenant to reimburse Landlord for costs to maintain chillers, roof
top units, boilers and elevator

Taxes:

Tenant shall not pay property taxes for years 1-5

Utilities/Janitorial

Paid direct by Tenant

Security Deposit:

$69,624* against first month’s rent

Landlord Services:

HVAC, elevator, electrical, gas, water service

Tenant Services:

Maintain lobby vestibule of elevator, janitorial service

Alterations:

Landlord approval not required if less than $20,000, however, Tenant shall notify Landlord. No overhead to be charged
for work using Landlord contractor

Restoration:

None

Sublease/Assignment:

No Landlord approval for sublease/consent to an affiliate, but notice required. Landlord shall have the right to recapture.
Profits, net of costs, split evenly with Landlord

Holdover:

125% for first three (3) months, 150% thereafter

Parking:

225 covered spaces, free for term

Competition:

Landlord shall not lease space to a Competitor as long as Tenant occupies 80% of Premises

Option to Renew:

Two (2), three (3) year options at market with twelve (12) month notice

Tenant Improvement
Allowance:

$14.00/sf* paid upon occupancy

Building Sign:

Canopy identification over 11th Avenue entry

Tenant Base Building
Contribution:

Tenant to contribute $150,000* toward cost of chillers

Indemnification:

StarTek, Inc. guarantees Lease

* Canadian Dollars

CORNWALL CENTRE
Regina, Saskatchewan
OFFICE LEASE
CORNWALL CENTRE LIMITED
(Landlord)
and
STARTEK CANADA SERVICES LTD.
(Tenant)

CORNWALL CENTRE
OFFICE LEASE
TABLE OF CONTENTS
ARTICLE I - PREMISES, TERM AND USE
Section 1.01 Grant and Premises
Section 1.02 Term
Section 1.03 Construction of Premises
Section 1.04 Use and Conduct of Business
ARTICLE II - RENT
Section 2.01 Covenant to Pay
Section 2.02 Net Rent
Section 2.03 Payment of Operating Costs
Section 2.04 Payment of Taxes
Section 2.05 Payment of Estimated Taxes and Operating Costs and Premises Maintenance Costs
Section 2.06 Additional Rent
Section 2.07 Rent Past Due
Section 2.08 Utilities and Janitorial Services
Section 2.09 Adjustment of Areas - Intentionally Deleted
Section 2.10 Net Lease
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THIS LEASE is dated is dated the 14th day of February, 2003, and is made
BETWEEN:

CORNWALL CENTRE LIMITED
(the “Landlord”)
OF THE FIRST PART
- and STARTEK CANADA SERVICES LTD.
(the “Tenant”)
OF THE SECOND PART
ARTICLE I - PREMISES, TERM AND USE
Section 1.01 Grant and Premises
In consideration of the performance by the Tenant of its obligations under this Lease, the Landlord leases the Premises to the Tenant for the Term. The
Premises are located on the third (3rd) floor of the Building and are shown cross hatched in red on the floor plan attached as Schedule “B”. The Rentable Area
of the Premises is approximately sixty one thousand nine hundred and eighty-eight (61,988) square feet (5,758.68 square metres).
Section 1.02 Term
The Term of this Lease is ten (10) years, from the 1st day of August, 2003 to 31st day of July, 2013.
Section 1.03 Construction of Premises
The Tenant shall abide by the provisions of the tenant leasehold improvement manual supplied by the Landlord for any construction it proposes to do prior to
or upon occupancy of the Premises, and any renovations to the Premises after it takes occupancy.
Section 1.04 Use and Conduct of Business
The Premises shall be used only for general office use for the purposes of a call center and for no other purpose. The Tenant shall conduct its business in the
Premises in a reputable and first class manner.
ARTICLE II - RENT
Section 2.01 Covenant to Pay
(a)

Except as may be provided in Section 2.02, the Tenant shall pay Rent from the Commencement Date without prior demand and without any
deduction, abatement, setoff or compensation. If the Commencement Date is not on the first day of a calendar month, or the period of time from the
Commencement Date to the end of the first Fiscal Year during the Term is less than 12 calendar months, or the period of time from the last Fiscal
Year end during the Term to the end of the Term is less than 12 calendar months, then Rent for such month and such periods shall be pro-rated on a
per diem basis, based upon a period of 365 days.

(b)

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default the Tenant will immediately deliver to the Landlord on each Fiscal Year end thereafter and throughout
the Term, a series of monthly post- dated cheques for the next ensuing twelve month period, for the total of the monthly payments of Net Rent and
any Additional Rent estimated by the Landlord in advance.

Section 2.02 Net Rent
The Tenant shall pay Net Rent as follows:
(i)

during the period from and including the 1st day of August, 2003 to and including the 31st day of July, 2008, the annual sum of EIGHT
HUNDRED THIRTY SIX THOUSAND EIGHT HUNDRED AND THIRTY-EIGHT DOLLARS ($836,838.00) payable in equal consecutive
monthly installments of SIXTY NINE THOUSAND SEVEN HUNDRED THIRTY-SIX DOLLARS AND FIFTY CENTS ($69,736.50) each in
advance on the first day of each calendar month during the aforesaid period, based upon an annual rate of THIRTEEN DOLLARS AND FIFTY
CENTS ($13.50) per square foot ($145.32 per square metre) of the Rentable Area of the Premises; and,

(ii)

during the period from and including the 1st day of August, 2008 to and including the 31st day of July, 2013, the annual sum of EIGHT
HUNDRED NINETY EIGHT THOUSAND EIGHT HUNDRED AND TWENTY-SIX DOLLARS ($898,826.00) payable in equal consecutive
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monthly instalments of SEVENTY FOUR THOUSAND NINE HUNDRED TWO DOLLARS AND SEVENTEEN CENTS ($74,902.17) each in
advance on the first day of each calendar month during the aforesaid period, based upon an annual rate of FOURTEEN DOLLARS AND FIFTY
CENTS ($14.50) per square foot ($156.08 per square meter) of the Rentable Area of the Premises.
As soon as reasonably possible after completion of construction of the Premises, the Landlord shall engage an architect or space planner of its choice to
measure the Net Rentable Area of the Premises and shall calculate the Rentable Area of the Premises and Rent shall be adjusted accordingly. It is confirmed
that the standard of measurement shall be the current BOMA. The Tenant shall be entitled, at its sole cost to review the final measurement calculation.
Section 2.03 Payment of Operating Costs

Notwithstanding anything to contrary contained in this Lease, the Tenant’s Share of the costs of operating, maintaining, repairing, replacing and administering
the Lands and Building (excluding the Premises and the systems and elevators provided solely for the Premises) from the Commencement Date to October
31, 2004, shall be an amount equal to the product of the Rentable Area of the Premises multiplied by Seventy Cents ($0.70). After the Fiscal Year ending
October 31, 2004, the Tenant’s Share shall be increased at the beginning of each Fiscal Year and shall be equal to the amount payable by the Tenant for the
preceding Fiscal Year increased by the percentage increase, if any, in the C.P.I. between the first month of the preceding Fiscal Year and the first month of the
Fiscal Year for which the calculation is being done. In addition, the Tenant shall reimburse the Landlord, in accordance with Section 2.05, for all maintenance,
operation, repairs and replacements to the chillers, roof top units, boilers and elevator serving only the Premises (the “Premises Maintenance Costs”).
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Tenant will not be required to replace an entire chiller, roof top unit, boiler or elevator if such replacement is required
during the last year of the Term.
Section 2.04 Payment of Taxes
(a)

The Tenant shall pay when due all Business Tax. If the Tenant’s Business Tax is payable by the Landlord to the relevant taxing authority, the Tenant
shall pay the amount thereof to the Landlord or as it directs. If no separate tax bills for Business Tax are issued with respect to the Tenant or the
Premises, the Landlord may allocate Business Tax charged, assessed or levied against the Building or the Lands to the Tenant on the basis of the
Tenant’s Proportionate Share. The parties acknowledge that If Business Taxe are have been eliminated by the Province of Saskatchewan orand the
City of Regina, and the foregoing shall only apply upon the re- introduction of Business Taxes. Taxes are increased the Tenant will pay an equitable
share of Taxes attributable to the premises to the extent, (and only to the extent) that Taxes attributable to the Premises are increased as a
consequence of the elimination of Business Taxes.

(b)

The Landlord shall allocate Taxes between the Total Rentable Area of the Building and other components of the Development on such bases as the
Landlord, acting equitably, determines from time to time. The Tenant shall not be required to pay any Taxes which are abated as a result of the
Tenant’s occupancy of the Premises.
With respect to any Taxes which are not abated, the Tenant shall pay from the Commencement Date to the expiration of the Term for all Taxes
imposed in respect of the Premises and the Lands attributable to the Premises as calculated by the Landlord in accordance with the following
paragraphs.
For the purposes of establishing the amount of Taxes payable by the Tenant pursuant to this Section 2.04(b), the parties recognize and acknowledge
that it is necessary to establish the assessments upon which such Taxes are based.
The Landlord, with the assistance of the Tenant, shall use its best efforts to obtain the separate assessment upon which such Taxes are based with
respect to the Premises and the Land attributable to the Premises. If such cannot be obtained, the Landlord shall use its best efforts to obtain, with the
assistance of the Tenant, sufficient official information to determine the methodology utilized by the assessing authority with respect to the
determination of the assessment for Taxes of the Premises and the Lands attributable to the Premises. Upon the determination of the methodology of
assessment, similar methodology shall be utilized by the Landlord to allocate the Taxes payable by the Tenant pursuant to this Section 2.04(b) with
respect to the Premises and the Land attributable to the Premises. The parties acknowledge that as at the date of this Lease a separate notice of
assessment is not provided by the assessing authority for the Premises, but that an assessment can be determined for the Premises and the land
assessment attributable to the Development based on the assessment authority’s working papers. The land assessment so determined for the
Development shall be further allocated to the Premises based on a proportionate share being the proportion that the Rentable Area of the Premises
bears to the total Rentable Area of the Building and shopping centre (excluding the parkade) located on Block B-1 of the Development. In the event
that such official information is not available, the Landlord shall allocate the total assessment of the Development in a manner which is equitable and
consistent, having regard to the primary
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method of assessment which the assessing authorities are required to employ so as to arrive at a separate assessment upon which such Taxes are
based in accordance with the applicable assessment legislation.
If other taxes are imposed against the Development on a basis other than an assessor’s valuation, the tenant will pay a share, equitably allocated to
the Premises and Lands attributable to the Premises based on the methodology used by the taxing authority. Where the methodology of the taxing
authority is not available, the Tenant will pay its proportionate share being the proportion that the Rentable Area of the Premises bears to the total
Rentable Area of the Development.
c)

(The Tenant shall pay to the Landlord its Proportional Sshare of the Taxes allocated by the landlord to the Premises and the Lands attributable to the
Premises as set out in Section 2.04 (b) above. Total Rentable area of the Building by the Landlord. After deducting from those Taxes amounts paid
in respect of those Taxes by Major Tenants.

(d)

If the Landlord obtains a written statement from the assessment or taxing authorities indicating that as a result of any construction or installation of
improvements in the Premises, or any act or election of the Tenant, the Taxes payable by the Tenant under subsection 2.05(b) do not accurately
reflect the Tenant’s proper share of Taxes, the Landlord may require the Tenant to pay such greater or lesser amount as is determined by the
Landlord, acting reasonably.

(e)

The Landlord may: contest any Taxes and appeal any assessments with respect thereto; withdraw any such contest or appeal; and agree with the
taxing authorities on any settlement or compromise with respect to Taxes. The Tenant will co-operate with the Landlord in respect of any such
contest or appeal and will provide the Landlord with all relevant information, documents and consents required by the Landlord in connection with
any such contest or appeal. The Tenant will not contest any Taxes or appeal any assessments related thereto without the Landlord’s prior written
consent.

(f)

The Tenant shall promptly deliver to the Landlord on request, copies of assessment notices, tax bills and other documents received by the Tenant
relating to Taxes and Business Tax and receipts for payment of Taxes and Business Tax payable by the Tenant.

(g)

The Tenant shall on demand, pay to the Landlord or to the appropriate taxing authority if required by the Landlord, all goods and services taxes,
sales taxes, value added taxes, business transfer taxes, or any other taxes imposed on the Landlord with respect to Rent or in respect of the rental of

space under this Lease, whether characterized as a goods and services tax, sales tax, value added tax, business transfer tax or otherwise. The
Landlord shall have the same remedies and rights with respect to the payment or recovery of such taxes as it has for the payment or recovery of Rent
under this Lease.
Section 2.05 Payment of Estimated Taxes and Operating Costs and Premises Maintenance Costs
(a)

The amount of Taxes and Premises Maintenance Costs and Operating Costs may be estimated by the Landlord for such period (not to exceed
twelve months) as the LandLord determines from time to time, and the Tenant agrees to pay to the Landlord the amounts so estimated in equal
instalments, in advance, on the first day of each month during such period. Such estimates shall be reasonable and upon request of the Tenant the
Landlord shall provide its rationale for such estimate. Notwithstanding the foregoing, when bills for all or any portion of the amounts so
estimated are received, the Landlord may bill the Tenant for the Tenant’s Proportionate S share thereof (or the amount determined under Section
2.04(d)) after crediting against such amounts any monthly payments of estimated Taxes and Operating Costs and Premises Maintenance Costs
previously made by the Tenant and the Tenant shall pay the Landlord the amounts so billed. Taxes will be pro-rated for any partial tax year in the
Term.

(b)

Within a reasonable time after the end of the period for which such estimated payments have been made, the Landlord shall submit to the Tenant a
statement showing the calculation of the Tenant’s share of Taxes and Operating Costs together with a report from the Landlord’s auditor as to the
total amount of Operating Costs. If: (i) the amount the Tenant has paid is less than the amounts due, the Tenant shall pay such deficiency to the
Landlord; or (it) the amount paid by the Tenant is greater than the amounts due, the Landlord shall pay such excess to the Tenant.
The obligations contained in this subsection shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of the Term. Failure of the Landlord to render any
statement of Taxes and Operating Costs shall not prejudice the Landlord’s right to render such statement thereafter or with respect to any other
period. The rendering of any such statement shall also not affect the Landlord’s right to subsequently render an amended or corrected statement.

Section 2.06 Additional Rent
Except as otherwise provided in this Lease, all Additional Rent shall be payable by the Tenant to the Landlord within 15 business days after demand.
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Section 2.07 Rent Past Due
All Rent past due shall bear interest from the date on which the same became due until the date of payment at 3% per annum in excess of the prime interest
rate for Canadian Dollar demand loans announced from time to time by any Canadian chartered bank designated by the Landlord.
Section 2.08 Utilities and Janitorial Services
(a)

The Tenant shall pay to the Landlord, or as the Landlord directs, all gas, electricity, water, steam and other utility charges applicable to the Premises
directly to the utility supplier where direct billing is available and-shall otherwise pay the Landlord as the Landlord directs on the basis of sub-meters
the Rentable Area of the Premises. Charges for utilities which are payable to the Landlord shall be payable in advance on the first day of each
month at a basic rate determined by the Landlord’s engineers. The Landlord shall be entitled to allocate to the Premises an additional charge, as
determined by the Landlord’s engineer, for any supply of utilities to the Premises in excess of those covered by such basic charge. If any utility rates
or related taxes or charges are increased or decreased during the Term, such charges shall be equitably adjusted and the decision of the Landlord,
acting reasonably, shall be final and binding with respect to any such adjustment.

(b)

The LandlordTenant shall at its sole cost have the exclusive right to replace bulbs, tubes and ballasts in the lighting system in the Premises, on either
an individual or a group basis. The tenant shall pay the cost of such replacement on the first day of each month or at the option of the Landlord upon
demand.

(c)

The Tenant Landlord shall pay the cost of installing, inspecting, verifying, maintaining and repairing any meters or metering system installed at the
request of the Landlord or the Tenant to measure the usage of utilities in the Premises. Where a base building metering system has been installed in
the Building, the Landlord will provide, at the Tenant’s expense, all necessary components and programming to connect the Premises to the
Landlord’s metering system.

(d)

The Tenant shall, at its cost, provide cleaning services in the Premises which shall be to a standard as determined by the Landlord, acting reasonably
and which is suitable to the Building and Development and the mix of uses therein.

Section 2.09 Adjustment of Areas - Intentionally Deleted
Section 2.10 Net Lease
This Lease is a completely net lease to the Landlord, except as expressly herein set out. The Landlord is not responsible for any expenses or outlays of any
nature arising from or relating to the Premises, or the use or occupancy thereof, or the contents thereof or the business carried on therein. Except as otherwise
provided in this Lease, the Tenant shall pay all charges, impositions and outlays of every nature and kind relating to the Premises except as expressly herein
set out.
Section 2.11 Deposit
Upon execution and return of this Lease, the Tenant covenants and agrees to provide the Landlord with a deposit cheque in the amount of $69,624.00 to be
applied without interest against the first months Rent due under this Lease.
Section 2.12 Electronic Funds Transfer

At the Landlord’s request, the Tenant will participate in an electronic funds transfer (“EFT”) system or similar system whereby the Tenant will authorize its
bank, trust company, credit union or other financial institution to credit the Landlord’s bank account each month in an amount equal to the Net Rent and
Additional Rent payable on a monthly basis pursuant to the provisions of this Lease.
ARTICLE III - CONTROL OF BUILDING
Section 3.01 Landlord’s Services
(a)
The Landlord shall provide climate control, at Tenant’s expense, to the Premises during the operating hours of the Tenant Normal Business Hours
to maintain a temperature adequate for normal occupancy, except during the making of repairs, alterations or improvements, provided that the
Landlord shall have no liability for failure to supply climate control service when stopped as aforesaid or when prevented from doing so by repairs,
or causes beyond the Landlord’s reasonable control. Any rebalancing of the climate control system in the Premises necessitated by the installation of
partitions, equipment or fixtures by the Tenant or by any use of the Premises not in accordance with the design standards of such system will be
performed by the Landlord at the Tenant’s expense. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Landlord agrees to use reasonable efforts to schedule repairs
and maintenance of the mechanical systems outside of the Tenant’s operating hours and to expedite to the extent possible any repairs which affect the
use of the Premises by the Tenant.
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(b)

Subject to the Rules and Regulations, the Landlord shall provide elevator service during Normal Business Hours the operating hours of the
Tenant, as determined by the Tenant in its discretion, for use by the Tenant in common with others, except when prevented by repairs.

(c)

The landlord will Provide cleaning services in the Building consistent with the standards of a first class office building.

(d)

Subject to Section 2.08, and in accordance with Section 11.25, the Landlord shall make available to the Premises electricity for normal lighting and
miscellaneous power requirements and, in normal quantities gas, water, and other public utilities generally made available to other tenants of the
Building by the Landlord.

Section 3.02 Alterations by Landlord
The Landlord may: (a) alter, add to, subtract from, construct improvements to, rearrange, build additional storeys on and construct additional facilities
adjoining or near the Development; (b relocate the facilities and improvements comprising the Building or erected on the Lands, or relocate, alter or rearrange
the Premises, provided that the premises as relocated, altered, or rearranged shall be in all material aspects comparable to the Premises as herein defined;
(c) do such things on, or in the Lands or Development as are required to comply with any laws, by-laws, regulations, orders or directives affecting the Lands
or any part of the Development; and (d) do such other things on or in the Lands or Development as the Landlord, in the use of good business judgment
determines to be advisable; provided that notwithstanding anything contained in this Section, access to the Premises shall at all times be available from the
elevator lobby of the Building and from the adjacent parkade.
The Landlord shall not be in breach of its covenant for quiet enjoyment or liable for any loss, costs or damages, whether direct or indirect, incurred by the
Tenant due to any of the foregoing provided the foregoing does not increase the Tenant’s operating costs nor materially adversely affect the Tenant’s
ability to carry on business in the Premises.
Section 3.03 Riser Telephone Rooms
The parties understand that the Building contains one or more rooms where the fibre optic and telephone equipment for the Building is situated (hereinafter
referred to as the "Riser Telephone Rooms”) and the Tenant agrees that all Riser Telephone Rooms shall be for the sole and exclusive use of the Landlord.
The Tenant shall not use the equipment contained in the Rider Telephone Rooms, install, or instruct the installation of any additional equipment, whether
telephone equipment, fibre optic equipment or otherwise, without first obtaining the Landlord’s written consent to same, which consent shall not may be
unreasonably withheld or but which may be granted upon the imposition of any terms which the Landlord deems fit, acting reasonably excluding the
payment of an additional fee, the amount of which shall be established at the sole discretion of the Landlord.
Section 3.04 Telecommunication Service Providers
The Tenant may utilize a telecommunication service provider of its choice with the Landlord’s prior written consent which the Landlord may withhold in its
discretion acting reasonably, subject to the provisions of this Lease including but not limited to the following:
(a)

the service provider shall execute and deliver the Landlord’s standard form of license agreement which shall include a provision for the Landlord to
received compensation for the use of the space for the service provider’s equipment and materials:

(b)

the Landlord shall incur no expense or liability whatsoever with respect to any aspect of the provision of telecommunication services, including
without limitation, the cost of installation, service, materials, repairs, maintenance, interruption or loss of telecommunication service;

(c)

if such services are being added after the initial construction of the Premises, the Landlord must first reasonably determine that there is
sufficient space in the risers of the Building for the installation of the service provider’s equipment and materials;

(d)

the Tenant shall indemnify and hold harmless the Landlord for all losses, claims, demands, expenses and judgements against the Landlord caused by
or arising out of, either directly or indirectly, any acts or omissions by the service provider or the Tenant or those for whom they are responsible at
law.

(e)

the Tenant shall incorporate in its agreement with its service provider a provision granting the Tenant the right to terminate the service provider
agreement if required to do so by the Landlord and the Landlord shall have the right at any time from time to time during the Term to require the
Tenant at its expense to exercise the termination right and to contract for telecommunication service with a different service provider.

The Tenant shall be responsible for the costs associated with the supply and installation of telephone, computer and other communication equipment and
systems and related wiring within the Premises to the boundary of the Premises for hook up or other integration with telephone and other communication

equipment and systems of a telephone or other communication service provider, which equipment and
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systems of the service provider are located or are to be located in the Building pursuant to the Landlord’s standard form of license agreement.
The Landlord shall supply space in risers in the Building and space on floor(s) of the Building in which the Premises are located, the location of which shall
be designated by the Landlord in its discretion, to telecommunication service providers who have entered into the Landlord’s standard form of license
agreement for the purpose, without any cost or expense to Landlord therefor, of permitting installation in such risers and on such floor(s) of telephone and
other communication services and systems (including data cable patch panels) to the Premises at a point designated by the Landlord.
The Landlord shall have the right to assume control of cables and other telecommunication equipment in the Building and may designate them as part of the
common areas.
ARTICLE IV -ACCESS AND ENTRY
Section 4.01 Right of Examination
The Landlord shall be entitled at all reasonable times (and at any time in case of emergency) to enter the Premises to examine them; to make such repairs,
alterations or improvements in the Premises as the Landlord considers necessary or desirable; to have access to underfloor ducts and access panels to
mechanical shafts; to check, calibrate, adjust and balance controls and other parts of the heating systems; and for any other purpose necessary to enable the
Landlord to perform its obligations or exercise its rights under this Lease. The Tenant shall not obstruct any pipes, conduits or mechanical or electrical
equipment so as to prevent reasonable access thereto. The Landlord shall exercise its rights under this Section, to the extent possible in the circumstances, in
such manner so as to minimize interference with the Tenant’s use and enjoyment of the Premises. The Landlord shall provide prior verbal or written notice
to the Tenant if it requires access for any reason other than routine maintenance or emergency.
Section 4.02 Right to Show Premises
The Landlord and its agents shall have the right to enter the Premises at all reasonable times during Normal Business Hours upon prior verbal or written
notice to, show them to prospective purchasers, or Mortgagees or prospective Mortgagees, and, during the last six months of the Term (or the last six months
of any renewal term if this Lease is renewed), to prospective tenants.
Section 4.03 Entry not Forfeiture
No entry into the Premises or anything done therein by the Landlord pursuant to a right granted by this Lease shall constitute a breach of any covenant for
quiet enjoyment, or (except where expressed by the Landlord in writing) shall constitute a re-entry or forfeiture, or an actual or constructive eviction. The
Tenant shall have no claim for injury, damages or loss suffered as a result of any such entry or thing, except in the case of willful misconduct or gross
negligence by the Landlord in the course of such entry but the Landlord shall in no event be responsible for the acts or negligence of any Persons providing
cleaning services in the Building.
ARTICLE V - MAINTENANCE, REPAIRS AND ALTERATIONS
Section 5.01 Maintenance By Landlord
(a)

The Landlord covenants to keep the following in good repair as a prudent owner: (i) the structure of the Building including exterior walls and roofs;
(ii) the mechanical, electrical and other base building systems; and (iii) the entrance, lobbies (except the lobby for the elevator serving only the
Premises which shall be the Tenant’s responsibility), plazas, stairways, corridors, parking areas and other facilities from time to time provided for
use in common by the Tenant and other tenants of the Building. If such maintenance or repairs are required by law due to the business carried on by
the Tenant, then the full cost of such maintenance and repairs plus a sum equal to 10% of such cost representing the Landlord’s overhead, shall be
paid by the Tenant to the Landlord.

(b)

The Landlord shall not be responsible for any damages caused to the Tenant by reason of failure of any equipment or facilities serving the Building
or delays in the performance of any work for which the Landlord is responsible under this Lease. The Landlord shall have the right to step, interrupt
or reduce any services, systems or utilities provided to, or serving the Building or Premises to perform repairs, alterations or maintenance or to
comply with laws or regulations, or binding requirements of its insurers, or for causes beyond the Landlord’s reasonable control or as a result of the
Landlord exercising its rights under Section 3.02. The Landlord shall not be in breach of its covenant for quiet enjoyment or liable for any loss, costs
or damages, whether direct or indirect, incurred by the Tenant due to any of the foregoing, but the Landlord shall make reasonable efforts to restore
the services, utilities or systems so stopped, interrupted or reduced.

(c)

If within 5 days of receipt of written notice from the Landlord detailing the work required to be done, the Tenant fails to carry out any
maintenance, repairs or work required to be carded out by it under this Lease to the reasonable satisfaction of the Landlord, the Landlord may at its
option carry out such maintenance or repairs without any liability for any resulting damage to the Tenant’s property or business unless arising from
Landlord’s gross negligence or willful
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misconduct. The cost of such work, plus a sum equal to 10% of such cost representing the Landlord’s overhead, shall be paid by the Tenant to the
Landlord.
Section 5.02 Maintenance by Tenant; Compliance with Laws
(a)

The Tenant shall at its sole cost repair and maintain the Premises exclusive of base building mechanical and electrical systems, all to a standard
consistent with a first class office building similar to the Building located in a similar Development with a similar mix of uses as determined by the
Landlord, acting reasonably, with the exception only of those repairs which are the obligation of the Landlord under this Lease, subject to Article

VII. The Landlord may enter the Premises at all reasonable times to view their condition and the Tenant shall maintain and keep the Premises in
good and substantial repair according to notice in writing. At the expiration or earlier termination of the Term, the Tenant shall surrender the
Premises to the Landlord in as good condition and repair as the Tenant is required to maintain the Premises throughout the Term
(b)

The Tenant shall at its cost maintain the washrooms located on the 3rd floor, such maintenance to include, but not be limited to, the daily
cleaning of the washrooms and the replenishment of all necessary supplies.

(c)

The Tenant shall at its cost clean on a daily basis and maintain the elevator lobby area at the street level of the Building.

(d)

The Tenant shall, at its own expense, promptly comply with all laws, by-laws, government orders and with all reasonable requirements or directives
of the Landlord’s insurers affecting the Premises or their use, repair or alteration. The Landlord shall perform the Landlord’s Work in accordance
with all laws, by-laws and codes.

Section 5.03 Approval of Tenant’s Alterations
(a)

No Alterations, which exceed $20,000, shall be made to the Premises without the Landlord’s written approval which shall not be unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed. Any Alterations which do not exceed $20,000 shall be made only upon prior written notice to the Landlord. The
Tenant shall submit to the Landlord details of the proposed work including drawings and specifications prepared by qualified architects or engineers
conforming to good engineering practice. All such Alterations shall be performed: (i) at the sole cost of the Tenant; (ii) by contractors and workmen
approved by the Landlord; (iii) in a good and workmanlike manner; (iv) in accordance with drawings and specifications approved by the Landlord;
(v) in accordance with all applicable legal and insurance requirements; (vi) subject to the reasonable regulations, supervision, control and inspection
of the Landlord; and (vii) subject to such indemnification against liens and expenses as the Landlord reasonably requires. The Landlord’s reasonable
cost of supervising all such work shall be paid by the Tenant unless the Tenant uses one of the Landlord’s approved contractors.

(b)

If the Alterations would affect the structure of the Building or any of the electrical, plumbing, mechanical, heating, ventilating or air conditioning
systems or other base building systems, such work shall at the option of the Landlord be performed by the Landlord at the Tenant’s cost. On
completion of such work, the cost of the work plus a sum equal to 10% of said cost representing the Landlord’s overhead shall be paid to the
Landlord.

(c)

If, after the installation of the initial improvements, the Tenant installs Leasehold Improvements, or makes Alterations which depart from the
Building standard and which restrict access by the Landlord to any Building system, or which restrict the installation of the leasehold improvements
of any other tenant in the Building, then the Tenant shall be responsible for all costs incurred by the Landlord in obtaining access to such Building
system, or in installing such other tenant’s leasehold improvements.

Section 5.04 Repair Where Tenant at Fault
Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Lease, but subject to Section 6.07, if the Building is damaged or destroyed or requires repair, replacement or
alteration as a result of the act or omission of the Tenant, its employees, agents, invitees, licensees, contractors or others for whom it is in law responsible, the
cost of the resulting repairs, replacements or alterations plus a sum equal to 10% of such cost representing the Landlord’s overhead, shall be paid by the
Tenant to the Landlord.
Section 5.05 Removal of Improvements and Fixtures
All Leasehold Improvements (other than Trade Fixtures) shall immediately upon their placement become the Landlord’s property without compensation to
the Tenant. Except as otherwise agreed by the Landlord in writing, no Leasehold Improvements shall be removed from the Premises by the Tenant either
during or at the expiry or sooner termination of the Term except that: (a) the Tenant may, during the Term, in the usual course of its business, remove its Trade
Fixtures, provided that the Tenant is not in default under this Lease; and (b) the Tenant shall, at the expiration or earlier termination of the Term, at its sole
cost, remove its Trade Fixtures (and may, at its sole option, remove the generator, server equipment and stand alone supplemental air units) from the
Premises, failing which, at the option of the Landlord, the Trade Fixtures shall become the property of the Landlord and may be removed from the Premises
and sold or disposed of by the Landlord in such manner as it deems advisable; and (c) subject to the last
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paragraph of this Section 5.05, the Tenant shall, at the expiration or earlier termination of the Term, at its sole cost, either remove such of the Leasehold
Improvements in the Premises as the Landlord shall require to be removed, and restore the Premises to the Landlord’s then current base Building standard to
the extent required by the Landlord, or at the Landlord’s option, pay to the Landlord the estimated cost of such removal and restoration as determined by the
Architect, acting reasonably. If the Landlord requires the Tenant to perform the required work, then: (i) the Tenant shall submit detailed demolition drawings
to the Landlord for its prior approval, and such work shall be completed under the supervision of the Landlord; (ii) the Tenant shall, at its expense, repair any
damage caused to the Building by such removal; and (iii) if the Tenant fails to complete such work within 30 days following the expiry or earlier termination
of the Term, the Tenant shall pay compensation to the Landlord for each day following such 30th day until the completion of such work, at a rate equal to the
per diem Rent payable during the last month preceding the expiry or earlier termination of the Term, which sum is agreed by the parties to be a reasonable
estimate of the damages suffered by the Landlord for the loss of use of the Premises.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Landlord acknowledges and agrees that provided all Leasehold Improvements have been approved by the Landlord, the
Tenant will not be required to remove its Leasehold Improvements from the Premises upon the expiration or earlier termination of the Lease,
Section 5.06 Liens
The Tenant shall promptly pay for all materials supplied and work done in respect of the Premises at the Tenant’s request so as to ensure that no lien is
registered against any portion of the Lands or Building or against the Landlord’s or Tenant’s interest therein. If a lien is registered or filed, the Tenant shall
discharge it at its expense forthwith (which discharge may be obtained by payment into court), failing which the Landlord may at its option discharge the lien
by paying the amount claimed to be due into court or directly to the lien claimant and the amount so paid and all expenses of the Landlord including legal fees
(on a solicitor and client basis) shall be paid by the Tenant to the Landlord.

Section 5.07 Notice by Tenant
The Tenant shall notify the Landlord of any accident, defect, damage or deficiency in any part of the Premises or, if a person in a management position has
actual knowledge of it, the Building which comes to the attention of the Tenant, or its employees or contractors notwithstanding that the Landlord may have
no obligation in respect thereof.
ARTICLE VI - INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY
Section 6.01 Tenant’s Insurance
(a)

The Tenant shall maintain the following insurance throughout the Term at its sole cost:
(i)

“All Risks” (including flood and earthquake) property insurance with deductibles not exceeding 3% of the amount insured, naming the
Landlord, the owners of the Lands and Development and the Mortgagee as insured parties, as their interests may appear, containing a
waiver of any subrogation rights which the Tenant’s insurers may have against the Landlord and against those for whom the Landlord is in
law responsible, and (except with respect to the Tenant’s chattels) incorporating the Mortgagee’s standard mortgage clause. Such insurance
shall insure: (1) property of every kind owned by the Tenant or for which the Tenant is legally liable located on or in the Development
including, without limitation, Leasehold Improvements, in an amount equal to not less than 90% of the full replacement cost thereof,
subject to a stated amount co-insurance clause; and (2) extra expense insurance in such amount as will reimburse the Tenant for loss
attributable to all perils referred to in this paragraph 6.01(a)(i) or resulting from prevention of access to the Premises. However, so long as
the Tenant is STARTEK CANADA SERVICES LTD. and is itself in occupation of and conducting business in the whole of the Premises,
the Tenant shall be entitled to self-insure in respect of flood and earthquake insurance, but shall be deemed for the purposes of this Lease
to have satisfactorily taken out such insurance and to have received all insurance proceeds payable thereunder.

(ii)

Commercial general liability insurance which includes the following coverages: coverage for construction of improvements owners
protective personal injury; occurrence property damage; and employers and blanket contractual liability. Such policies shall contain
inclusive limits of not less than $5,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury for any one or more Persons, or property damage, provide for
cross liability, and name the Landlord as an insured.

(iii)

Tenant’s “all risks” legal liability insurance for the replacement cost cash value of the Premises not exceeding $300,000;

(iv)

Automobile liability insurance on a non-owned form including contractual liability, and on an owner’s form covering all licensed vehicles
operated by or on behalf of the Tenant, which insurance shall have inclusive limits of not less than $1,000,000; and
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(v)
(b)

Any other form of insurance which the Tenant or the Landlord, acting reasonably, or the Mortgagee requires from time to time in form, in
amounts and for risks against which a prudent tenant would insure.

All policies referred to in this Section 6.01 shall: (i) be taken out with insurers reasonably acceptable to the Landlord; (ii) be in a form reasonably
satisfactory to the Landlord; (iii) be non- contributing with, and shall apply only as primary and not as excess to any other insurance available to the
Landlord; (iv) not be invalidated as respects the interests of the Landlord or the Mortgagee by reason of any breach of or violation of any warranty,
representation, declaration or condition; and (v) contain an undertaking by the insurers to notify the Landlord by registered mail not less than 30 days
prior to any material change, cancellation or termination. Certificates of insurance on the Landlord’s standard a form acceptable to the Landlord,
acting reasonably, or, if required by the Landlord, certified copies of such insurance policies, shall be delivered to the Landlord forthwith upon
request. If the Tenant fails to take out or to keep in force any insurance referred to in this Section 6.01 or should any such insurance not be approved
by either the Landlord or the Mortgagee and should the Tenant not commence to diligently rectify (and thereafter proceed to diligently rectify) the
situation within 48 hours after written notice by the Landlord to the Tenant (stating, if the Landlord or the Mortgagee, from time to time, does not
approve of such insurance, the reasons therefor) the Landlord has the right without assuming any obligation in connection therewith, to effect such
insurance at the sole cost of the Tenant and all outlays by the Landlord shall be paid by the Tenant to the Landlord without prejudice to any other
rights or remedies of the Landlord under this Lease.

Section 6.02 Increase in Insurance Premiums
The Tenant shall not keep or use in the Premises any article which may be prohibited by any fire insurance policy in force from time to time covering the
Premises or the Development. If: (a) the conduct of business in, or use or manner of use of the Premises; (b) or any acts or omissions of the Tenant in the
Development or any part thereof; cause or result in any increase in premiums for any insurance carried by the Landlord with respect to the Development, the
Tenant shall pay any such increase in premiums. In determining whether increased premiums are caused by or result from the use or occupancy of the
Premises, a schedule issued by the organization computing the insurance rate on the Development showing the various components of such rate, shall be
conclusive evidence of the items and charges which make up such rate.
Section 6.03 Cancellation of Insurance
If any insurer under any insurance policy covering any part of the Development or any occupant thereof cancels or threatens to cancel its insurance policy or
reduces or threatens to reduce coverage under such policy by reason of the use of the Premises by the Tenant or by any Transferee, or by anyone permitted by
the Tenant to be upon the Premises, the Tenant shall remedy such condition within 48 hours after notice thereof by the Landlord.
Section 6.04 Loss or Damage
The Landlord shall not be liable for any death or injury arising from or out of any occurrence in, upon, at, or relating to the Lands or Development or damage
to property of the Tenant or of others located on the Premises or elsewhere in the Development, nor shall it be responsible for any loss of or damage to any
property of the Tenant or others from any cause, whether or net any such death, injury, loss or damage results from the negligence of the Landlord, its agents,
employees, contractors, or others for whom it may, in law, be responsible. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Landlord shall not be liable for
any injury or damage to Persons or property resulting from fire, explosion, falling plaster, falling ceiling tile, falling fixtures, steam, gas, electricity, water,

rain, flood, snow or leaks from any part of the Premises or from the pipes, sprinklers, appliances, plumbing works, roof, windows or subsurface of any floor
or ceiling of the Development or from the street or any other place or by dampness or by any other cause whatsoever. The Landlord shall not be liable for any
such damage caused by other tenants or Persons on the Lands or in the Development or by occupants of adjacent property thereto, or the public, or caused by
construction or by any private, public or quasi-public work. All property of the Tenant kept or stored on the Premises shall be so kept or stored at the risk of
the Tenant only and the Tenant releases and agrees to indemnify the Landlord and save it harmless from any claims arising out of any damage to the same
including, without limitation, any subrogation claims by the Tenant’s insurers.
Section 6.05 Landlord’s Insurance
The Landlord shall throughout the Term carry: (a) all risks insurance on the Development (excluding the foundations and excavations) and the machinery,
boilers and equipment in or servicing the Development and owned by the Landlord or the owners of the Development (excluding any property which the
Tenant and other tenants are obliged to insure under Section 6.01 or similar sections of their respective leases) containing a waiver of subrogation rights
with respect to the Premises which the Landlord’s insurer may have against the Tenant and against those for whom the Tenant is in law responsible
against damage by fire and extended perils coverage; (b) public liability and property damage insurance with respect to the Landlord’s operations in the
Development; and (c) such other form or forms of insurance as the Landlord or the Mortgagee reasonably considers advisable. Such insurance shall be in such
reasonable amounts and with such reasonable deductibles as would be carried by a prudent owner of a reasonably similar building, having regard to size, age
and location. Notwithstanding the Landlord’s covenant in this Section and notwithstanding any contribution by the Tenant to the cost of the Landlord’s
insurance premiums, the Tenant acknowledges and agrees that: (i) the Tenant is not relieved of any
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liability arising from or contributed to by its negligence or its willful act or omissions; (ii) no insurable interest is conferred upon the Tenant under any
insurance policies carried by the Landlord; and (iii) the Tenant has no right to receive any proceeds of any insurance policies carried by the Landlord.
Section 6.06 Indemnification of the Landlord
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Lease, the Tenant shall indemnify the Landlord and save it harmless from all loss (including loss of Net Rent and
Additional Rent) claims, actions, damages, liability and expense in connection with loss of life, personal injury, damage to property or any other loss or injury
whatsoever arising out of this Lease, or any occurrence in, upon or at the Premises, or the occupancy or use by the Tenant of the Premises or any part thereof,
or occasioned wholly or in part by any act or omission of the Tenant or by anyone permitted to be on the Premises by the Tenant. If the Landlord shall,
without fault on its part, be made a party to any litigation commenced by or against the Tenant, then the Tenant shall protect, indemnify and hold the Landlord
harmless in connection with such litigation. The Landlord may, at its option, participate in or assume carriage of any litigation or settlement discussions
relating to the foregoing, or any other matter for which the Tenant is required to indemnify the Landlord under this Lease. Alternatively, the Landlord may
require the Tenant to assume carriage of and responsibility for all or any part of such litigation or discussions
Section 6.07 Release by the Landlord
Despite any other section or clause of this Lease (except the last sentence of this Section 6.07), the Tenant is not responsible for any part, in excess of
$5,000,000.00, or the amount of liability insurance coverage available to the Tenant, whichever is the greater, of any loss or damage to property of the
Landlord that is located in, or is part of the Building and Lands caused by any of the perils for which the Landlord is required under Section 6.05 to maintain
insurance. This release applies whether or not the loss or damage arises from the negligence of the Tenant. This release does not apply, however to damage
arising from the willful or grossly negligent acts of the Tenant.
ARTICLE VII - DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION
Section 7.01 No Abatement
If the Premises or Building are damaged or destroyed in whole or in part by fire or any other occurrence, this Lease shall continue in full force and effect and
there shall be no abatement of Rent except as provided in this Article VII.
Section 7.02 Damage to Premises
If the Premises are at any time destroyed or damaged as a result of fire or any other casualty required to be insured against by the Landlord under this Lease
or otherwise insured against by the Landlord and not caused or contributed to by the Tenant, then the following provisions shall apply:
(a)

if the Premises are rendered untenantable-unfit for use by the Tenant only in part, the Landlord shall diligently repair the Premises to the extent only
of its obligations under Section 5.01 and Net Rent shall abate proportionately to the portion of the Premises rendered untenantable unfit for use by
the Tenant from the date of destruction or damage until the Landlord’s repairs have been completed;

(b)

if the Premises are rendered wholly untenantable unfit for use by the Tenant, the Landlord shall diligently repair the Premises to the extent only of its
obligations pursuant to Section 5.01 and Net Rent shall abate entirely from the date of destruction or damage until the Landlord’s repairs have been
completed;

(c)

if the Premises are not rendered untenantable unfit for use by the Tenant in whole or in part, the Landlord shall diligently perform such repairs to the
Premises to the extent only of its obligations under Section 5.01, but in such circumstances Net Rent shall not terminate or abate;

(d)

upon being notified by the Landlord that the Landlord’s repairs have been substantially completed, the Tenant shall diligently perform all repairs to
the Premises which are the Tenant’s responsibility under Section 5.02, and all other work required to fully restore the Premises for use in the Tenant’s
business, in every case at the Tenant’s cost and without any contribution to such cost by the Landlord, whether or not the Landlord has at any time
made any contribution to the cost of supply, installation or construction of Leasehold Improvements in the Premises;

(e)

nothing in this Section shall require the Landlord to rebuild the Premises in the condition which existed before any such damage or destruction so
long as the Premises as rebuilt will have reasonably similar facilities to those in the Premises prior to such damage or destruction, having regard,
however, to the age of the Building at such time; and

(f)

nothing in this Section shall require the Landlord to undertake any repairs having a cost in excess of the insurance proceeds actually received by the
Landlord with respect to such damage or destruction.
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Section 7.03 Right of Termination
(a)

Notwithstanding Section 7.02, if the damage or destruction which has occurred in the Premises is such that in the reasonable opinion of the Landlord
the Premises cannot be rebuilt or made fit for the purposes of the Tenant within 90 days of the happening of the damage or destruction, the Landlord
may, at its option, terminate this Lease on notice to the Tenant given within 30 days after such damage or destruction. If such notice of termination is
given, Rent shall be apportioned and paid to the date of such damage or destruction and the Tenant shall immediately deliver vacant possession of
the Premises in accordance with the terms of this Lease.

(b)

Notwithstanding Section 7.02, if the damage and destruction which has occurred in the Premises is such that in the reasonably opinion of the
Architect, the Premises cannot be rebuilt or be made fit for the purposes of the Tenant within 180 days of the happening of the damage or
destruction, then the Landlord will, subject to Section 7.03(a), provide the Tenant with other premises comparable to the Premises having regard to
size, age and location within the downtown core of Regina on a temporary basis until such time as the Premises have been rebuilt as contemplated,
failing which the Tenant may, at its option, elect to terminate this Lease by giving to the Landlord notice of termination and thereupon Rent shall be
apportioned and paid to the date of such termination and the Tenant shall immediately deliver vacant possession of the Premises in accordance
with the terms of this Lease.

Section 7.04 Destruction of Building or the Development
(a)

Notwithstanding anything contained in this Lease and specifically notwithstanding the provisions of Section 7.03, if
(i)

thirty-five percent (35%) or more of the total Rentable Area of the Development; or

(ii)

fifty percent (50%) or more of the total Rentable Area of the Building;

is damaged or destroyed by any cause whatsoever (irrespective of whether the Premises are damaged or destroyed) and if, in the opinion of the
Landlord reasonably arrived at, the total Rentable Area of the Development or the total Rentable Area of the Building, as the case may be, so
damaged or destroyed cannot be rebuilt or made fit for the purposes of the respective tenants of such space within one hundred and eighty (180) days
of the happening of the damage or destruction; then and so often as any of such events occur, the Landlord may at its option (to be exercised by
written notice to the Tenant within sixty (60) days following any such occurrence), elect to terminate this lease. In the case of such election, the Term
and the tenancy hereby created shall expire upon the thirtieth (30th) day after such notice is given, without indemnity or penalty payable by, or any
other recourse against the Landlord, and the Tenant shall, within such thirty (30) day period, vacate the Premises and surrender them to the Landlord
with the Landlord having the right to re-enter and repossess the Premises discharged of this lease and to expel all Persons and remove all property
therefrom. Net Rent and Additional Rent shall be due and payable without reduction or abatement subsequent to the destruction or damage and until
the date of termination, unless the Premises shall have been destroyed or damaged as well, in which event Section 7.03 shall apply.
(b)

If the Landlord is entitled to, but does not elect to terminate this Lease under Section 7.04(a), the Landlord shall, following such damage or
destruction, diligently repair if necessary that part of the Building damaged or destroyed, but only to the extent of the Landlord’s obligations under
the terms of the various leases for premises in the Building and exclusive of any tenant’s responsibilities with respect to such repair. If the Landlord
elects to repair the Building, the Landlord may do so in accordance with plans and specifications other than those used in the original construction of
the Building.

Section 7.05 Architect’s Certificate
The certificate of the Architect shall bind the parties as to: (a) the percentage of the total Rentable Area of the Building and/or Development damaged or
destroyed; (b) whether or not the Premises are rendered untenantable unfit for use by the Tenant and the percentage of the Premises rendered untenantable
unfit for use by the Tenant; (c) the date upon which either the Landlord’s or Tenant’s work of reconstruction or repair is completed or substantially completed
and the date when the Premises are rendered tenantable; and (d) the state of completion of any work of the Landlord or the Tenant.
ARTICLE VIII - ASSIGNMENT, SUBLETTING AND TRANSFERS
Section 8.01 Assignments, Subleases and Transfers
The Tenant shall not enter into, consent to, or permit any Transfer without the prior written consent of the Landlord in each instance, which consent shall not
be unreasonably withheld but shall be subject to the Landlord’s rights under Section 8.02. Notwithstanding any statutory provision to the contrary, it shall not
be considered unreasonable for the Landlord to take into account the following factors in deciding whether to grant or withhold its consent: (a) whether such
Transfer is in violation or in breach of any covenants or restrictions made or granted by the Landlord to other tenants or occupants or prospective tenants or
occupants with whom the Landlord is having active negotiations, of the Building
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Development; (b) whether in the Landlord’s opinion, the financial background, business history and capability of the proposed Transferee is satisfactory; and
(c) if the Transfer is to an existing tenant of the Landlord. Consent by the Landlord to any Transfer if granted shall not constitute a waiver of the necessity for
such consent to any subsequent Transfer. This prohibition against Transfer shall include a prohibition against any Transfer by operation of law and no
Transfer shall take place by reason of the failure of the Landlord to give notice to the Tenant within 30 days as required by Section 8.02.
Section 8.01A Related Corporation

However, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Section 8.01, so long as the Tenant is and is itself in occupation of the whole of the Premises,
and has not failed or neglected to remedy or commenced to remedy any default or breach of its obligations as set out in this Lease after notice and within the
times as set forth in this Lease, the Tenant shall have the right without the consent of the Landlord, but upon prior written notice to the Landlord, to assign this
Lease or sublet the whole of the Premises to a corporation which is an affiliate of (within the meaning of the Canada Business Corporations Act), but only so
long as:
(A)

such affiliate remains an affiliate of ;

(B)

such assignee or sublessee shall be bound by the permitted use set out in Section [Use and Conduct of Business] of this Lease;

(C)

all of the provisions of Section 8.03 shall apply in respect of the Transfer; and

(D)

The Tenant shall remain liable under this Lease and shall not be released from per[orming any of the terms of this Lease.

In the event of any further proposed Transfer, the terms of this Lease shall prevail as if this
Section 8.01A had not formed part of this Lease.
Section 8.02 Landlord’s Right to Terminate
If the Tenant intends to effect a Transfer, the Tenant shall give prior notice to the Landlord of such intent specifying the identity of the Transferee, the type of
Transfer contemplated, the portion of the Premises affected thereby, and the financial and other terms of the Transfer, and shall provide such financial,
business or other information relating to the proposed Transferee and its principals as the Landlord or any Mortgagee requires, together with copies of any
documents which record the particulars of the proposed Transfer. The Landlord shall, within 30 days after having received such notice and all requested
information, notify the Tenant either that:
(a)

it consents or does not consent to the Transfer in accordance with the provisions and qualifications of this Article VIII; or

(b)

it elects to cancel this Lease as to the whole or the relevant part, as the case may be, of the Premises affected by the proposed Transfer, in preference
to giving such consent.

If the Landlord elects to terminate this Lease it shall stipulate in its notice the termination date of this Lease, which date shall be no less than 30 days nor more
than 90 days following the giving of such notice of termination. If the Landlord elects to terminate this Lease, the Tenant shall notify the Landlord within 10
days thereafter of the Tenant’s intention either to refrain from such Transfer or to accept termination of this Lease or the portion thereof in respect of which
the Landlord has exercised its rights. If the Tenant fails to deliver such notice within such 10 days or notifies the Landlord that it accepts the Landlord’s
termination, this Lease will as to the whole or affected relevant part of the Premises, as the case may be, be terminated on the date of termination stipulated by
the Landlord in its notice of termination. If the Tenant notifies the Landlord within 10 days that it intends to refrain from such Transfer, then the Landlord’s
election to terminate this Lease shall become void.
Section 8.03 Conditions of Transfer
The following terms and conditions apply in respect of a Transfer:
(a)

If there is a permitted Transfer, the Landlord may collect rent from the Transferee and apply the net amount collected to the Rent payable under this
Lease but no acceptance by the Landlord of any payments by a Transferee shall be deemed a waiver of the Tenant’s covenants or any acceptance of
the Transferee as tenant or a release from the Tenant from the further performance by the Tenant of its obligations under this Lease. Any consent by
the Landlord shall be subject to the Tenant and Transferee executing an agreement with the Landlord agreeing:
(i)

that the Transferee will be bound by all of the terms of this Lease and, except in the case of a sublease, that the Transferee will be so bound
as if it had originally executed this Lease as tenant; and

(ii)

to amend the Lease to incorporate such terms, covenants and conditions as are necessary so that the Lease will be in accordance with the
Landlord’s standard form of office lease in use for the Building at the time of the Transfer, and so as to incorporate any conditions imposed
by the Landlord in its consent or required by this Section 8.03
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(b)

The Tenant making such Transfer shall remain liable under this Lease and shall not be released from performing any of the terms of this
Lease.

(c)

If the Landlord has space which would be suitable for the Transferee elsevwhere in the Development, the net and additional rent payable
by the Transferee shall not be less than the Rent payable by the Tenant under this Lease as at the effective date of the Transfer, (including
any increases provided for in this Lease), and if the net and additional rent to be paid by the Transferee under such Transfer exceeds the
Rent payable under this Lease, the Tenant shall be entitled to deduct from such excess (the “Excess”) the Tenant’s out of pocket costs, if
any, for brokerage fees, legal fees, financial inducements paid by the Tenant to the Transferee and the Tenant’s cost of constructing
Leasehold Improvements on behalf of the Transferee as follows: The costs shall be amortized monthly on a straight line basis over
zero over the term of the sublease or the assignment, as the case may be (the “Amortized Amount”); and fifty percent (50%} of the Excess
less the Amortized Amount - shal] be paid by the Tenant to the Landlord on the first day of each month of the term of the sublease of
assignment. The Tenant shall provide the Landlord with proof of the payment of such third party costs in the form of paid invoices. If the
Tenant receives from any Transferee, either directly or indirectly, any consideration other than rent or additional rent for such Transfer,
either in the form of cash, goods or services (other than the proceeds of any financing as the result of a Transfer involving a mortgage,
charge or similar security interest in this Lease) the Tenant shall forthwith pay to the Landlord an amount equivalent to such consideration.
The Tenant and the Transferee shall execute any agreement required by the Landlord to give effect to the foregoing terms.

(d)

If the Transfer is a sublease, the Transferee will agree to waive any statutory right to retain the unexpired portion of the term of the sublease
or the Term of this Lease or to enter into a lease directly with the Landlord, in the event this Lease is terminated, surrendered, disclaimed or
otherwise disposed of or dealt with.

(e)

Notwithstanding the effective date of any permitted Transfer as between the Tenant and the Transferee, all Rent for the month in which such
effective date occurs shall be paid in advance by the Tenant so that the Landlord will not be required to accept partial payments of Rent for
such month from either the Tenant or Transferee.

(f)

Any document evidencing any Transfer permitted by the Landlord, or setting out any terms applicable to such Transfer or the rights and
obligations of the Tenant or Transferee thereunder, shall be prepared by the Landlord or its solicitors and all associated legal costs shall be
paid by the Tenant.

Section 8.04 Change of Control
If the Tenant is at ahy time a corporation or partnership, any actual or proposed Change of Control in such corporation or partnership shall be deemed to be a
Transfer and subject to all of the provisions of this Article VIII. The Tenant shall make available to the Landlord or its representatives all of its corporate or
partnership records, as the case may be, for inspection at all reasonable times, in order to ascertain whether any Change of Control has occurred.
Section 8.05 No Advertising
The Tenant shall not advertise that the whole or any part of the Premises are available for a Transfer a~d shall not permit any broker or other Person to do so
unless the text and format of such advertisement is approved in writing by the Landlord. No such advertisement shall contain any reference to the rental rate
of the Premises.
Section 8.06 Assignment By Landlord
The Landlord shall have the unrestricted right to sell, lease, convey or otherwise dispose of all or any part of the Building or Lands or this Lease or any
interest of the Landlord in this Lease. To the extent that the purchaser or assignee from the Landlord assumes the obligations of the Landlord under this Lease,
the Landlord shall thereupon and without further agreement be released from all liability under this Lease.
ARTICLE IX - DEFAULT
Section 9.01 Default and Remedies
If and whenever an Event of Default occurs, then without prejudice to any other rights which it has pursuant to this Lease or at law, the Landlord shall have
the following rights and remedies, which are cumulative and not alternative:
(a)

to terminate this Lease by notice to the Tenant;

(b)

to enter the Premises as agent of the Tenant and to relet the Premises for whatever term, and on such terms as the Landlord in its discretion may
determine and to receive the rent therefor and as agent of the Tenant to take possession of any property of the Tenant on the Premises, to store such
property at the expense and risk of the Tenant or to sell or otherwise dispose of such
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property in such manner as the Landlord may see fit without notice to the Tenant; to make alterations to the Premises to facilitate their reletting; and
to apply the proceeds of any such sale or reletting first, to the payment of any expenses incurred by the Landlord with respect to any such reletting or
sale; second, to the payment of any indebtedness of the Tenant to the Landlord other than rent; and third, to the payment of Rent in arrears; with the
residue to be held by the Landlord and applied in payment of future Rent as it becomes due and payable. The Tenant shall remain liable for any
deficiency to the Landlord;
(c)

to remedy or attempt to remedy any default of the Tenant under this Lease for the account of the Tenant and to enter upon the Premises for such
purposes. No notice of the Landlord’s intention to perform such covenants need be given the Tenant unless expressly required by this Lease. The
Landlord shall not be liable to the Tenant for any loss, injury or damage caused by acts of the Landlord in remedying or attempting to remedy such
default and the Tenant shall pay to the Landlord all expenses incurred by the Landlord in connection with remedying or attempting to remedy such
default;

(d)

to recover from the Tenant all damages, and expenses incurred by the Landlord as a result of any breach by the Tenant including, if the Landlord
terminates this Lease, any deficiency between those amounts which would have been payable by the Tenant for the portion of the Term following
such termination and the net amounts actually received by the Landlord during such period of time with respect to the Premises;

(e)

to recover from the Tenant the full amount of the current month’s Rent together with the next 3 months’ instalments of Rent, all of which shall
accrue on a day-to-day basis and shall immediately become due and payable as accelerated rent (it is agreed that upon the Tenant paying such 3
months accelerated rent the Landlord shall not be entitled to take its remedies for a failure to pay rent during the 3 months for which such accelerated
rent was paid); and

(f)

if the Lease has been terminated in accordance with Section 9.01(a), to recover from the Tenant the unamortized portion of any leasehold
improvement allowance or inducement paid by the Landlord under the terms of this Lease, calculated from the date which is the later of the date of
payment by the Landlord or the Commencement Date, on the basis of an assumed rate of depreciation on a straight line basis to zero over the initial
Term of this Lease.

Section 9.02 Distress
Notwithstanding any provision of this Lease or any provision of applicable legislation, none of the goods and chattels of the Tenant on the Premises at any
time during the Term shall be exempt from levy by distress for Rent in arrears, and the Tenant waives any such exemption. If the Landlord makes any claim

against the goods and chattels of the Tenant by way of distress, this provision may be pleaded as an estoppel against the Tenant in any action brought to test
the right of the Landlord to levy such distress.
Section 9.03 Costs
The prevailing party shall pay to the other party all damages and costs (including,,without limitation, all legal fees on a solicitor and his client basis) incurred
by the prevailing party in enforcing the terms of this Lease, or with respect to any matter or thing which is the obligation of the Landlord or Tenant under this
Lease, or in respect of which either party has agreed to insure, or to indemnify the other.
Section 9.04 Allocation of Payments
The Landlord may at its option apply sums received from the Tenant against any amounts due and payable by the Tenant under this Lease in such manner as
the Landlord sees fit.
Section 9.05 Survival of Obligations
If the Tenant has failed to fulfil its obligations under this Lease with respect to the maintenance, repair and alteration of the Premises and removal of
improvements and fixtures from the Premises during or at the end of the Term, such obligations and the Landlord’s rights in respect thereto shall remain in
full force and effect notwithstanding the expiration or sooner termination of the Term.
ARTICLE X - STATUS STATEMENT, ATTORNMENT AND SUBORDINATION
Section 10.01 Status Statement
Within 15 days after written request by the Landlord, the Tenant shall deliver in a form supplied by the Landlord a statement or estoppel certificate to the
Landlord as to the status of this Lease, including as to whether this Lease is unmodified and in full force and effect (or, if there have been modifications that
this Lease is in full force and effect as modified and identifying the modification agreements); the amount of Net Rent and Additional Rent then being paid
and the dates to which same have been paid; whether or not there is any existing or alleged default by either party with respect to which a notice of default has
been served and if there is any such default, specifying the nature and extent thereof; and any other matters pertaining to this Lease as to which the Landlord
shall request such statement or certificate.
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Section 10.02 Subordination
This Lease and all rights of the Tenant shall, subject to any Mortgagee agreeing to execute and deliver to the Tenant a non-disturbance agreement on terms
and conditions satisfactory to the Tenant, acting reasonably, be subject and subordinate to any and all Mortgages and any ground, operating, overriding or
underlying leases, from time to time in existence against the Lands and Building. On request, the Tenant shall subordinate this Lease and its rights under this
Lease to any and all such Mortgages and leases and to all advances made under such Mortgages. The form of such subordination shall be as required by the
Landlord or any Mortgagee or the lessee under any such lease.
Section 10.03 Attornment
The Tenant shall promptly, on request, attorn to any Mortgagee, or to the owners of the Building and Lands, or the lessor under any ground, operating,
overriding, underlying or similar lease of all or substantially all of the Building made by the Landlord or otherwise affecting the Building and Lands, or the
purchaser on any foreclosure or sale proceedings taken under any Mortgage, and shall recognize such Mortgagee owner, lessor or purchaser as the Landlord
under this Lease.
Section 10.04 Execution of Documents
The Tenant irrevocably constitutes the Landlord the agent and attorney of the Tenant for the purpose of executing any agreement, certificate, attornment or
subordination required by this Lease and for registering postponements in favour of any Mortgagee if the Tenant fails to execute such documents within 5
days of the second notice from the Landlord after the Tenant has failed to respond to an initial 10 day notice request by the Landlord
ARTICLE Xl - GENERAL PROVISIONS
Section 11.01 Rules and Regulations
The Tenant shall comply with all Rules and Regulations, and amendments thereto, adopted by the Landlord from time to time including those set out in
Schedule “D”. Such Rules and Regulations may differentiate between different types of businesses in the Building, and the Landlord shall have no obligation
to enforce any Rule or Regulation or the provisions of any other lease against any other tenant, and the Landlord shall have no liability to the Tenant with
respect thereto.
Section 11.02 Delay
Except as expressly provided in this Lease, whenever the Landlord or Tenant is delayed in the fulfilment of any obligation under this Lease (other than the
payment of Rent and surrender of the Premises on termination) by an unavoidable occurrence which is not the fault of the party delayed in performing such
obligation, then the time for fulfilment of such obligation shall be extended during the period in which such circumstances operate to delay the fulfilment of
such obligation.
Section 11.03 Overholding
If the Tenant remains in possession of the Premises after the end of the Term with the consent of the Landlord but without having executed and delivered a
new lease or an agreement extending the Term, there shall be no tacit renewal of this Lease, and the Tenant shall be deemed to be occupying the Premises as a
Tenant from month to month at a monthly Net Rent payable in advance on the first day of each month equal to twice 125% of the monthly amount of Net

Rent payable during the last month of the Term for the first 3 months of such month to month term and 150% thereafter, and otherwise upon the same terms
as are set forth in this Lease, so far as these are applicable to a monthly tenancy.
Section 11.04 Waiver
If either the Landlord or Tenant excuses or condones any default by the other of any obligation under this Lease, no waiver of such obligation shall be implied
in respect of any continuing or subsequent default.
Section 1l.05 Registration
Neither the Tenant nor anyone claiming under the Tenant shall register this Lease or any Transfer without the prior written consent of the Landlord. If the
Tenant or any permitted Transferee wishes to register a document for the purposes of giving notice of this Lease or a Transfer, then the Landlord shall, at the
request and expense of the Tenant, execute a notice, caveat or short form of Lease for the purposes of registration in such form as approved by the Landlord
and without disclosure of any terms which the Landlord does not desire to have disclosed. If the Lands comprise more than one parcel of land, the Landlord
may direct the Tenant or Transferee as to the parcel or parcels against which registration may be effected.
Section 11.06 Notices
Any notice, consent or other instrument which may be or is required to be given under this Lease shall be in writing and shall be delivered in person or by
commercial delivery service addressed: (a) if to the Landlord: c/o The Cadillac Fairview Corporation Limited, 20 Queen Street West, Toronto, Ontario M5H
3R4, Attention: Corporate Secretary, with a copy to the Cornwall Centre Manager, Cornwall Centre, #202, 2114-11th Avenue, Regina, Saskatchewan S4P
0J5, (b) if to the Tenant, at at 100 Garfield Street, Denver, Colorado 80206 Attention: V.P. Real Estate.
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Any such notice or other instrument shall be deemed to have been given and received on the day upon which personal delivery or delivery by commercial
delivery service is made provided any commercial delivery must be signed for by a representative of the Landlord or Tenant as the case may be, or if
mailed, then 48 following the date of mailing. Either party may give notice to the other of any change of address and after the giving of such notice, the
address therein specified is deemed to be the address of such party for the giving of notices. If postal service is interrupted or substantially delayed, all notices
or other instruments shall be delivered in person.
Section 11.07 Successors
The rights and liabilities created by this lease extend to and bind the successors and assigns of the Landlord and the heirs, executors, administrators and
permitted successors and assigns of the Tenant. No rights, however, shall enure to the benefit of any Transferee unless the provisions of Article VIM are
complied with.
Section 11.08 Joint and Several Liability
If there is at any time more than one Tenant or more than one Person constituting the Tenant, their covenants shall be considered to be joint and several and
shall apply to each and every one of them. if the Tenant is or becomes a partnership, each Person who is a member, or shall become a member, of Such
partnership or its successors shall be and continue to be jointly and severally liable for the performance of all covenants of the Tenant pursuant to this Lease,
whether or not such Person ceases to be a member of such partnership or its successor.
Section 11.09 Captions and Section Numbers
The captions, section numbers, article numbers and table of contents appearing in this lease are inserted only as a matter of convenience and in no way affect
the substance of this Lease.
Section 11.10 Extended Meanings
The words “hereof”, “hereto” and “hereunder” and similar expressions used in this Lease relate to the whole of this Lease and not only to the provisions in
which such expressions appear. This Lease shall be read with all changes in number and gender as may be appropriate or required by the context. Any
reference to the Tenant includes where the content allows, the employees, agents, invitees, and licenses of the Tenant and all others over whom the Tenant
might be reasonably expected to exercise control.
Section 11.11 Partial Invalidity
All of the provisions of this Lease are to be construed as covenants even though not expressed as such. If any such provision is held or rendered illegal or
unenforceable it shall be considered separate and severable from this Lease and the remaining provisions of this Lease shall remain in force and bind the
parties as though the illegal or unenforceable provision had never been included in this Lease.
Section 11.12 Entire Agreement
This Lease and the Schedules and riders, if any, attached hereto and the Landlord’s leasehold improvement manual, set forth the entire agreement between the
Landlord and Tenant concerning the Premises and there are no agreements or understandings between them other than as are herein set forth. Subject to
Section 11.01, this Lease and its Schedules and riders may not be modified except by agreement in writing executed by the Landlord and Tenant.
Section 11.13 Governing Law
This Lease shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the Province.
Section 11.14 Time of the Essence

Time is of the essence of this Lease.
Section 11.15 Quiet Enjoyment
If the Tenant pays Rent, fully performs all of its obligations under this Lease, and there has been no Event of Default, the Tenant shall be entitled to peaceful
and quiet enjoyment of the Premises for the Term without interruption or interference by the Landlord or any Person claiming through the Landlord.
Section 11.16 Execution
If the Tenant is a corporation, the Tenant confirms and agrees that this Lease has been executed by its authorized signatories and that if only one signatory has
signed this Lease, the Tenant is authorized by its articles of incorporation or other constating documents to execute leases by such sole authorized signatory
and if this Lease is not executed under seal by the Tenant, the Tenant is authorized by its articles of incorporation or other constating documents to execute
leases without a seal.
Section 11.17 Parking
The Tenant will enter into a parking license agreement with the Landlord from the date the Tenant commences business in the Premises to the expiry or
earlier termination of the Term and any
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renewals, for a total of two hundred and twenty-five (225) unreserved, non-guaranteed, parking stalls at the Building in an area to be designated by the
Landlord. The Landlord acknowledges that no direct charge shall be attributable to the parking stalls for the initial Term of the Lease. The Landlord agrees to
provide the initial set of 225 access cards for the parking facility free of charge. The Tenant will be responsible for the costs associated with replacement cards
throughout the Term and any renewals.
Section 11.18 Restrictive Covenant
Provided the Tenant is not in default under the Lease and so long as the Tenant is STARTEK CANADA SERVICES LTD. and is itself in occupation of and
carrying on business in the not less than 80% of the Rentable Area of the Premises (except where the Tenant is permitted to cease operating for renovations or
due to damage or destruction pursuant to this Lease), the Tenant expressly acknowledging and agreeing that this section is personal to the Tenant and is not
transferable, then prior to and during the initial Term of the Lease only, and excluding any renewal or extension thereof, the Landlord will not lease any other
premises in the Development (excluding any expansions thereof) to a tenant whose principal business is a call centre and that is a direct competitor of the
Tenant, offering the same services.
It is further understood that the Landlord is not obligated to enforce the aforementioned covenant against any Person if by doing so it shall be in breach of any
laws, rules or regulations from time to time in force, and no provision of this Lease is intended to apply or to be enforceable to the extent that it would give
rise to any offence under the Competition Act (Canada), or any statute that may be substituted therefore, as from time to time amended. Provided further that
as the aforementioned covenant has been granted only at the Tenant’s request, the Tenant shall indemnify and hold the Landlord harmless from any loss,
injury, or damage suffered by the Landlord as a result of breaching any such legislation as aforesaid, including all expenses incurred in connection with any
claims, actions, or proceedings brought with respect thereto, whether of a criminal or civil nature, and will reimburse the Landlord for any and all costs or
expenses incurred in connection with any enforcement of this covenant by the Landlord, including legal fees on a solicitor and client basis.
Section 11.19 First Option to Renew
So long as the Tenant is STARTEK CANADA SERVICES LTD. and duly and regularly pays the Rent and observes and pertorms all of the covenants and
agreements herein contained on the part of the Tenant to be paid, observed and performed and if no Event of Default shall have occurred, the Landlord, upon
written request by the Tenant delivered not less than twelve (12) months before the expiration of the Term, shall grant to the Tenant a renewal of this Lease
for a further period of three (3) years (the “First Renewal Term”) upon the same terms, covenants and conditions as are herein contained except as to Net Rent
and the Tenant will accept the Premises on an “as is” basis with no Landlord’s work to be pertormed and no inducements or allowances shall be payable by
the Landlord.
The Net Rent payable during the First Renewal Term shall be an amount which is mutually agreed upon between the Landlord and the Tenant no later than
nine (9) months prior to the expiry of the Term, based upon the fair market rent for renewing call centre tenants in similar premises of similar condition in a
similar building at the time of the exercise of this option to renew and failing agreement in such time period, Net Rent shall be determined by a single
arbitrator under the Commercial Arbitration Act of British Columbia.
If the Tenant fails to give the appropriate notice within the time limit set out herein for extending the Term, then this Section and Section 11.20 shall be null
and void and of no further force and effect. If the Tenant gives such appropriate notice within the time limit set out herein for extending the Term and the
Landlord and Tenant agree on the fair market rent payable, it will forthwith execute the documentation required by the Landlord to give effect to the First
Renewal Term.
Section 11.20 Second Option to Renew
So long as the Tenant is STARTEK CANADA SERVICES LTD., and has exercised its First Option to Renew as set out in Section 11.19 and duly and
regularly pays the Rent and observes and performs all of the covenants and agreements herein contained on the part of the Tenant to be paid, observed and
performed and if no Event of Default shall have occurred, the Landlord, upon written request by the Tenant delivered not less than twelve (12) months before
the expiration of the First Renewal Term, shall grant to the Tenant a renewal of this Lease for a further period of three (3) years (the “Second Renewal Term”)
upon the same terms, covenants and conditions as are herein contained except as to Net Rent and except that there shall be no further right of renewal and the
Tenant will accept the Premises on an “as is” basis with no Landlord’s work to be performed and no inducements or allowances shall be payable by the
Landlord.

The Net Rent payable during the Second Renewal Term shall be an amount which is mutually agreed upon between the Landlord and the Tenant no later than
nine (9) months prior to the expiry of the First Renewal Term, based upon the fair market rent for renewing call centre tenants in similar premises of similar
condition in a similar building at the time of the exercise of this option
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to renew and failing agreement in such time period, Net Rent shall be determined by a single arbitrator under the Commercial Arbitration Act of British
Columbia.
If the Tenant fails to give the appropriate notice within the time limit set out herein for extending the Term, then this Section shall be null and void and of no
further force and effect. If the Tenant gives such appropriate notice within the time limit set out herein for extending the Term and the Landlord and Tenant
agree on the fair market rent payable, it will forthwith execute the documentation required by the Landlord to give effect to the Renewal Term.
Section 11.21 Leasehold Improvement Allowance
Provided the Tenant is not in default under this Lease, the Landlord will pay the Tenant a leasehold improvement allowance of FOURTEEN DOLLARS
($14.00) per square foot of the Rentable Area of the Premises (the “Allowance”) to be applied towards the cost of construction of the Tenant’s leasehold
improvements. Ninety percent (90%) of the Allowance will be paid fifteen (15) days after the last to occur of:
(a)

occupancy of the Premises by the Tenant for busines

(b)

execution of the Lease by all parties; and

(c)

receipt by the Landlord of a statutory declaration documenting (i) that payment has been made in full to all contractors, sub-contractors, suppliers
and any other personnel retained to complete construction of the Tenant’s leasehold improvements; (ii) the last date on which any work was done or
materials were provided in connection with the construction of the leasehold improvements; and (iii) that all assessments under the Workers’
Compensation Act against the Tenant, its contractors, subcontractors and other persons or business entities who performed work in the Building or
the Premises in connection with the Tenant’s work have been paid in full.

The remaining ten percent (10%) of the Allowance will be paid forthwith after the expiry of the statutory lien period, provided no liens have been registered
in respect of the Tenant’s leasehold improvements. To the extent that the Allowance exceeds the cost of construction, such extra amount will be applied by the
Landlord to the first rentals due under the Lease. The Tenant agrees to provide invoices documenting the cost of construction.
If the Tenant becomes bankrupt or takes the benefit of any statute for bankrupt or insolvent debtors (including, without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, as amended or replaced) then the Tenant will repay to the Landlord, as
Additional Rent, the unamortized portion of the Allowance, calculated from the date of payment by the Landlord, on the basis of an assumed rate of
depreciation on a straight-line basis to zero over the initial Term.
Section 11.22 Satellite Dish
Provided the Tenant is not in default under the Lease, it shall be permitted to install at the Tenant’s sole cost one (t) satellite dish on the roof of the Building,
subject to appropriate space being available, in a location mutually agreed upon between the Landlord and Tenant according to detailed specifications and
plans as approved by the Landlord prior to installation. The Tenant shall pay all costs of the Landlord and or any consultants required to review the
specifications and plans. The Tenant agrees to execute the Landlord’s standard telecommunication license agreement. The Tenant also agrees to pay all utility
costs and any other cost associated with the operation and use of the satellite dish. The Tenant shall at the expiry of the Term or early termination thereof
remove the satellite dish and all wiring associated with the satellite dish and repair any damages caused to the Building by either the installation or removal of
the satellite dish, all at the Tenant’s sole cost. This section shall survive the expiry or earlier termination of this Lease.
Section 11.23 Early Occupancy
The Tenant shall, at the Landlord’s option, be permitted occupancy of the Premises at any time after the Lease has been fully executed for the purposes of
fixturing and conducting business. During any period prior to the Commencement Date during which the Tenant is permitted to have occupancy of the
Premises, whether exclusively or in common with the Landlord and its contractors and employees, the Tenant shall be deemed to be in possession of Premises
and shall be bound by all of the provisions of the Lease, as hereinafter defined, except those requiring payment of Net Rent. During this early occupancy
period, the Tenant shall be responsible for the payment of Additional Rent and all other services that the Tenant uses, such as but not limited to utilities,
cleaning services, maintenance services or other building services. The Landlord acknowledges that the Tenant is working towards an April 28, 2003 date to
occupy the Premises for approximately 250 persons. The Landlord shall make reasonable efforts and shall work diligently to accommodate such date it being
understood that the Premises may not be complete on such date, that the Tenant will be operating with temporary electrical and mechanical systems and that
the new elevator being provided for the Premises will not be functional on such date.
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Section 11.24 Landlord’s Work
The Landlord agrees to perform the work set out below in respect of the Premises on a “once only” basis (also herein referred to a~ “Landlord’s Work”). It is
understood and agreed that the Landlord is not required to provide any materials or to do any work to or in respect of the Premises except the Landlord’s
Work and materials listed below and Landlord’s Work will be performed in accordance with the Landlord’s specifications and using standard finishes for the
Building:
Architectural Systems
Existing partition demolition

Removal of existing flooring
Selective floor patching (cracks if required)
Prepare exterior walls for paint
Prepare interior columns for paint
Selective floor demolition for new elevator shafts
Construction of new elevator shafts
Scaffold / protection at escalator
Remove escalator
Infill floor at escalator / fireproofing
Removal of firerated walls at escalator
Remove mirrors from skylight bulkhead and leaving surfaces prepared for new finish
New “punched” aluminum windows (east) - 9 windows based on Tenant’s preliminary plans
New firefighters access at 11th Avenue
Concrete ramp at north entrance (interior or exterior)
Exterior entrance and interior vestibule framing and doors for the north entrance including a canopy to a maximum value of $8,000. Doors and framing to be
clear anodized aluminum with double glazing on exterior doors
and single glazing on interior doors. Hardware for doors to be standard entrance hardware
All security and card access systems (including those for the lobby door) will be by tenant.
New firerated / acoustic walls at emergency generator
Doors, frames and hardware at emergency generator
New firerated / walls at mechanical / electrical rooms
Doors, frames and hardware at mechanical/electrical rooms
Remove existing washroom finishes
New finishes to existing washrooms
Remove existing ceiling tiles (grid to remain)
Main floor lobby (11th Avenue) complete with finishes
Vertical Movement
Existing stairs to remain
Two new passenger elevators at 11th Avenue including finishes to Landlord’s base building specifications
Mechanical Svstems
Dedicated gas lines and metering (not including any deposits required by the gas provider)
New potable water line / pumps
Check meter on water consumption
New insulated water lines to vav boxes
Existing sprinkler system to remain
Sprinkler heads at mechanical/electrica/lgenerator only
New plumbing fixtures at existing washrooms
Installation of two 80 ton chillers (including air handlers, piping and duct connections to existing
ductwork on 3rd floor, structural improvements and access stairs as necessary)
Existing thermostats to VAV boxes to remain
The Tenant acknowledges that it shall supply and install all boiler/s, piping, pump/s and control systems, engineered to suit the tenant load requirements and
as necessary for pre-heating the chiller/fan units being supplied by the Landlord, (2-80 ton chiller/fan units located on the upper roof of the mechanical
penthouse), and the existing variable air volume boxes, (vav’s) located above the ceiling throughout the third floor space. The existing boiler piping,
distribution, vav boxes and controls shall be modified as necessary to suit the new roof top units, distribution and controls as being supplied and installed by
the Tenant.
Electrical Systems
New service (location / entry to be determined), metered, and terminated at main panel (not
including any deposits required by the electicity provider)
New electrical distribution centre which consists of a 347/600 volt normal power distribution switchboard c/w molded case main breaker and fuseable
switches for distributing power to the tenant’s loads. The Landlord will extend the power from the main electrical room to four satellite electrical rooms,
(constructed by the Landlord) located to suit the Tenant plan, at the perimeter of the third floor and terminating at new electrical panels. Each of the four
electrical closets will include a transformer from 600 volt to 120/208 volts and two 66 circuit panel boards c/w breakers
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to facilitate branch circuitry to the Tenant space. All conductor runs from the panels to the Tenant space will remain the responsibility of the Tenant.
Electrical service to provide 10 watts / sq. ft.
New fire alarm enunciator at main floor
Fire alarm tie-ins to third floor
Flow valves on sprinkler systems / alarm
New lighting at existing washrooms
Remove existing light fixtures (retrofit/clean as required by schedule provided by tenant)
Existing plugs in existing columns to remain
Electrical connection of roof top units
The Tenant acknowledges that it must provide standpower power as the existing system of emergency lighting and standby generator in not available for use
by the Tenant.
As of the Commencement Date the Tenant shall have a one (1) month period to advise the Landlord of any visible defect(s) affecting any Leasehold
Improvements within the Premises as a result of the Landlords Work and such construction and the Landlord shall repair such defects on a timely basis.

Section 11.25 Building Signage
The Tenant shall, subject to municipal approval, be permitted to put a canopy with signage over the street entrance to the elevator lobby for the Premises, at
the Tenant’s sole cost. The location, size, material, installation, operation, and other specifications of the signage shall be approved at the reasonable
discretion of the Landlord. The Tenant shall pay all costs of the Landlord and or any consultants required to review the specifications and plans. Any cost
associated with the ongoing use, or maintenance of the signage shall be to the account of the Tenant. The Tenant shall remove the signage at the expiry or
early termination of the Term, and agrees to repair any and all damages to the Development caused by the installation, or removal of the exterior signage, and
all such work shall be preformed at the sole cost of the Tenant.
Section 11.26 Tenant’s Generator
The Tenant may during the term of this Lease, at its own expense install and thereafter maintain and operate a back-up power system and all related wiring,
fuel sources and ancillary equipment (collectively, the “Equipment”) in the location designated by the Landlord on the roof of the Building or in an area
approved by the Landlord within the Premises. The Equipment shall be used only for the Tenant’s own business purposes in the event the Tenant’s primary
electrical service is interrupted and not for the benefit of any sub-tenant, assignee, licensee or other occupant of the Premises or Building. Prior to installation,
the Tenant shall obtain the Landlord’s prior written approval of the plans and specifications for all Equipment to be installed. The Tenant agrees at its sole
expense to comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules, regulations and requirements of all governmental and quasi-governmental authorities having
jurisdiction and also with all requirements of the Landlord’s insurer and/or mortgagee in connection with the installation, repair, maintenance or operation of
the Equipment. The Tenant shall at its own expense obtain all approvals, permits, and licenses required for the Equipment, and will deliver copies thereof to
the Landlord.
The Tenant acknowledges and agrees that the installation, maintenance, repair and use of the Equipment shall not, in the Landlord’s reasonable opinion,
interfere with or adversely affect any use of the Building or of any other space or equipment used by the Landlord or any other tenant or occupant of the
Building. The Tenant agrees at its expense to install, repair, maintain, replace and remove the Equipment in a manner that is compatible with the appearance
and character of the Building. The Tenant will pay for all utility services including, without limitation, electricity or natural gas, required for the Tenant’s use
of the Equipment. The Tenant hereby releases the Landlord in connection with all costs, claims, expenses, damages or liabilities in connection with the
Equipment in any way. The Tenant will provide the Landlord with satisfactory evidence that its property insurance and liability coverage obtained in
connection with the Lease, extend to the occupancy on the roof or the Premises, as the case may be, of the Equipment and the operation of the Equipment
therein and will indemnify and hold harmless the Landlord from all claims, losses and damages arising from or in any way connected with the operation of
the Equipment. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Lease, upon the expiration or earlier termination of the this Lease, if the Landlord so directs the
Tenant, it will remove the Equipment at the Tenant’s sole expense and repair any damage to the Building caused by such removal.
Section 11.27 Canadian Dollars
The parties acknowledge that all amounts payable pursuant to this Lease are payable in Canadian Dollars.
Section 11.28 Freight Elevator
The Tenant acknowledges that it will have to enter into a license agreement with Hudson’s Bay Company for the use of the freight elevator and that it will be
responsible for all costs associated
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with such use. The Landlord confirms that Hudson’s Bay Company has a contractual obligation to enter into such freight elevator license and agrees to assist
the Tenant in obtaining such license.
Section 11.29 Tenant’s Contribution to Chillers
The Tenant agrees that as a contribution to the cost of the chillers being Installed by the Landlord, it will pay to the Landlord the sum of $150,000
immediately upon execution of this Lease by both parties.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Landlord and Tenant have executed this Lease.
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

CORNWALL CENTRE LIMITED
(Landlord)
Per: /s/ B. Murray
Authorized Signature
Per: /s/ R. Wretschke
Authorized Signature
I/We have authority to bind the corporation.
STARTEK CANADA SERVICES LTD.
(Tenant)
Per: /s/ David I. Rasenthal
Authorized Signature
Per:
Authorized Signature

)
)

I/We have authority to bind the corporation.
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SCHEDULE "A" - LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF LANDS
A leasehold estate for a term of seventy-six years, sixty-five days from the twenty-eighth day of October 1980, created by a lease of record in the Land Titles
Office for the Regina Land Registration District as NO. 80R 54810 of and in:
the whole of Block B1, Regina Saskatchewanl Plan No. 01RA24328 excepting thereout:
A leasehold estate for a term of seventy-six years, sixty-five days from the twenty-eighth day of October 1980, created by a lease of record in the Land Titles
Office for the Regina Land Registration District as NO. 81R 49004 of and in:
the whole of Block AA, Regina, Saskatchewan, Plan 81R 42801, mines and minerals excepted.
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SCHEDULE “B” - FLOOR PLAN OF THE PREMISES

The purpose of this plan is to identify the approximate location of the Premises in the Building.
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SCHEDULE “C” DEFINITIONS
In this Lease and in the Schedules to this lease
1.

“Additional Rent” means all sums of money required to be paid by the Tenant under this lease (except Net Rent) whether or not the same are
designated “Additional Rent” or are payable to the Landlord or otherwise.

2.

“Alterations” means all repairs, replacements, improvements or alterations to the premises by the Tenart.

3.

“Architect” means the architect or land surveyor from time to time named by the Landlord.

4.

“Building” means the multi-storey building known municipality as 2150-11th Avenue, Regina, Saskatchewan from and including the ground floor
of such building to and including the roof thereof and including all premises rented or intended to be rented therein whether for office, retail,
cafeteria, banking or other purposes; and facilities serving the building or having utility in connection therewith as determined by the landlord,
whether or not located directly under the building which areas and facilities may include, without limitation internal mails sidewalks and plazas
exhibit areas storage and mechanical areas janitor rooms mail rooms telephone mechanical and electrical rooms stairways escalators elevators truck
and receiving areas driveways parking facilities loading docks and corridors.

5.

“Business Tax” means all taxes (whether imposed on the Landlord or Tenant) attributable to the personal property, trade fixtures, business, income,
occupancy or sales of the Tenant or any other occupant of the Premises and to any leasehold improvements installed in the Premises and to the use of
the Building or Lands by the Tenant.

6.

“Capital Tax” means an amount determined by multiplying each of the “Applicable Rates” by the “Building Capital” and totaling the products.
“Building Capital” to the amount of capital which the Landlord determines, without duplication i.e. invested form time to time by the Landlord, the
owners of the Building or all of them in doing all or any of the following: acquiring, developing, expanding, redeveloping and improving the Lands
and the Building. Building Capital will not be increased by any Financing or refinancing unwept to the extent that the proceeds are invested directly
as Building Capital. An “Applicable Rate” is the capital tax rate specified form time to time under any (illegible) of Canada and any of the Province
which imposes a tax in respect of the capital of corporations. Each Applicable Rate will be considered to be the Rae that would apply if none of the
Landlord or the owners of the Building employed capital outside of the province.

7.

“Change of Control” means, in the case of any corporation or partnership, the transfer or issue by sale, assignment, subscription, transmission on
death, mortgage, charge, security interest, operation of law or otherwise, of any shares voting rights or Interest which would result in any change in
the effective control of such corporation or partnership unless such change occurs as a result of trading in the shares of a corporation listed on a
recognized stock exchange in Canada or the United States and then only so long as the Landlord receives assurance reasonably satisfactory to it that
there will be a continuity of management and of the business practices of such corporation notwithstanding such Change of Control.

8.

“Commencement Data” means the date on which the Term Commences under Section 1.02.

9.

“C.P.I.”(a) the Consumer Price Index (All items for Regional Cities, base year 1992=100) for the city in which the Building is located, or if there is
no Consumer Price Index for that city, for the city in Canada nearest the Building fro which there is a Consumer Price Index published by Statistics
Canada (or by a successor or other governmental agency, Including a provincial agency), or (b) If the Consumer Price Index is no longer published,
an index published in substitution for the Consumer Price Index or any replacement Index designated by the Landlord. If a substitution is required,
the Landlord will make the necessary conversions. If the base year for the Consumer Price Index (or the substituted or replacement index ) is
changed by Statistics Canada ( or by its successor or other governmental agency) the Landlord will make the necessary conversion.

10.

“Development” means the Lands more particularly described in Schedule “A” attached to this Lease or as such Lands may be altered, expanded or
reduced for time to time, and the Improvements, buildings, equipment and facilities erected thereon or situate from time to time therein, and located
within a portion of the area approximately bounded by 11th Avenue, Lorne Street, Saskatchewan Drive, and Hamilton Street, in the City of Regina,
Province of Saskatchewan. The Development includes those areas designated or intended by the Landlord to be leased for office, retail, service and
storage purposes, and those areas not so designated or intended, and all non-leas able areas, parking facilities and the shared common areas and
Facilities of the Development. The Development is known generally as “Cornwall Centre”.
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11.

An “Event of Default” shall occur whenever: (a) any Rent is in arrears and is not paid within 10 days for the first two failures to pay rent when
due during the Term and thereafter within 5 days after written demand by the Landlord; (b) the Tenant has breached any of its obligations in this
Lease (other than the payment of Rent) and: (I) falls to remedy such breach within 15 days (or such shorter period as may be provided in this Lease);
or, (II) If such breach cannot be reasonably remedied within 15 days or shorter period, the Tenant fails to commence to remedy such breach within
such 15 days or shorter period or thereafter fails to proceed diligently to remedy such breach;. In either case after notice in writing from the
Landlord; (c) the Tenant or any Indemnifier becomes bankrupt or insolvent or takes the benefit of any statue for bankrupt or insolvent debtors or
makes any proposal, assignment or arrangement with its creditors, or any steps are taken or proceedings commenced by any Person for the
dissolution, winding-up or other termination of the Tenant’s existence or the liquidation of its assets; (d) a trustee, receiver, receiver/manager or like
Person is appointed with respect to the business or assets of the Tenant or any Indemnifier; (e) the Tenant makes a sale in bulk of all or a substantial
portion of its assets other than in conjunction with a Transfer approved by the Landlord; (f) this Lease or any of the Tenant’s assets are taken under a
writ of execution; (g) the Tenant purports to make a Transfer other than in compliance with provisions of the Lease; (h) the Tenant abandons or
attempts to abandon the Premises or disposes of its goods so that there would not after such disposal be sufficient goods of the Tenant on the
Premises subject to distress to satisfy Rent for at least 3 months, or the Premises become vacant and unoccupied for a period of 10 consecutive days
or mere without the consent of the Landlord; (i) any Insurance policies covering any part of the Building or any occupant thereof are actually or
threatened to be cancelled or adversely changed Building or any occupant thereof are actually or threatened to be cancelled or adversely changed as a
result of any use or occupant thereof are actually or threatened to be cancelled or adversely changed as a result of any use or occupancy of the

Premises; or, (j) if an Event of Default as defined in this paragraph occurs with respect to any lease or agreement under which the Tenant occupies
other premises in the Building.
12.

“Fiscal Year” means: (i) the period of time commencing on the Commencement Date and ending on the last day of the next ensuing October; and
(ii) thereafter the period of time commencing on the first day of November and ending on the last day of the next ensuing October, or (iii) the fiscal
period designated by the Landlord from time to time.

13.

“Indemnifier” means the Person, if any, who has executed or agreed to execute an Indemnity Agreement substantially in the form attached to this
Lease as Schedule “E”, or any other indemnity agreement in favour of the Landlord who otherwise guarantees the Tenant’s obligations under this
Lease.

14.

“Landlord” means the party named as landlord on the first page of this lease.

15.

“Lands” means the lands situated in the City of Regina in the Province in which the Building is constructed, as more particularly described in
Schedule “A”, or as such lands may be expanded or reduced from time to time.

16.

“Leasehold Improvements” mean leasehold improvements in the Premises determined according to common law, and shall include, without
limitation, all fixtures, improvements, Installations, alterations and additions from time to time made, erected or installed in the Premises by or on
behalf of the Tenant or any previous occupant of the Premises, including signs and lettering, partitions, doors and hardware however affixed and
whether or not movable, all mechanical, electrical and utility installations and all carpeting and drapes with the exception only of furniture and
equipment not in the nature of fixtures.

17.

“Major Tenants” means any tenant of the Building leasing premises with a total Rentable Area equal to or greater than 10,000 square feet and any
other tenant of the Building designated by the Landlord as a Major Tenant.

18.

“Mortgage” means any and all mortgages, charges, debentures, security agreements, trust deeds, hypothecs or like instruments resulting from
financing, refinancing or collateral financing (including renewals or extensions thereof) made or arranged by the Landlord of its interest in all or any
part of the Building or Lands.

19.

“Mortgagee” means the holder of, or secured party under, any Mortgage and includes any trustee for bondholders.

20.

“Net Rent” means the annual rent payable by the Tenant under Section 2.02.

21.

“Net Rentable Area” means, In the case of premises consisting of part of a floor, the floor area bounded by the inside surface of the exterior glass,
the office olds of the corridor or other permanent partitions and the centre of partitions that separate the premises from adjoining leseable areas (if
any) without deductions for columns or projections but after making the same exclusions as are made in computing Rentable Area.

22.

“Normal Business Hours” means the hours from 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. on Mondays through Fridays unless any such day is a statutory holiday.

23.

“Operation Goods” means (without duplication) any accounts paid or payable whether by the Landlord or by others on behalf of the Landlord for
maintenance, operation, repair, replacement
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to and administration of the Lands and Building or allocated by the Landlord to the Lands and Building and for services provided generally to
tenants, calculated as if the Building were 100% occupied by tenants during the Term, including without limitation:
(a)

the cost of insurance which the Landlord is obligated or permitted to obtain under the Lease;

(b)

the cost of security, janitorial, landscaping, window cleaning, garbage removal and snow removal services;

(c)

the cost of heating, ventilating and air-conditioning;

(d)

the cost of fuel, steam, water, electricity, telephone and other utilities used in the maintenance, operation or administration of the Building,
including charges and impacts related to such utilities to the extent such costs, charges and impacts are not covered from other tenants;

(e)

salaries, wages and other amounts paid or payable for all personnel involved in the repair, maintenance, operation, leasing, on site
management, security, supervision or cleaning of the Building, including fringe benefits, unemployment and worker’s compensation
insurance premiums, pension plan contributions and other employment costs;

(f)

auditing, accounting, legal and other professional and consulting fee and disbursements;

(g)

the costs (i) of repairing, operating and maintaining the Building and the equipment serving the Building and of all replacements and
modifications to the Building or such equipment including these made by the Landlord in order to comply with laws or regulations affecting
the Building; (ii) incurred by the Landlord in providing and installing energy conservation equipment or systems and life safety systems;
(iii) incurred by the Landlord to make alterations, replacements or additions to the Building intended to reduce operating costs, improve the
operation of the Building or maintain its operation as a first class office building; and (iv) incurred to replace machinery or equipment
which by its nature requires periodic replacement; all to the extent that such costs are fully chargeable in the Fiscal Year in which they are
incurred in accordance with sound accounting principles;

(h)

the cost of the rental of all equipment, supplies, tools, materials and signs;

(i)

all costs incurred by the Landlord in administering, contesting or appealing Taxes or related assessments including legal, appraisal and
other professional fees, and administration and overhead costs;

(j)

Capital Tax;

(k)

depreciation or amortization of the costs referred to in paragraph 23(g) above so determined by the Landlord in accordance with sound
accounting principles, if such costs have not been charged fully in the Fiscal Year in which they are incurred;

(l)

interest calculated at 2 percentage points above the average daily prime bank commercial landing rate charged during such rental year by
any Canadian chartered bank designated from time to time by the Landlord upon the undepresisted or unamortized balance of the costs
referred to in paragraph 23 (k);

(m)

a reasonable fee for the administration and management of the Building applied to the total rents (including additional rents) received from
or payable by tenants of the Building, which fee shall be comparable to fees charged by trust companies for managing and administering
developments in the City of Regina similar to the Building but, in any case, will not be less than five percent (5%) of the total rents referred
to above;

Operating Costs shall exclude or have deducted from them as the case may be:
(aa)

all amounts which otherwise would be included in Operating Costs which are recovered by the Landlord from tenants (other than under
sections of their losses comparable to section 2.03 of this lease);

(bb)

such of the Operating Costs as are recovered from insurance proceeds, to the extent such recovery represents reimbursements for costs
previously included in Operating Costs;

(cc)

interest on debt and capital retirement of debt;

(dd)

ground rent payable by the Landlord to the owner of the Lands under any ground lease of the Lands;
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(ee)

Costs insured in maintaining and operating the Building may be attributed by the Landlord to the various components of the Building in
accordance with reasonable and current practices and on a basis consistent with the nature of the particular costs being attributed, and the
costs as attributed may be allocated to the tenants of such comparable accordingly;

(ff) the total sum paid toward the aggregate of the Operating Costs by Major Tenante.
24.

“Person” means any person, firm, partnership or corporation, or any group or combination of persons, firms, partnerships of corporations.

25.

“Premises” means the premises leased to the Tenant described is Section 1.01 and includes Leasehold Improvements in such premises.

26.

“Proportionate Share” means a fraction which has as its numerator the Rentable Area of the Promises and as its denominator the Total Rentable
Area of the Building excluding the Rentable Area of any promises leased to a Major Tenant.

27.

“Province” means the province in which the Building is located.

28.

“Rent” means the aggregate of Net Rent and Additional Rent.

29.

“Rentable Area” means floor rentable area calculated in accordance with BOMA Z65.1-1996(a) in the area of premises used or intended to be used
for office purpose and occupying an entire floor, the floor area bounded by the inside surface of the glass on the exterior walls, Including without
limitation, washrooms, telephone, electrical and janitorial electric and elevator lobbies; (b) in the case of primary used or intended to be used for
office purpose and consisting of part of a floor, the are a computed by multiplying the Net Rentable Area of such premises by a fraction, the
numerator of which is the aggregate floor area of the floor on which the Promises are located (using the measurement method net out in
subparagraph (a)) and the denominator of which is the aggregate Net Rentable Area of all office promises on such floor; and (c) in the case of
promises used or intended to be used for retail purposes, the Net Rentable Area thereof, in calculating Rentable Area, stairs, elevator shafts, flues,
stroke, pipe shafts, and vertical ducts with their own enclosing walls, any of which are used in common, which be excluded but no deductions or
exclusions shall be made for columns and projections necessary for the Building. The Landlord may for the purpose of calculating the Net Rent and
any Proportionate Share change the faster referred to in subparagraph (d) from time to tome to reflect the actual ratio of the aggregate floor area of
the floor on which the Premises are located using the measurement method set out in subparagraph (e)) to the aggregate Net Rentable Area of all
office promises on such floor.

30.

“Rules and Regulations” means the rules and regulations adopted and promulgated by the Landlord from time to time pursuant to Section 11.01.
The Rules and Regulations existing as at the Commencement Date are those set out in Schedule “D”.

31.

“Taxes” means all taxes, levels, charges, local Improvement rates assessments whatsoever assessed or charged against the Building Development
and the Lands or any part thereof by any lawful taxing authority and including any amounts assessed or charged in substitution for or in lieu or any
such taxes, but excluding only such taxes as capital gains taxes, corporate, income, profit or excess profit taxes to the extent such taxes are not levied
in lieu of any of the foregoing against the Building Development or Lands or the Landlord in respect thereof. Taxes shall in every instance be
calculated on the basis of the Total Rentable Area of the Building being fully assessed and taxed of prevailing commercial tax rates for occupied
space for the period for which taxes are being calculated.

32.

“Tenant” means the party named as tenant on the first page of this lease.

33.

“Term” means the period set out in Section 1.02.

34.

“Total Rentable Area of the Building” means the aggregate of the Rentable Area of each floor in the Building as if each floor to occupied by one
tenant, all as determined by the Architect. The Total Rentable Area of the Building shall: (a) exclude the main telephone, mechanical, electrical, and
other utility rooms and enclosures, public lobbies by the Architect from time to take account of any structural, functional or other change affecting
the same.

35.

“Trade Fixtures” means trade fixtures as determined at common law, but for greater certainty, shall not include: (a) heating, ventilating or air
conditioning systems, facilities and equipment in or serving the Premises; (b) floor coverings affixed to the floor of the Premises; (c) light fixtures;
(d) Internal stairways and doors; and (e) any fixtures, facilities, equipment or installations installed by or at the expense of the Landlord pursuant to
this Lease or otherwise.

36.

“Transfer” means an assignment of this Lease in whole or in part, a sublease of all or any part of the Premises, any transaction whereby the rights
of the Tenant under this Lease or to the Premises are transferred to another, any transaction by which any right of use or occupancy of all
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or any part of the Premises in conferred upon anyone, any mortgage, charge or encumbrance of this Lease or the Premises or any part thereof or
other arrangement under which either this Lease or the Premises become security for any indebtedness or other obligations and includes any
transaction or occurrence whatsoever (including but not limited to, expropriation, receivership proceedings, seizure by legal process and transfer by
operation of law), which has changed or might change the identity of the Persons having lawful use or occupancy of any part of Premises.
37.

“Transferee” means the Person or Persons to whom a Transfer is or is to be made.
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SCHEDULE “D” - RULES AND REGULATIONS
1.

Life Safety (a) The Tenant shall not do or permit anything to be done in the Premises, or bring or keep anything therein which will in any way
increase the risk of fire or the rate of fire insurance on the Building or on property kept therein, or obstruct or interfere with the rights of other tenants
or in any way injure or annoy them or the Landlord, or violate or act at variance with the laws relating to fires or with regulations of the Fire
Department, or with any insurance upon the Lands or Building or in any part thereof, or violate or act in conflict with any statutes, rules and
ordinances governing health standards or with any other statute or municipal by-law. (b) No flammable oils or other flammable, dangerous or
explosive materials save those approved in writing by the Landlord’s Insurers shall be kept or permitted to be kept in the Premises.

2.

Security (a) The Landlord shall permit the Tenant and the Tenant’s employees and all Persons lawfully requiring communication with them to
have the use, during Normal Business Hours operating hours of the Tenant, in common with others entitled thereto, of the main entrance and the
stairways, corridors, elevator escalators, or other mechanical means of access leading to the Building and the Premises, At times other than during
Normal Business Hours operating hours of the Tenant the Tenant and the employees of the Tenant shall have access to the Building and to the
Premises only in accordance with the Rules and Regulations and shall be required to satisfactorily identify themselves and to register in any book
which may at the Landlord’s option be kept by the Landlord for such purpose. If identification is not satisfactory, the Landlord is entitled to prevent
the Tenant or the Tenant’s employees or other Persons lawfully requiring communication with the Tenant from having access to the Building and to
the Premises. In addition, the Landlord is not required to open the door to the Premises for the purpose of permitting entry therein to any Person not
having a key to the Premises. (b) The Tenant shall not place or cause to be placed any additional locks upon any doors of the Premises without the
approval of the Landlord. Two keys shall be supplied to the Tenant for each entrance door to the Premises and all locks shall be Building standard to
permit access by the Landlord’s master key. If additional keys are required, they must be obtained from the Landlord at the cost of the Tenant. Keys
or other means of access for entrance doors to the Building will not be issued without the written authority of the Landlord.

3.

Housekeeping (a) The Tenant shall permit window cleaners to clean the windows of the Premises during Normal Business Hours. (b) The Tenant
shall not place any debris, garbage trash or refuse or permit same to be placed or left in or upon any part of the Lands or Building outside of the
Premises, other than in a location provided by the Landlord specifically for such purposes, and the Tenant shall not allow any undue accumulation of
any debris, garbage, trash or refuse in or outside of the Premises If the Tenant uses perishable articles or generates wet garbage, the Tenant shall
provide refrigerated storage facilities suitable to the Landlord. (c) The Tenant shall not place or maintain any supplies, or other articles in any
vestibule or entry of the Premises, on the adjacent footwalks or elsewhere on the exterior of the Premises or elsewhere on the Lands or Building.
(d) The sidewalks, entrances passages, escalators, elevators and staircases shall not be obstructed or used by the Tenant, Its agents, servants,
contractors, invitees or employees for any purpose other than ingress to and egress from the Premises and the Building. The Landlord reserves entire
control of all parts of the Lands and Building employed for the common benefit of the tenants and without restricting the generality of the foregoing.
the sidewalks, entrances, corridors and passages not within the Premises, washrooms, lavatories, air conditioning closets, fan rooms, janitor’s
closets, electrical closets and other closets, stairs, escalators, elevator shafts, flues, stacks, pipe shafts and ducts and shall have the right to place such
signs and appliances therein, as it deems advisable, provided that ingress to and egress from the Premises is not unduly impaired thereby. (e) The
Tenant shall not cause or permit: any waste or damage to the Premises: any overloading of the floors or the utility, electrical or mechanical
facilities of the Premises: any nuisance in the Premises: or any use or manner of use causing a hazard or annoyance to other occupants of the
Building or to the Landlord.

4.

Receiving, Shipping, Movement of Articles (a) The Tenant shall not receive or ship articles of any kind except through facilities and designated
doors and at hours designated by the Landlord and under the supervision of the Landlord. (b) Hand trucks, carryalls or similar appliances shall only
be used in the Building with the consent of the Landlord and shall be equipped with rubber tires, slide guards and such other safeguards as the
Landlord requires. (c) The Tenant, its agents, servants, contractors, invitees or employees, shall not bring in or take out, position, construct,
install or move any safe, business machinery or other heavy machinery or equipment or anything liable to injure or destroy any part of the Building,
Including the Premises, without first obtaining the consent in writing of the Landlord, In giving such consent, the Landlord shall have the right in its
sole discretion, to prescribe the weight, permitted and the position thereof, the use and design of planks, skids or platforms, and to distribute the
weight thereof. All damage done to the Building, including the Premises, by moving or using any such heavy equipment or other office equipment

or furniture shall be repaired at the expense of the Tenant. The moving of all heavy equipment or other office furniture shall occur only by prior
arrangement with the Landlord. The cost of such moving shall be paid by the Tenant. Safes and other heavy office equipment and machinery shall
be moved through the halls and corridors only in a manner expressly
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approved by the Landlord. No freight or bulky matter of any description will be received into any part of the Building, including the Premises, or
carried in the elevators except during hours approved by the Landlord.
5.

Preventions of injury to premises (a) It shall be the duty of the Tenant to assist and co-operate with the Landlord in preventing injury to the
Premises. (b) The Tenant shall not deface or mark any part of the Building, including the Premises, and shall not drive nails, spikes, hooks or
screws into the walls, floors, ceilings or woodwork of any part of the Building, including the Premises (except for the purpose of hanging pictures),
or bore, drill or cut into the walls, floors, ceilings or woodwork of any part of the Building including the Premises, in any manner or for any reason,
(c) If the Tenant desires telegraphic or telephonic connections, the Landlord, in its sole discretion, may direct the electricians as to where and how
the wires are to be introduced. No gas pipe or electric wire will be permitted which has not been ordered or authorized by the Landlord. No outside
radio or television antenna shall be allowed on any part of the Premises without authorization in writing by the Landlord.

6.

Windows Except for the proper use of approved blinds and drapes, the Tenant shall not cover, obstruct or affix any object or material to any of the
skylights and windows that reflect or admit light into any part of the Building, including without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the
application of solar films.

7.

Washrooms (a) The Landlord shall permit the Tenant and the employee of the Tenant in common with other entitled thereto, to use the washrooms
on the floor of the Building on which the Premises are situated or, in lieu thereof, these washrooms designated by the Landlord, save and except
when the general water supply may be turned off from the public main or at such other times when repair and maintenance undertaken by the
Landlord shall necessitate the non-use of the facilities. (b) The water Glossts and other apparatus shall not be used for any purposes other than these
for which they were intended, and no sweepings, rubbish, rage ashes or other substances shall be thrown into them. Any damage resulting from
misuse shall be borne by the Tenant by whom or by whose agents, servants, invitees, or employees such damage is caused.

8.

Use of Premises (a) No one shall use the Premises for sleeping apartments or residential purposes, or for the storage of personal effects or articles
other than those required for business purposes. (b) No cooking or heating of any foods or liquids (other than the heating of water or coffee in
coffee makers or kettles and the heating of food in a microwave oven) shall be permitted in the Premises without the written consent of the
Landlord. (c) The Tenant shall not install or permit the installation or use of any machine dispensing goods for sale in the Premises or the Building
or permit the delivery of any food or beverage to the Premises without the written approval of the Landlord or in contravention of the Rules and
Regulations. (d) The Tenant shall not permit or allow any odours, vapours, steam, water, vibrations, noises or other undesirable effects to emanate
from the Premises or any equipment or installation therein which, in the Landlord’s opinion, are objectionable or cause any interference with the
safety, comfort or convenience of the Building to the Landlord or the occupants and tenants thereof or their agents, servants, invitees or employees.

9.

Canvassing, Soliciting, Peddling Canvassing, soliciting and peddling in or about the Lands and Building are prohibited.

10.

Bicycles No bicycles or other vehicles shall be brought within any part of the Lands or Building without the consent of the Landlord.

11.

Animals and Birds No animals or birds shall be brought into any part of the Lands or Building without the consent of the Landlord.
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Signs and Advertising The Tenant shall not paint, affix, displaying or cause to be painted, affixed or displayed, any sign, picture, advertisement,
notice, lettering or decoration on any part of the outside of the Building or in the interior of the Premises which is visible from the outside of the
Building. The Landlord will prescribe a uniform pattern and location of identification signs for tenants, to be placed on the outside of the Premises,
and the Tenant shall not paint, affix, display or cause to be painted, affixed or displayed any sign, picture, advertisement, notice, lettering or
decoration on the outside of the Premises for exterior view without the written consent of the Landlord. Any such signs shall remain the property of
the Tenant and shall be maintained at the Tenant’s sole cost and expense. At the expiration of the Term or earlier termination of this Lease, the
Tenant shall remove any such sign, picture, advertisement, notice lettering or decoration from the Premises at the Tenant’s expense and shall
promptly repair all damage caused by any such removal. The Tenant’s obligation to observe and perform this covenant shall survive the expiration
of the Term or earlier termination of the Lease.

13.

Directory Board The Tenant shall be entitled at the expense to have its name shown upon the directory board of the Building and the Landlord shall
design the style of such identification and shall determine the number of spaces available on the directory board for each tenant. The directory board
shall be located in on area designated by the Landlord in the main lobby of the Building.
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SCHEDULE “E” — INDEMNITY AGREEMENT
THIS AGREEMENT is dated the 4th day of February, 2003.
BETWEEN:
CORNWALL CENTRE LIMITED
(the “Landlord”)
OF THE FIRST PART
- and-

STARTEK INC.
100 Garfield Street
Denver, Colorado 80206
(the “Indemnifier”)
OF THE SECOND PART
In order to induce the Landlord to enter into the lease (the “Lease”) dated February 4th, 2003 made between the Landlord and STARTEK CANADA
SERVICES LTD. as Tenant, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency whereof is hereby acknowledged, the indemnifier
hereby covenants and makes the following indemnity and agreement (the “Indemnity”) with and in favour of the Landlord:
1.

The indemnifier hereby agrees with the Landlord that at all times during the Term and any extension or renewal of the Term it will; (a) make the due
and punctual payment of all Net Rent, Additional Rent, monies, charges and other amounts of any kind whatsoever payable under the Lease by the
Tenant whether to the Landlord or otherwise and whether the Lease has been disaffirmed or disclaimed; (b) effect prompt and complete performance
of all and singular the terms, covenants and conditions contained in the Lease on the part of the Tenant to be kept, observed and performed; and (c)
indemnify and save harmless the Landlord from any loss, costs or damages arising out of any failure by the Tenant to pay the aforesaid Net Rent,
Additional Rent, monies, charges or other amounts due under the Lease or resulting from any failure by the Tenant to observe or perform any of the
terms, covenants and conditions contained in the Lease.

2.

This Indemnity is absolute, unconditional and irrevocable and the obligations of the Indemnifier shall not be released, discharged, mitigated,
impaired or affected by; (a) any extension of time, indulgences or modifications which the Landlord extends to or makes with the Tenant in respect
of the performance of any of the obligations of the Tenant under the Lease; (b) any waiver by or failure of the Landlord to enforce any of the terms,
covenants and conditions contained in the Lease; (c) any Transfer of the Lease by the Tenant or by any trustee, receiver or liquidator; (d) any consent
which the Landlord gives to any such Transfer; (e) any amendment to the Lease or waiver by the Tenant of any of its rights under the Lease; or (f)
provided there has been an Event of Default under the Lease which has not been cured, the expiration of the Term.

3.

The Indemnifier hereby expressly waives notice of the acceptance of this Agreement and all notice of non-performance, non-payment or nonobservance on the part of the Tenant of the terms, covenants and conditions contained in the Lease. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing,
any notice which the Landlord desires to give to the Indemnifier shall be sufficiently given if delivered personally or by commercial delivery service
with receipt acknowledge to the Indemnifier or if mailed by prepaid registered or certified post addressed to the Indemnifier at the Premises, at the
address set out above and every such notice is deemed to have been given upon the day it was so delivered personally or by commercial delivery
service, or if mailed, forty eight (48) hours following the date of mailing. The Indemnifier may designate by notice in writing a substitute address
for that set forth above and thereafter notices shall be directed to such substitute address. If two or more Persons are named as Indemnifier, any
notice given hereunder or under the Lease shall be sufficiently given if delivered or mailed in the foregoing manner to any one of such Persons.

4.

In the event of a default under the Lease or under this Agreement, the Indemnifier waives any right to require the Landlord to; (a) proceed against
the Tenant or pursue any rights or remedies against the Tenant with respect to the Lease; (b) proceed against or exhaust any security of the Tenant
held by the Landlord; or (c) pursue any other remedy whatsoever in the Landlord’s power. The Landlord has the right to enforce this Indemnity
regardless of any release or discharge of the Tenant by the Landlord or by others or by operation of any law.

5.

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the liability of the Indemnifier under this Indemnity is not and is not deemed to have been waived,
released, discharged, impaired or affected by reason of the release or discharge of the Tenant in any receivership, bankruptcy, winding-up or other
creditors’ proceedings or the rejection, disaffirmance or disclaimer of the Lease in any
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proceeding and shall continue with respect to the periods prior thereto and thereafter, for and with respect to the Term as if the Lease had not been
disaffirmed or disclaimed, and in furtherance hereof, the indemnifier agrees, upon any such disclaimer, that the Indemnifier shall, at the option of the
Landlord, become the Tenant of the Landlord upon the same terms and conditions as are contained in the Lease, applied mutatis mutandis. The
liability of the Indemnifier shall not be affected by any repossession of the Premises by the Landlord, provided, however, that the net payments
received by the Landlord after deducting all costs and expenses of repossessing and reletting the Premises shall be credited from time to time by the
Landlord against the indebtedness of the Indemnifier hereunder and the Indemnifier shall pay any balance owing to the Landlord from time to time
within ten (10) business days after demand.
6.

No action proceedings brought or instituted under this Indemnity and no recovery in pursuance thereof shall be a bar or defence to any further action
or proceeding which may be brought under this Indemnity by reason of any further default hereunder or in the performance and observance of the
terms, covenants and conditions contained in the Lease.

7.

No modification of this Indemnity shall be effective unless the same is in writing and is executed by both the Indemnifier and by two representatives
of the Landlord.

8.

The Indemnifier shall, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, be bound by this Indemnity in the same manner as though the Indemnifier
were the Tenant named in the Lease.

9.

If two or more individuals, corporations, partnerships or other business associations (or any combination of two or more thereof) execute this
Indemnity as Indemnifier, the liability of each such individual, corporation, partnership or other business association hereunder is joint and several,
in like manner, if the Indemnifier named in the Indemnity is a partnership or other business association, the members of which are, by virtue of
statutory or general law, subject to personal liability, the liability of each such member is joint and several.

10.

All of the terms, covenants and conditions of this Indemnity extend to and are binding upon the Indemnifier, his or its heirs, executors,
administrators, successors and assigns, as the case may be, and enure to the benefit of and may be enforced by the Landlord, its successors and
assigns, as the case may be, and any Mortgagee of all or any part of the Lands or Building.

11.

This Indemnity shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the Province.

12.

Wherever in this Indemnity reference made to either the Landlord or the Tenant, the reference is deemed to apply also to the heirs, executors,
successors and assigns and Transferees of the Tenant named in the Lease, and the successors and assigns of the Landlord. Any assignment by the
Landlord of any of its interests in the Lease operates automatically as an assignment to such assignee of the benefit of this Indemnity.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Landlord and the Indemnifier have executed this Indemnity.
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
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CORNWALL CENTRE LIMITED
(Landlord)
Per: /s/ B. Murray
Authorized Signature
Per: /s/ R. Wretschke
Authorized Signature
I/We have authority to bind the corporation.
STARTEK INC.
(Indemnifier)
Per: /s/ David I. Rosenthal
Authorized Signature
Per:
Authorized Signature
I/We have authority to bind the corporation.

Exhibit 10.45
CARDWELL COMPANIES COMMERCIAL REALTY ONE
StarTek
Lease Summary Decatur, Illinois
Project:

Fairview Park Plaza

Premises:

37,500 SF at 1505 W. King, Decatur, Illinois 62522

Landlord:

Cardwell Companies, Inc.

Tenant:
Rent:

StarTek USA, Inc. mo
$5.78 or $18,062.50/1~ao. payable in monthly installments to Fairview Park Plaza, LLC,
101 S. Main Street, Suite 101;
Decatur, Illinois 62523

Term:

Seven (7) years commencing upon occupancy

Options
Renewal:

Two (2), three (3) year terms with six (6) month prior notice
Option #1: $6.50/SF
Option #2: $7.25/SF

Expansion:

Adjacent beauty supply store at same rent

Allowance:

$375,000 towards construction costs paid upon receipt of invoices

Repairs:

Tenant to maintain HVAC units

Signage Rights:

Front of building

Operating Expenses/Taxes:

Tenant to pay proportionate (16.29%) of common area costs, real estate taxes and insurance, including a management
fee of 16% of the common area costs, estimated to be $2.22/sf

Parking:

350 spaces, at no cost, per Exhibit C

Alterations:

Tenant may make alterations of less than $20,000 without Landlord approval

Sublease/Assignment:

Tenant may sublease/assign to a subsidiary without Landlord approval

Holding Over:

150% of rent

Security Deposit:

None

Restoration:

None

Training Space:

101 Park at no cost through 8/03.

Landlord Improvements:

Roof, storefront windows remove/patch staircase/escalator, replace main entrance, provide separate electrical service
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101 S. Main St.
Suite 101
Decatur, IL 62523
Ph. (217)877-1300
FAIRVIEW PARK PLAZA COMMERCIAL LEASE
THIS LEASE, made and entered into this
day of February, 2003, by and between Cardwell Companies Inc. d/b/a Cardwell Companies Commercial
Realty One, agent for Fairview Park Plaza, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company, hereinafter referred to as “Lessor” and STARTEK USA, INC.,
hereinafter referred to as “Lessee”,
WlTNESSETH
THAT Lessor, for and in consideration of the covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth to be kept and performed by the Lessee, demises and leases to
the Lessee and the Lessee does hereby take, and accept and rent from the Lessor, the premises hereinafter described for the period, at the rental and upon the

terms and conditions hereafter set forth.
1. Demised Premises. The premises demised and leased hereunder consist of the building and land described as follow, to wit:
Approximately 37,500 square feet located at 1505 W. King, Decatur, Illinois, 62522, commonly known as Fairview Park Plaza. (See Exhibit “A”)
2, “Term of Lease. This lease shall have a term of Seven (7) years, commencing on the nineteenth (19~n) day of May, 2003 or when the City of
Decatur issues a Certificate of Occupancy, whichever event occurs later. Lessee shall have access to the leased premises for the purpose of completing tenant
finish improvements on date of executed Commercial Lease agreement. Upon delivery of possession of the Leased Premises to Lessee, Lessee shall execute a
letter of understanding acknowledging (i) the Commencement Date of this Lease. and (ii) that Lessee has accepted the Leased Premises for occupancy and
that the condition of the Leased Premises (including any Leasehold improvements constructed there only and the Building was at the time satisfactory and in
conformity with the provisions of this Lease in all respects. Such letter of understanding shall become a part of this Lease. If Lessee takes possession of and
occupies the Leased Premises Lessee shall be deemed to have accepted the Leased Premises as described above, even though Lessee may not have executed
the letter of understanding. Lessor shall remedy/any latent defect(s) discovered within ninety (90) days of the Commencement Date. Lessee agrees that
notification of the latent defect must be in writing from lessee and received by Lessor within ninety (90) days of the rent Commencement Date. The written
notice must set forth any and all problems related to the latent defect.
3

2.1. Option to Extend. Provided that Lessee is not then in default of any of its obligations hereunder beyond any applicable period of notice and/or
cure, Lessee shall have the option to extend the Lease Term for Two (2) additional periods of Three (3) years (each an “Extension Term”). The Extension
Terms shall be upon the same terms and conditions contained in the Lease for the Lease Term except the Rental shall be adjusted as set forth below and there
shall be no further Option to Extend beyond the second extension term. Lessee shall exercise such option by delivering to Lessor, no later than six months (6)
prior to the expiration of the Lease Term, written notice of Lessee’s desire to extend the Lease Term. Unless Lessor otherwise agrees in writing, Lessee’s
failure to timely exercise such option shall waive it and any succeeding option. If Lessee properly exercises its option to extend, Lessor and Lessee shall
execute en amendment to the Lease reflecting the terms and conditions of the Extension Term. The Annual Rental for the Extension Terms are set forth on
Exhibit B. The Rental shall be paid at the same time and in the same manner as provided in the Lease,
3. Rental. Lessee shall pay to the Lessor as rental for the premises the sum of to be determined as descried in Exhibit “A” per year payable in
monthly installments of and the rent shall be due on the first (1st) day of each and every month throughout the term of the Lease without demand. After 10
days, there will be a late charge of $50.00. After three late rent occurrences during the Term of the Lease that are not cured within ten (10) days of the
Tenant’s receipt of written notice of non-payment from Landlord, Lessor will have the right to terminate the lease and the Lessee shall agree to vacate the
premises and lease space within 10 days of written notice to terminate. The rent payable hereunder shall be made payable to Fairview Park Plaza, LLC. 101 S.
Main St., Suite 101, Decatur, Illinois 62523.
4. Additional Rental. Lessee covenants and agrees to pay as additional rental the following:
A. Repairs. Lessee shall keep and maintain, in good working order, and repair (which repair shall include all necessary replacements, capital
expenditures, and compliance with all Laws now or hereafter adopted) the Premises and every part thereof and any and all appurtenances thereto wherever
located, including, but without limitation: See items marked on Exhibit A. Lessor shall pay for HVAC replacement, maintenance and replacement of
foundation, exterior walls and roof, if necessary. Lessee, at its expense, shall obtain a preventative maintenance contract on the HVAC System which shall be
subject to Lessor’s reasonable approval. Lessee shall provide Lessor with a copy of the preventative maintenance contract no later than thirty (30) days after
the Commencement Date. The preventative maintenance contract shall provide for the inspection and maintenance of the HVAC System on not less than a
semi-annual basis. Lessee shall at its own expense buy and pay for all materials and replacement of any light bulbs.
B. Insurance. Lessor shall maintain fire end extended coverage insurance (or other special broad form coverage) together with insurance against
vandalism and malicious mischief, covering the building or buildings within the shopping center, for their fell insurable value on a replacement cost basis
without deduction for depreciation. The policy year shall mean the twelve-month period covered by Lessor’s insurance policy or policies. During the term of
this Lease, as additional rent, Lessee shall pay its pro rata share of the premiums for the insurance to be maintained
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by Lessor in accordance with this paragraph, including liability coverage. Such pro rata share be computed pursuant to the terms of this lease. Lessee shall, at
its expense, maintain fire and extended coverage insurance on its fixtures, equipment, merchandise and other personal property in or upon the premises for its
full insurable value on a replacement cost basis. Lessee shall also be responsible for acquiring any business interruption insurance Lessee desires.
C. Common Areas. As used in this Lease, the term “Common Areas” shall include the parking areas, ingress, egress and access roads and drives,
sanitary sewers and utility lines, drainage system, walkways and sidewalks, landscaped and planted areas of the Building, and other facilities designed for use
in common by ‘occupants of the Building and their agents, employees, customers, invitees and licensees.
D. Lessee’s Pro-Rata Share. As additional rent for the initial term of this Lease and any renewal thereof Lessee covenants and agrees to pay its prorata share of Common Area costs, Real Estate Taxes, and Insurance, Common Area costs shall include all of - Lessor’s cost and expenses of every kind and
nature of operating, managing, equipping, lighting, decorating, repairing, securing, cleaning, replacing, striping, reconstructing, providing security, insuring,
and maintaining the Common Areas, keeping the same cleaned of snow, ice, and water and providing liability insurance therefore, and administrative costs
equal to 16% of all other Common Area costs. This sum shall be paid monthly.
Lessee’s pro-rata share shall be a fraction of said costs, the numerator of which shall be the number of square feet in the Premises (the leasehold space) and
the denomination of which shall be the total useable area in the Building (the entire shopping center commonly known as Fairview Park Plaza, LLC,
consisting of approximately 230,172 square feet.) It is understood that Lessor may cause any or all of said services to be provided by an independent
contractor or contractors. Lessee’s pro-rata share of the Common Area Costs. Real Estate Taxes, and Insurance shall be paid in advance n monthly
installments on the first day of each calendar month commencing on the Rental Commencement Date. The estimate of the Common Area Costs, Real Estate
Taxes, and Insurance for such calendar year shall, to the extent possible, be based upon the actual Common Area Costs. Real Estate Taxes, and Insurance for

the preceding calendar year adjusted, to reflect reasonably anticipated increases or decreases in operating costs and expenses. The Lessors written estimate of
the Common Area Costs Real Estate Taxes, and Insurance for each calendar year shall be given to Lessee on or before the Rental Commencement Date and,
thereafter, on or before December 15 immediately preceding each calendar year, On or before April 1 Lessor shall provide Lessee a statement showing in
reasonable detail the actual Common Area Costs, Real Estate Taxes, and Insurance paid or incurred by Lessor in the preceding calendar year, such statement
to be prepared by Lessor in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and procedures; and within fifteen (15) days of such date, Lessee shall
pay Lessor any deficiency, Lessor shall pay Lessee any overpayment, of Lessee’s pro-rata share of the Common Area Costs for the preceding calendar year.
5. Use of the Premises. The Premises shall be used for the purpose of carrying on a Call Center. Lessee shall operate its business in the Premises
under the trade name: StarTek. The premises shall not be used for any other purpose. Lessee shall not engage in the retail sale of drugs, pharmaceuticals,
health and beauty aids or drug sundries, or alcoholic beverages to be consumed off the premises, or sell sub style sandwiches or deli-style sandwiches where
over 25% of said sales are of the sub style or deli-style sandwich type.
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5.1 Parking. Lessee shall not be entitled to use the parking area for the common use of the tenants of the shopping center other than what is described
in Exhibit C. Lessee shall have the exclusive right to use, for its intended purposes as described in Exhibit C, such parking area for itself, its employees,
agents, invitees and licensees, subject, however, to the rights given Lessor an~ the other tenants for easements, right of way and deliveries. Lessor shall have
the right to change the size, location, elevation or nature of the parking area. Lessee may not use the parking area for any other purpose without the express
written consent of the Lessor, which consent shall be completely discretionary. For example, no signage or tent sales or use of the parking lot for similar
purposes is allowable without the express written consent of Lessor.
Lessor shall have the right with respect to the parking area:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

To change the entrance, exits, driving lanes and parking areas as Lessor deems necessary as long as the number of spaces remain the same.
To close temporarily or permanently all of any portion thereof;
To establish, modify or enforce reasonable rules or regulations with respect to the use of said area and Lessee agrees that it, its
concessionaires and their respective employees, agents, invitees and licensees shall complex with. such rules and regulations upon notice
thereof.
Landlord shall make every reasonable attempt not to change Tenant’s parking areas in Exhibit C or change the means of access to them.
Further, Landlord shall use reasonable efforts to accommodate Lessee’s request for additional parking.

5.2 Employee Parking. Area. Lessee agrees that it, any subtenant and their respective officers, employees and agents will park their automobiles and
other vehicles only where and as permitted by Lessor. Lessee and Lessee’s employees are allowed to park in the designated parking areas only that is shown
in Exhibit C..
6. Construction of Leasehold Improvements. Lessee has personally inspected the Leased Premises and accepts the same “as is” without
representation or warranty by Lessor of any kind and with the understanding that Lessor shall have no responsibility with respect thereto except to construct
in a good and workmanlike manner the improvements designated as Lessor’s obligations in the attached Exhibit E,. so that the Leased Premises will be
available for Lessee’s occupancy by the Commencement Date, unless prevented by causes beyond Lessor’s reasonable control.
7. “For Lease” Signs. If Lessee has not exercised its option to extend, the Lessor may place on the Premises notices or signs indicating that the
Premises are “For Rent” or “For Lease” or the like, during the last six months of the Lease term. Lessee shall not interfere in any manner with these notices or
with Lessor’s showing of the Premises,
8.
Casualties. If the Premises or the building in which the Premises are located is substantially or totally damaged by fire, or other casualty,
Lessor may terminate this Lease as of the date of such destruction by written notice to Lessee within sixty (60) days after such destruction. If Lessor does not
elect to so terminate this Lease, or if the extent of damage is not substantial Lessor shall promptly, and with reasonable diligence restore the building and
Premises. The rent and additional rent shall abate on account of any damage in proportion to the area of the Premises rendered untenantable until the Premises
is restored. If the Premises is not restored in
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accordance with this paragraph within 180 days after such damage or destruction, then Lessee may terminate this Lease by written notice to Lessor within 210
days after such damage.
9.

Condemnation.

A.
Total or Substantial Partial Condemnation. If the whole of the Premises shall be taken for any public or quasi-public use under any statute
or by right of eminent domain, or by private purchase in lieu thereof, then. this Lease shall terminate as of the date that rifle shall be taken. If any part of the
Premises shall be so taken as to render the remainder thereof unusable-for the conduct of Lessee’s business in the Premises, then Lessor or Lessee may
terminate this Lease on thirty (30) days’ notice to the other given within ninety (90) days after the date of such taking. If this Lease shall terminate or be
terminated, then the rent shall be pro-rated to the date of the taking.
B.
Partial Taking Where Lease Not Terminated. If any part of the Premises shall be so taken and this Lease shall not terminate or be
terminated as provided in Paragraph 9.A, then the rent shall be equitably apportioned according to the space so taken, Lessor shall, at its expense, restore the
remaining portion of the Premises to the extent necessary to make the Premises reasonably suitable for the purposes for which the Premises are leased, and
shall make all repairs to .the building in which the Premises are located to the extent necessary to constitute the remaining portion of the building a complete
architectural unit.
C.
Award. If the Premises or any part thereof is taken, then Lessee shall have no claim against Lessor, Lessee shall have no claim or right to
any portion of the amount awarded as damages or paid as a result of such taking and the full amount of such award made by the taking authority shall be paid

to and retained by Lessor, free of any claim by Lessee to any portion thereof. All rights of Lessee, if any, are hereby assigned by Lessee to Lessor. Lessee
shall have no claim against Lessor for the value of the unexpired term of this Lease and shall have no right or claim to any part of the award,
10. Alterations. Lessee shall not make any alterations, improvements or additions to the Premises unless Lessor shall first have given written
approval of the plans and specifications therefor, and shall have been insured, to Lessor’s satisfaction, against any cost or damage incident thereto, and unless
Lessee shall first have secured all necessary building and other permits. All such alternations, modifications, additions or installations, when made, shall
become the property of Lessor unless Lessor directs Lessee to remove said alteration(s) at the end of this Lease, excluding initial improvements set forth
herein, and shall remain upon and be surrendered with said Premises as a part thereof at the end of the term of this Lease. Lessor agrees that it will not
unreasonably withhold its consent to any such alterations, modifications, additions or installations. If the Lessee should make any alternations, the Lessee
hereby agrees to indemnify and defend the Lessor from any liability as a result thereof. Upon any expiration or termination of this Lease, Lessee shall be
entitled to remove any and all furniture and equipment not belonging to Lessor. Cosmetic alternations amounting to less than Twenty Thousand Dollars
($20,000.00) do not require Lessor’s Consent
11. Signs. Lessee agrees not to erect or install any signs, decorations, or anything of any kind on the exterior of the Premises, not to place any
advertising signs or posters on the interior of the show windows, and not to change the color of the exterior painting, without the prior written approval of
Lessor, which will not be unreasonably
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withheld. Lessee shall obtain all requisite permits and licenses for all signs approved by Lessor and all such signs comply with all requirements of all
authorities having jurisdiction over the Premises.
12. Cleanliness and Waste. Lessee shall keep the demised premises and the walks adjacent thereto at all times in a neat, clean and sanitary condition,
waste, or debris and shall neither commit nor permit any waste or nuisance therein.
13. Sublease. Lessee shall not sublet or assign the demised premises except by written permission and consent of Lessor, which said consent or
permission shall not be unreasonably withheld, references elsewhere herein to assignees notwithstanding, and any such subleasing or assignment, even with
the approval of Lessor, shall not relieve the Lessee from liability for payment of the rental herein provided, or from the obligation to keep arid be bound by
the terms, conditions and covenants of this Lease. The acceptance of rent from any other person shall not be deemed to have waived any of the provision of
this paragraph or to be a consent to the assignment of this Lease of subletting of the demised premises. Lessee may assign and/or sublet the demised premises
to a subsidiary successor of Lessee, upon the submission by the subtenant or assignee of a financial statement that is acceptable to Lessor. Upon receipt of a
financial statement that establishes that the subtenant and/or assignee is a creditworthy tenant, Lessor shall consent to the assignment or subletting of this
Lease. If Lessee remains liable for all of Lessee’s obligation herein, Lessor’s approval is not required.
14. Indemnification for General Liabilities.
Lessee shall indemnify, defend and hold Lessor harmless from any and all claims and damages, including reasonable attorney’s fees and costs,
arising from Lessee’s use of the Demised Premises or the conduct of its business or from any activity, work, or thing done, permitted, or suffered by Lessee in
or about the Demised Premises and/or the building in which the Demised Premises are located, unless caused by Lessor or Lessor’s agents or employees.
A. Lessee shall further indemnity, defend, and hold Lessor harmless from any and all claims and damages, including reasonable attorney’s fees and
costs, arising from any breach or default in the terms of this Lease Agreement. arising from any act, negligence, default, or omission of Lessee or Lessee’s
agents, employees, or invitees, and from and against any and all costs, reasonable attorney’s fees, expenses, and liabilities incurred in or about such claim or
any action or preceding brought such claim.
B. Lessor shall indemnify, defend, and hold Lessee harmless from any and all claims and damages, including reasonable attorney’s fees and costs
arising from Lessor’s construction of the premises or the conduct of its agents or from any activity, work, or thing done, permitted, or suffered by Lessor in or
about the premises or the building in which the premises are located, unless caused by Lessee or Lessee’s agents or employees.
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C. Lessor shall further indemnify, defend, and hold Lessee harmless from any and all claims and damages, including reasonable attorney’s fees and
costs, arising from any breach or default in the terms of this Lease Agreement arising from any act, knowledge, or default or occasion of Lessor or Lessor’s
agents, employees, or invitees, and from and against any other costs, reasonable attorney’s fees, and liabilities incurred in or about such claim or any action or
preceding brought by such claim.
15 Holding Over If Lessee retains possession of the Leased Premises after the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, Lessee shall become a
lessee from month to month at 150% of the monthly rental installment in effect at the end of the Lease Term (plus Additional Rent as provided in paragraph 4
hereof), and otherwise upon the terms, covenants and conditions herein specified, so far as applicable. Acceptance by Lessor of rent after such expiration of
earlier termination shall not result in a renewal of this Lease, and Lessee shall vacate and surrender the Leased Premises to Lessor upon Lessee being given
thirty (30) days prior written notice from Lessor to vacate.
16. Security Deposit. Lessee’s security deposit of ten dollar which the undersigned acknowledge has been paid upon the execution of this Lease.
17. Lessor’s Right to Inspect. Lessor and its agents shall have free access to the demised premises during all reasonable hours subject to twenty-four
hours (24) prior notice from Landlord for the purpose of examining the same and to ascertain if they are in good repair, to make reasonable repairs which the
Lessor may be required to make hereunder and to exhibit the same to prospective purchasers or Lessees.
18. Notices. All notices required under this Lease shall be deemed to have been properly served if delivered in writing personally or by registered
mail to the Lessor at 101 S. Main St., Suite 101, Decatur, Illinois 62523 or such other place or places as they may designate in writing from time to time.
Notices to Lessee shall be deemed to have been properly served if delivered in writing personally or by registered mail to the Lessee at STARTEK USA,

INC., 100 Garfield Street, Denver, CO 80207. Attn: Vice President Of Facilities and Real Estate. Date of service of the notice by mail shall be the date on
which such notice is mailed.
19. Subordination. Lessee will upon demand by Lessor, execute such instruments as may be required at any time. and from time to time, to
subordinate the rights and interests of the Lessee under this Lease to the lien of any first mortgage in place, or subsequently placed, on the land of which the
demised premises are a part; provided, however, that such ender or lien holder agrees that the subordination shall not affect Lessee’s right to possession, use
and occupancy of the demised premises so long as Lessee shall not be in default under any of the terms or conditions of this Lease.
20. Utilities and Liens. Lessee shall make all necessary arrangements for utility services, including necessary permit for gas for heating, purposes, if
required. Lessee shall pay promptly all charges for heat, light, gas, water and power used in or upon the demised premises; shall pay promptly for garbage and
sewage removal and waste removal, if any; and shall pay promptly all bills for materials furnished or labor performed for Lessee, or at
9

Lessee’s instance and request, in connection with any repairs, alterations, improvements, decoration, installation of fixtures and equipment on the demised
premises and to keep said demised premises free from all claims for lien~ for work. labor or materials on account thereof.
21. Default. If rent above referred to, or any part thereof, whether the same be demanded or not, shall remain unpaid after the same becomes due for
a period of thirty (30) days after Tenant’s receipt of Landlords notice of non-payment, or if any term, condition or covenant of the Lease to be kept or
performed by the Lessee shall be violated or neglected and shall remain so for a period of (30) days after written notice thereof to the Lessee by the Lessor, or
if a petition in bankruptcy or assignment for the benefit of creditors shall be filed by the Lessee. or if the Lessee shall be finally adjudicated bankrupt and the
same shall not be discharged within thirty (30) days after written demand therefore by the Lessor. then the said Lessee does hereby authorize and fully
empower the Lessor to annul and cancel this Lease at once and to re-enter and take possession of said demised premises in accordance with law immediat61y
and by force, if necessary, without any previous notice of intention to re-enter and remove all persons and their property therefore and to use such force and
assistance in effecting and perfecting such removal as the Lessor may deem advisable to recover at once full and exclusive possession of all of said demised
premises whether said demised premises be in possession of the Lessee or of third persons, or whether said demised premises be vacant. The Lessor may,
however, at its option, at any time after such default or violation of condition or covenant, re-enter and take possession of said demised premises without such
re-entering working a forfeiture of the rents to be paid and the covenants to be kept and performed by said Lessee for the full term of this Lease. in such case,
the Lessor may make repairs, alterations and additions in or to the demised premises and redecorate the same to the extent~ deemed by Lessor necessary or
desirable and Lessee shall, upon demand, pay the cost thereof, together with Lessor’s expense of the reletting. [f the consideration collected by Lessor upon
any such reletting for Lessee’s account is not sufficient to pay monthly the full amount of the rent reserved in this Lease. together with the costs or repairs,
alterations, additions, redecoration and Lessor’s expenses, Lessee shall Pay to Lessor the amount of each monthly deficiency on demand, more than sufficient
to pay the full amount of the rent reserved herein, together with the costs and expenses of Lessor, at the end of the stated term of the Lease, shall account for
the surplus to Lessee.
22. Titles of Paragraphs. The marginal titles of paragraphs herein are for convenience only and do not define, limit or construe the contents of such
paragraphs.
23, Covenant to Bind Successor. It is agreed that the provisions, covenants and conditions of this Lease shall bind and inure to the benefit of the legal
representatives, successors and assigns of the respective parties hereto,
241 Attorney Fees. In the event of any legal action related to this Lease, the non-prevailing party agrees to pay the prevailing party’s reasonable
attorney fees incurred to enforce this Agreement of Lease.
25. Waiver of Subrogation. Lessor hereby releases Lessee and Lessee hereby releases Lessor from and against any and all claims, demands,
liabilities or obligations whatsoever for damage to the property, or loss or rents or profits from either Lessor or Lessee resulting from or in any way connected
with any fire, accident or other casualty, whether or not such fire. accident or other casualty shall have been caused by the negligence or contributory
negligence of either Lessor or Lessee or by any agent, associates or employee of either Lessor or
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Lessee to the extent that such damage or loss is insured under any insurance contract which at the time of such damage or loss permits waiver for subrogation
rights prior to a loss there under– In confirmation hereof, Lessor and Lessee shall execute an agreement of waiver of subrogation and deliver the same to their
respective insurance carriers.
26. Waiver of Jury Trial and Forum.
ALL PARTIES TO THIS LEASE DO HEREBY WAIVE THE RIGHT TO ANY JURY TRIAL IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING, OR
COUNTERCLAIM BROUGHT BY ANY PARTY AGAINST ANY OTHER PARTY HERETO. THE PARTIES FURTHER AGREE THAT IN ANY
ACTION BROUGHT CONCERNING. THIS COMMERCIAL LEASE SHALL BE BROUGHT ONLY IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MACON COUNTY,
ILLINOIS AND HEREBY. WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO ANY OTHER FORUM OR JURISDICTION.
27. Entire Aqreement. This Commercial Lease shall constitute the entire agreement between the parties. Any prior understanding or representation of
any kind preceding the date of this Commercial Lease shall not be binding on either party except to the extent incorporated in this Commercial Lease.
28. Modification. Any modification of this Commercial Lease or any additional obligation assumed by either party in connection with this
Commercial Lease shall be binding only if evidenced in writing signed by each party or an authorized representative of each party.
29. Governing Law. This Commercial Lease shall be governed by, construed, and enforced in accordance with the laws of the state of Illinois. This
lease has been executed at Decatur, Illinois on the date first above written.

30. Estoppels Certificate. At any time and from time to time but not less than ten (10) days prior written request by Lessor Lessee shall execute
acknowledge and deliver to Lessor, promptly upon request, a certificate (a) that this Lease is unmodified and in full force and effect (or, if there have been
modifications, that his Lease is in full force and effect, as modified, and stating the date and nature of each modification). (b) the date, if any, to which rental
and other sums payable hereunder have been paid (c) that no. notice has been received by Lessee of any default which has not been cured, except as to
defaults specified in the certificate, and (d) such other matters as may be reasonably requested by Lessor Any such certificate may be relied upon by any
prospective purchaser, mortgages or beneficiary under any deed of trust of the Building or any part thereof. If Lessee fails to deliver the certificate within ten
(10) days, the Lessee irrevocably constitutes and appoints Lessor as its special attorney in fact to execute and deliver the certificate to any third party.
31. The final execution of the lease is subject to the approval and award of funds by the Illinois Department of Commerce and Economic
Opportunity (fka the Illinois Department of Commerce and Community Affairs) through the Large Business Program and clearance of the environmental
review process. If Lessee elects to cancel this Lease subject to the conditions set forth above, Lessee must notify Lessor within seven (7) days of receipt of
notice from the Illinois Department of Commerce and Economic opportunity that Lessee has been denied the funds set forth above.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Lease the day and year first above written.
By: /s/David I. Rosenthal
Lessee: Star Tek

February 19, 2003
Date

/s/ John S. Cardwell
Lessor or Agent
One of the principals of the owner is a licensed
real estate broker.

Feb 24, 2003
Date
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EXHIBIT A
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EXHIBIT B

February 18, 2003
Mr. John S. Cardwell
CEO/Pre sident/Broker/Owner
Cardwell Companies.
One Main Place
101 S. Main Street, Suite 800
Decatur, IL 62523
RE: Letter of Intent for Fairview Park Plaza

Dear John:
Jones Lang LaSalle has been authorized to present the following terms and conditions under which StarTek will lease approximately 38,000 square feet in the
above referenced facility:
Square Footage:

Approximately 38,000 square feet. As discussed, StarTek is interested in maximizing the square
footage made available on the 1st floor. Upon completion of space plan by Scott Jenkins, the square
footage to be revised. Final square footage to be verified by Landlord’s architect prior to occupancy.
Upon mutual agreement of re- measurement, per BOMA standards, rent and Lessee’s proportionate
share shall be revised.

Term:

Seven (7) years commencing upon completion of the Premises, estimated to be May 19th, 2003.

Rental Rate:

Years 1 - 7:$5.78 RSF

Base Building Improvements:

Landlord to provide a contribution of $375,000 towards Tenant’s build out. The $375,000
allowance is included in the above rental rate.
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Mr. John S. Cardwell
February 18, 2003
Landlord shall pay the allowance upon receipt of invoices from Tenant, after the commencement
date of the lease or when the occupancy permit is issued.
Restoration:

StarTek shall not be required to remove its initial or standard improvements upon term
expiration.

Operating Expenses and Taxes:

StarTek will be responsible for paying all costs related to the operation and maintenance of the
facility. StarTek shall pay costs such as utilities and janitorial directly to service provider. StarTek
will pay its proportionate share of property taxes, property insurance, administration/management
and security. The estimated amount of operating expenses and taxes is estimated to be:
• Property taxes $.75/sf/yr.
• Insurance $.15/sf/yr.
• Utilities, janitorial, R&M, admin/rngmt. and security $1.32/sf/yr
• Total: $2.22/sf/yr.

Parking:

Landlord will provide initially 350 parking spaces, of which 190 will be in the west lot, 110 m the
loading dock area and 50 shall be in a designated exclusive parking area in front of the building.
Landlord shall use best efforts to accommodate future headcount expansion. Parking shall be
provided to Tenant at no cost. Cost to reconfigure and repaint parking areas to accommodate
Tenant’s parking requirements shall be at Landlord’s sole cost.
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Renewal Option:

StarTek shall have two (2) three (3) year renewal options at the following rental rates:.

• Years 8- 10:$6.50 RSF
• Years 11 - 13:$7.25 RSF
Expansion Option:

If the adjacent beauty supply store space comes available, StarTek shall have the option to acquire
such space. Such space will be provided under the same terms and conditions of this Lease except
for the tenant improvement allowance. Landlord to provide access entrances into the beauty supply
store and will deliver the space in a clean shell condition, with sufficient HVAC and electrical
capacity for standard office use.

Signage:

StarTek will, with Landlord approval, have signage rights on the front of the building of the
Premises.

Satellite Dish:

Tenant shall have the right at no additional cost, with Landlord’s approval, to install a satellite dish.

Training Space:

Landlord to provide 101 Park at no cost for Tenant’s interim training use. Landlord understands
training will commence within thirty (30) days of lease signature and may continue through August,
2003.

Competitors:

Landlord shall not allow another call center in Fairview Park Plaza.

Landlord Improvements:

Landlord, at Landlord’s sole cost, shall replace the roof of the Premises, replace storefront
windows, remove staircase and escalator and patch floor, replace main entrance stair entry and
provide separate electrical service meeting
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local/state codes to the Premises. The escalator will be removed and floor patched within two (2)
weeks of lease execution.
Generator/UPS:

Tenant, at Landlord’s approval, shall allow Tenant to install a generator on the exterior of the
building and UPS system with batteries on the interior of the building.

Telecommunications:

Landlord shall cooperate to the fullest extent with StarTek’s selected telephone provider to provide
fiber access to the Premises.

Consulting Fee:

Jones Lang LaSalle shall receive a consulting fee of $6.00/sf to be paid in full within thirty (30) days
of lease commencement.

Neither Landlord or StarTek shall be bound by the above terms until a Lease has been fully executed.
Very truly yours,
Ryan S. Cunningham
Executive Vice President
Tenant Representation Group
RSC/sr
Agreed and Acknowledged:
StarTek

Landlord:

Name:

/s/ David I. Rosenthal

Name: /s / John S. Cardwell

Title:

Executive Vice President & CFO

Title:
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EXHIBIT C

Owner/Broker
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Zoning:
Water/Sewen City of Decatur

Bectdc/Gas: Illinois Power Co.
Electric/Gas
2435 Federal Dr
Decatur, II 62526
9,000 sq. ft.

CARDWELL COMPANIES
COMMERCIAL REALTY ONE

101 S. Main Street
Suite 101
Decathur, IL 62523

Office, warehouse, and manufacturing space available in an industrial park setting. All city utilities, plus
three phase electric. Fiber optic service available through Ameritech. Will remodel to suit. Located off Route
48 with Interstate 72 access within two miles. Park 101 is home to many national tenants and is perfect for

warehouse/distribution, telemarketing, insurance claims processing, laboratory, and other uses. Broker
Owned.
Lease Rate: $5.00 - $7.00 sq. ft.
Sales: 217-421-1111
Leasing: 217-877-1300
Fax: 217-421-1833
Email: John@cardwell.com

For more information visit us on the web at
www.cardwell.com
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EXHIBIT 21.2
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT
NAME OF
SUBSIDIARIES

STATE OF
INCORPORATION

SUBSIDIARIES ARE
DOING BUSINESS AS

StarTek USA, Inc. (a)

Colorado

StarTek Teleservices, Inc.
StarTek Technical Services, Inc.
StarTek Internet, Inc.
StarTek, Inc.
StarPak, Inc.
StarTek Services

StarTek Europe, Ltd. (a)

Colorado

StarPak, Inc.
StarPak International, Ltd.

StarTek Pacific, Ltd. (a)

Colorado

StarTek Pacific, Ltd.

Domain.com, Inc. (a)

Delaware

Domain.com, Inc.

StarTek Canada Services, Ltd. (a)

Nova Scotia, Canada

StarTek Canada Services, Ltd.

Gifts.com, Inc. (b)

Delaware

Gifts.com

Wedding.com, Inc. (c)

Delaware

Wedding.com, Inc.

(a) Wholly-owned subsidiary of StarTek, Inc.
(b) 19.9% owned by Domain.com, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of StarTek, Inc.
(c) Wholly-owned subsidiary of Domain.com, Inc.

EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-77009) pertaining to the StarTek, Inc.
Stock Option Plan and the StarTek, Inc. Direct or Stock Option Plan of our report dated February 14, 2003, with respect to the consolidated financial
statements of StarTek, Inc. included in the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.
ERNST & YOUNG LLP
Denver, Colorado
March 27, 2003

EXHIBIT 99.1
CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT
I, William E. Meade, Jr., Chief Executive Officer of StarTek Inc. (the “Company”), certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, that:
(1)

the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the annual period ended December 31, 2002 (the “Report”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78o(d)); and

(2)

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: March 26, 2003
/s/ WILLIAM E. MEADE, JR.
William E. Meade, Jr.
President, Chief Executive Officer,
and Director

EXHIBIT 99.2

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT
I, David I. Rosenthal, Chief Financial Officer of StarTek Inc. (the “Company”), certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, that:
(1)

the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the annual period ended December 31, 2002 (the “Report”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78o(d)); and

(2)

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: March 26, 2003
/s/ DAVID I. ROSENTHAL
David I. Rosenthal
Executive Vice President, Chief
Financial Officer, Secretary and
Treasurer

